MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS

by

TIFFANY SUE WEINKOPFF

(Under the Direction of Patrick J. Lammie)

ABSTRACT

Lymphatic filariasis is caused by the parasitic nematodes Wuchereria bancrofti, and Brugia malayi which infect over 120 million people worldwide. Individuals harboring adult worms are typically asymptomatic, but patients exhibiting clinical manifestations of the disease like lymphedema are usually antigen-negative. Even though infected individuals appear asymptomatic, they exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia or lymphatic vessel (LV) dilation. Lymphangiectasia is not restricted to the site of the worm nest but is seen along the length of the infected vessel suggesting a soluble product secreted by the worm could be responsible for the lymphatic pathology. Therefore, it is hypothesized that the worm excretory-secretory (ES) products are activating the lymphatic endothelial cells (LEC) lining the infected vessels. Initial studies characterized ES products and catalogued the ES protein constituents by mass spectrometry. Given the intimate interaction between the parasite and LECs, the ability of the ES products to directly activate LECs was analyzed, but there was a lack of evidence for the direct activation of LECs by ES products. Consequently, it was hypothesized that ES products indirectly activated LECs through an accessory cell type. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from naïve volunteers were exposed to worm ES products. ES

products induced PBMCs from healthy volunteers to produce elevated levels of lymphangiogenic molecules such as IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A. CD14-positive monocytes were the primary producers of lymphangiogenic molecules in response to ES products. In addition, these lymphangiogenic mediators can induce LEC tubule formation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Individuals from filarial-endemic regions of Haiti including individuals with active infection, lymphedema and endemic normal (EN) controls were also analyzed for the production of lymphangiogenic molecules in response to filarial ES products. All groups produced elevated levels of lymphangiogenic molecules in response to worm ES products and microfilaremic individuals exhibited a higher frequency of monocytes producing lymphangiogenic mediators compared to ENs. Taken together, these data suggest filarial ES products activate circulating cells to produce lymphangiogenic mediators that may contribute to the lymphangiectasia seen in infected individuals and thus the development of lymphedema.

INDEX WORDS: Lymphatic filariasis, Human, Parasite, Lymphangiectasia, Lymphedema, Lymphatic endothelial cells, Monocytes, Lymphangiogenesis

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS

by

TIFFANY SUE WEINKOPFF

B.S., Averett University, 2004

B.S., Averett University, 2004

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GEORGIA

© 2010

Tiffany Sue Weinkopff

All Rights Reserved

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS

by

TIFFANY SUE WEINKOPFF

Major Professor:

Patrick J. Lammie

Committee:

Daniel G. Colley Ron Orlando Rick L. Tarleton Lance Wells

Electronic Version Approved:

Maureen Grasso Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2010

DEDICATION

To my mom, Karen, who gave up her dreams so I could conquer the world...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my major professor, Dr. Patrick Lammie, for his patience, understanding and support throughout my graduate training. Thank you for our chats across your desk and continuously pushing me to come up with a better answer. Thank you for enabling me to see the questions from multiple levels, from receptor-ligand interactions to the implications for global elimination programs. I am honored on a daily basis to have you as my mentor and I will never forget your lessons in basic research as well as public health and how closely these worlds run in parallel.

I would also like to thank my Committee at UGA: Dr. Colley, Dr. Orlando, Dr. Tarleton and Dr. Wells; your support and intellectual guidance has been invaluable throughout this process. I am also grateful to Dr. Fechheimer for his direction and endless optimism. And many thanks to my CDC mentors, especially Dr. Evan Secor, for allowing me to barge into his office, draw on his board, join his lab meetings, and he never once turned me down through the years; to Mr. Delynn Moss for his technical instruction but also for his enthusiasm for science and for our daily conversations; and to Dr. Diana Martin for her expertise, advice and friendship over the past year. I am indebted to you both for your generosity. Special thanks goes to the filarial community, especially Dr. Wayne Melrose and Dr. Charles Mackenzie, who have been so welcoming and to a young parasitologist and I am so incredibly grateful to witness your passion for worm research. Thank you to Dr. Els Mathieu and Dr. Yao Sodahlon, who have not only fueled my passion for public health, but have made me part of their family and given me a home away from home. I have also had the amazing opportunity to encounter some of the most

v

inspiring teachers throughout my academic training including Ms. Karen Pezza, Ms. Cathy Fesler, Ms. Sharon Holmes, Dr. Jim Caldwell and my favorite professor and dear friend Dr. Laura Meder; thank you for all your hard work and effort. You have truly made a difference in the lives of many students including me.

Personally, I would like to say thanks to all my friends and family who have supported me during this time. Especially, my mom, Adam and brothers who never let me forget Philly is home no matter how far I go. And to my best friends, Ashley Greer and Stephanie Chen who make me laugh everyday. And finally to Mark Baillie for always being there and keeping me smiling.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	v
CHAPTE	ER	
1	INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	1
	1.1 Background and Epidemiology of Lymphatic Filariasis	1
	1.2 Filarial Disease: Lymphangiectasia and Lymphedema	5
	1.3 Pathogenesis of Lymphatic Filariasis	12
	1.4 The Molecular Mechanisms of Lymphangiectasia and Lymphangiogen	esis.18
	1.5 Monocytes and Lymphangiogenesis	29
	1.6 Statement of Purpose	33
	1.7 References	34
2	IDENTIFICATION OF ANTIGENIC BRUGIA ADULT WORM PROTEINS	BY
	PEPTIDE MASS FINGERPRINTING	54
	2.1 Abstract	55
	2.2 Introduction	55
	2.3 Materials and Methods	57
	2.4 Results	61
	2.5 Discussion	63
	2.6 References	67
	2.7 Figures and Tables	72

5	CHARACTERIZATION OF <i>DROOM</i> EXCRETORT-SECRETORT	
	PRODUCTS	80
	3.1 Abstract	80
	3.2 Introduction	80
	3.3 Materials and Methods	
	3.4 Results	86
	3.5 Discussion	
	3.6 References	
	3.7 Figures and Tables	99
4	LACK OF EVIDENCE FOR THE DIRECT ACTIVATION OF ENDOTI	HELIAL
	CELLS BY FILARIAL EXCRETORY-SECRETORY PRODUCTS	109
	4.1 Abstract	109
	4.2 Introduction	109
	4.3 Materials and Methods	111
	4.4 Results	116
	4.5 Discussion	118
	4.6 References	121
	4.7 Figures and Tables	124
5	MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN	
	LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS	135
	5.1 Abstract	136
	5.2 Introduction	136
	5.3 Materials and Methods	141

3 CHARACTERIZATION OF BRUGIA EXCRETORY-SECRETORY

	5.4 Results	148
	5.5 Discussion	
	5.6 References	
	5.7 Figures and Tables	164
6	EVALUATING LYMPHANGIOGENIC FACTORS AND CELLS	S IN FILARIAL-
	ENDEMIC POPULATIONS	
	6.1 Abstract	179
	6.2 Introduction	
	6.3 Materials and Methods	
	6.4 Results	
	6.5 Discussion	
	6.6 References	195
	6.7 Figures and Tables	
7	CONCLUSIONS: UNDERSTANDING THE MOLECULAR MED	CHANISMS OF
	LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS	211
	7.2 References	219
	7.3 Figure	

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Background and Epidemiology of Lymphatic Filariasis

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is caused by the filarial nematodes: *Wuchereria bancrofti*, *Brugia malayi* and *Brugia timori*. *W. bancrofti* is responsible for approximately 90% of infections worldwide while *B. malayi* is responsible for almost 10% of cases and *B. timori* can be found on several Indonesian islands (Michael et al., 1996). The parasite is transmitted by a mosquito; *W. bancrofti* adult worms live within lymphatic vessels (LV) of the human hosts whereas *B. malayi* adult worms live within the LVs of both human and non-human vertebrate hosts. In the LVs, adult worms release microfilariae; the microfilariae exit the LVs and travel to the peripheral blood to be taken up by a subsequent blood meal. The microfilariae mature into third-stage larvae (L3) which are transmitted to a vertebrate host or humans following a blood meal. The L3 develop into the adult worms which reside in the lymphatic vessels.

Filarial worms are a major cause of morbidity in many developing countries throughout Africa, Asia, the Americas and the Pacific (Michael and Bundy, 1997). It is estimated that 3 billion people are infected with helminthes and almost 250 million of these individuals are infected with one or more of filarial species (Ottesen, 1992). The filarial worms are also a significant impediment to socio-economic development in these regions. An estimated 120 million people in 73 countries are affected by LF with more than 1 billion people currently living in filariasis-endemic areas that are at risk for infection (Ottesen et al., 1997). Over 44 million individuals present with clinical pathology and an additional 76 million people carry parasites in

their blood and are affected by damage to their lymphatic systems (Ottesen et al., 1997). Clinical manifestations associated with the disease can include testicular hydrocoele, chyluria, acute episodes of adenolymphangitis, and lymphedema and elephantiasis of the extremities, breast, and male genitalia, but many of those who are currently infected with worms are asymptomatic (Dreyer et al., 2002).

Given the extreme burden of both infection and disease on the developing world, the World Health Assembly called on the member states of the World Health Organization (WHO) to eliminate LF as a public health problem in 1997 through resolution WHA50.29 (Molyneux and Taylor, 2001, Molyneux, 2003). This event led to the development of the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis (GPELF) which focuses on two main goals: 1) to use a single-dose annual mass drug treatment of an endemic population to interrupt transmission by reducing the reservoir of microfilariae and 2) to alleviate the suffering and disability of those suffering from clinical disease. The GPELF efforts are the largest infectious disease intervention based on mass drug administration (MDA) initiated to date (Weil and Ramzy, 2007). The effort to eliminate LF has been fueled by generous drug donations from GlaxoSmithKline and Merck and Company, Incorporated and the partnership between the public and private sectors including long-term commitments from the WHO and the World Bank as well as other governmental and non-governmental organizations (Molyneux and Taylor, 2001, Molyneux, 2003). During the first 8 years of MDA sponsored by the GPELF, over 1900 million antifilarial treatments in 48 countries have been given, preventing the spread of filarial infection to an estimated 6.6 million newborns and halting the progression to clinical morbidity in 9.5 million individuals who are already infected (Ottesen et al., 2008, Hooper et al., 2009, Molyneux, 2009).

Currently, there are three major chemotherapeutic agents used in the GPELF strategy to eliminate LF including diethylcarbamazine (DEC), ivermectin and albendazole. For most LFendemic regions, albendazole is co-administered with DEC but in regions where LF is coendemic with onchocerciasis (river blindness), albendazole is co-administered with ivermectin to prevent severe adverse reactions in patients infected with Onchocerca volvulus (Bradley et al., 2004, Rajkumar et al., 2005, Simonsen et al., 2008). DEC and ivermectin are thought to be mainly microfilaricidal with DEC possibly having partial macrofilaricidal effects. Unlike DEC and ivermectin, albendazole has no direct effect on microfilariae but it appears to suppress embryogenesis in the adult female worm (Bradley et al., 2004). Even though the mechanism of action of DEC remains elusive, work in non-filarial organisms has shown ivermectin acts on glutamate-gated chloride ion channels in invertebrate nerve and muscle cells causing parasite paralysis and death (Bradley et al., 2004, Geary, 2005). In addition, albendazole acts specifically on parasite tubulin inhibiting microtubule formation and thus mitosis, embryonation and egg hatching (Bradley et al., 2004). Given that these drugs mainly affect the microfilariae, they are used to prevent the transmission of LF rather than provide curative treatment by killing adult worms. As a result, new chemotherapies that act on the adult worm are needed to ensure global LF elimination. The potential for anti-*Wolbachia* agents like doxycycline is promising. Doxycycline depletes the worm's rickettsial endosymbiont, *Wolbachia*, leading to an almost complete absence of microfilariae after one year suggesting a long-term block in embryogenesis and/or macrofilaricidal activity, but currently this approach is limited by the three to six-week treatment regimen which is not optimal for field settings (Hoerauf et al., 2000, Bradley et al., 2004).

Currently LF is diagnosed by a variety of methods. Parasitologic methods rely on the collection of blood during the night for thick smear preparation and microfilarial detection by microscopy. This method is difficult and inconvenient, given the nocturnal periodicity of microfilariae in the peripheral blood and it is also somewhat insensitive. As a result, a rapidformat immunochromatographic test (ICT) for the detection of circulating antigen was developed which offers an attractive option since the antigen can be detected day and night. The ICT cards, pioneered by Weil et al., detect the presence of viable adult W. bancrofti and are much more sensitive than conventional methods of microfilaria detection alone (Freedman, 1998). There is also an antigen test based on the monoclonal antibody Og4C3 that is used in laboratories, but the sandwich ELISA format is quite labor-intensive and requires laboratory facilities (Weil et al., 1997). Antibody detection by ELISA against a variety of antigens including Bm14 is commonly used in the laboratory (Chandrashekar et al., 1994). However, antibody detection assays can cross-react with other species and current infection can not be differentiated from past infections (Lammie et al., 2004). To date, the most effective methods to measure transmission rely on entomologic surveys using PCR to determine infection rates in potential vectors, but this approach is unrealistically expensive for many programs and requires specialized laboratory capacity. Together, all of these assays help to provide prevalence information on those individuals who are currently infected, but elimination programs need an assay that can act as a marker of transmission for both asymptomatic microfilaremic persons as well as those with disease. Assessing transmission by evaluating exposure to LF in children is possible in principle, but assays with the requisite sensitivity and specificity have not been appropriately validated.

This ideal antigen could be used to measure the success of each program in a globally standardized approach in school-age children to provide evidence that transmission has been interrupted.

1.2 Filarial Disease: Lymphangiectasia and Lymphedema

The lymphatic system consists of a series of vessels that are lined by endothelial cells (EC) which transport fluids. The lymphatics serve several functions; their primary function is to drain excess interstitial fluids to prevent tissue swelling. The blood flows through capillaries and into adjacent tissues and then exits through veins; however, about 10% of the fluid filtered by the capillaries gets caught in the tissues. About 3 liters of fluid per day remain in the tissues and without proper drainage and transport to the circulatory system by the lymphatic system, this fluid accumulation could be life-threatening (Tortora and Grabowski, 2003). The fluid that accumulates is also rich in proteins, so it serves as a substrate for pathogens that penetrate the skin barrier. Besides tissue homeostasis, the lymphatics also play a role in fat absorption in the digestive system and immune surveillance.

LF is an infection with varying degrees of clinical lymphatic pathology. Individuals can exhibit overt clinical symptoms such as lymphedema and hydrocele or be asymptomatic but exhibit microfilaremia. In human filarial infections, living adult worms induce alterations in host tissues with subclinical lymphangiectasia being the most common. Lymphangiectasia can be defined as a dilation of the LV that can result in a modification in lymphatic drainage with varying severity. Asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals do not appear to demonstrate any obvious clinical manifestations, but they do present with hidden subclinical complications such as microscopic haematuria and/or proteinuria, dilated and tortuous lymphatics and scrotal lymphangiectasia in men (Dreyer 1992, Freedman et al., 1994, 1995, Noroes et al., 1996a,

1996b, Nutman et al., 2001). For instance, ultrasonographic examination of the scrotal region of 14 asymptomatic Brazilians revealed that 50% of the microfilaremic individuals showed lymphatic dilation and tortuosity (Amaral et al., 1994). It is thought that the early phase of lymphatic pathology is characterized by lymphangiectasia and only with the addition of secondary co-factors will the lymphatic dilation develop into an overt chronic lymphedema. Dreyer et al. believe that such factors may include permissive factors such as heavy worm burdens or non-permissive factors such as host response, DEC treatment and bacterial infections (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002).

Lymphangiectasia can be detected by radionuclide lymphoscintigraphy, magnetic resonance imaging, ultrasonography and histopathologic methods (Case et al., 1992). It is thought that all infected individuals will eventually develop a localized lymphangiectasia given sufficient time (Dreyer et al., 2002). Even though most microfilaremic individuals do not present with any overt clinical pathology, abnormal lymphatics are present in 69% of limbs of infected persons by static lymphoscintigraphy and in 100% of limbs by dynamic flow lymphoscintigraphy, which are sensitive indicators of lymphatic dysfunction (Freedman et al., 1994, 1995; Dissanayake et al., 1995). In addition, studies on superficial skin punch biopsies have revealed that 78% and 68% of limbs from patients with clinical pathology and asymptomatic microfilaremia, respectively, contained lymphatic vessels that were abnormally dilated as detected by antibody staining (Freedman et al., 1995, 1998). Even infected children as young as 3 years old presented with dilated lymphatics as measured by lymphoscintigraphy suggesting that subclinical pathology can occur at a very early age (Shenoy et al., 2007, 2008).

In LF, the LVs become dilated and flow is impaired, leading to improper drainage of interstitial fluids (Vaqas and Ryan, 2003). Lymphedema develops from mild lymphangiectasia

as a result of lymph fluid accumulation in the tissues following damage to LVs (Ottesen, 1992). The progression of lymphedema to the more chronic elephantiasis gradually occurs over many years from mild lymphatic dilation to complete dysfunction. The causes for the development of the clinical manifestations associated with the disease are unclear; however, many hypotheses have been propounded. Many have proposed parasitic factors as the cause for disease. More specifically, mechanical damage or excretory-secretory (ES) products secreted by the worm may have an influence on the surrounding lymphatic tissues or the host's immune response (Ottesen, 1992; WHO 1992). Dreyer et al. have proposed that the lymphangiectasia caused by the living adult worm may be a major risk factor for the development of disease due to the lymphatic dysfunction attributed to the worm (Dreyer et al., 2000a, 2000b). The progression of chronic lymphedema has also been attributed to secondary bacterial and fungal infections in animal models and humans (Bosworth and Ewert 1975, Barbee et al., 1977, Ottesen, 1994, Olszewski et al., 1997, Dreyer et al., 2000a, 2000b).

The immune status of an individual or host immune responses have also been implicated in the development of the various clinical manifestations associated with LF (Ottesen, 1992). Since antifilarial humoral and cell-mediated immune responses, characterized by high levels of antifilarial IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IFN γ , are elevated in patients with lymphedema, it is thought that antifilarial immunity can be associated with the development of disease; and that parasite antigens stimulate T cells and thus an inflammatory response which promotes lymphatic dysfunction and contributes to pathogenesis (Lammie et al., 2002).

Host genetics have also been implicated in the development of lymphedema. Almost all individuals with active infection are asymptomatic and exhibit lymphangiectasia, but it is not known why only a small proportion of exposed persons display chronic pathology (Lammie et

al., 2002). As a result, it is hypothesized that some hosts are genetically predisposed to disease progression and studies on Haitian pedigrees suggested that lymphedema of the leg aggregates within families and antifilarial antibody responses cluster in high risk families (Cuenco et al., 2001, Yang unpublished).

The progression of lymphedema to elephantiasis has also been suggested to be a result of hypersensitive immunopathology to dead worms and the antigenic material released with their death (von Lichtenberg, 1957, Warren, 1971). Adult worms may die as a result of natural attrition or DEC treatment. Furthermore, it has been shown that degenerating or dead adult worms induce an inflammatory response in the LV resulting in the formation of granulomatous nodules or episodes of acute filarial lymphangitis (Jungmann et al., 1991, Dreyer et al., 2000b). It has been proposed that this inflammatory response to the degenerating worms could be due to the release of the *Wolbachia* endosymbiont; however, worm death alone is likely not sufficient to induce chronic pathology (Taylor et al., 2000, 2001). Even though worm death initiates an inflammatory response and thus an infiltrate of immune cells that transiently occlude the LVs, collateral lymphatics may compensate for the acute loss of function (Dreyer et al., 2000b). Eventually recanalization is thought to restore some lymphatic flow around vessels containing lesions and the granuloma seems to decrease in size with time allowing the lymphatic lumen to re-open (Dreyer et al., 2000b, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002).

Experimental animal models have both supported and refuted the role of the host in the development of disease. Congenitally athymic nude mice (C3H/HeN) are highly susceptible to infection with *B. pahangi* while wild type mice show a strong thymus-dependent resistance with termination of larval infection (Vincent et al., 1984). Progressive lymphangiectasia was seen in nude and SCID mice compared with an arrest in lymphangiectasia in wild type mice suggesting

lymphatic pathology is not a result of the immune response, but is rather a consequence of the presence of the parasite and its products (Vincent et al., 1984, Nelson et al., 1991). This dilation is reversed in nude mice by removing or killing the adult worms (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991). Additional studies using a modified SCID mouse model indicate that a functional immune system is not necessary for lymphatic dilation, retention of lymph and inflammatory changes including lymphangitis and lymphadenitis (Vincent et al., 1984). In clinical studies, Shenoy et al. demonstrated that lymphatic dilation has already occurred in filarial-infected children as young as 3 years of age and that worm death by DEC treatment can reduce the subclinical lymphatic pathology (2008, 2009). Importantly, lymphangiectasia is not strictly limited to the exact location of the worm nest but can be found all throughout an infected vessel suggesting there could be parasite-derived or induced soluble factors that can be transported the length of the vessel to mediate the effects (Amaral et al., 1994).

Others argue that the development of lymphangiectasia is mediated by the immune response. Vickery et al. showed that reconstituting *B. malayi*-infected nude mice by the adoptive transfer of primed spleen cells from chronically infected mice could induce worm killing and the development of lymphatic lesions, suggesting the reconstitution of an immune system could restore lymphatic pathology not seen in nude mice alone (Vickery et al., 1991). This result argues that the immune system is responsible for the lymphatic pathology that follows worm death.

Several previous studies have attempted to evaluate the role of *B. malayi* and ES products on ECs. In infected patients, vessels containing live adult worms are distended and devoid of any inflammatory response, however there are some lymphocytes present as normal components of lymph (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). The walls of infected vessels appear to have regions of

fibrosis that alternate with areas of limited smooth muscle cells while other areas display muscle cell hyperplasia (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). Furthermore, ECs appear preserved but electron microscopy reveals bulging nuclei, an increased number of pinocytotic vesicles and an abundance of collagen fibers (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). In contrast, transmission electron microscopy of lymphatic endothelial cells (LECs) from *B. malayi*-infected cats shows a decrease in the number of cytoplasmic vesicles compared to uninfected controls, however irregularly large vesicles were commonly seen in infected vessels (Sakamoto et al., 1985). A parallel study investigating LECs from *B. pahangi*-infected jirds found that there was a decrease in the proportion of cytoplasm occupied by vesicles and in the number of cytoplasmic vesicles in LECs from infected vessels (Sakamoto et al., 1988). However, the study also reported an increase in the area of vacuoles in LECs from infected vessels (Sakamoto et al., 1988). These changes in EC vesicles and vacuoles may influence the ability of LECs to drain and transport protein-rich fluids through the lymphatic system (Sakamoto et al., 1985, 1988).

In animal models, it has been shown that lymphatics of parasitized nude mice become highly tortuous with an accumulation of highly proteinaceous lymph fluid and the limbs exhibit an elephantoid appearance (Vickery et al., 1985). Histological examination of these dilated lymphatics from infected nude mice showed a cuboidal endothelial lining with small nonobstructive lymph thrombi composed of small mononuclear cells and multinucleated giant cells within the lumen (Vickery et al., 1985). The endothelium of the dilated vessels was perturbed, scalloped, bulbous and highly indented (Rao et al., 1996). Furthermore, the removal of worms reversed the process suggesting that viable *B. malayi* exert direct pathological effects upon the lymphatics (Sakamoto et al., 1985, Vickery et al., 1985). Similar tissue alterations were

seen in dilated LVs of cats infected with *B. malayi* (Fader et al., 1984). Vascular abnormalities have also been evaluated in the ferret experimental model for LF. Microscopy of dilated lymphatics of *B. malayi*-infected ferrets showed that dilation was greatest near the worm nests with endothelial ballooning, swelling, scarring, thickened walls and valves and thrombus formation which also supports the proposal that the presence of living adult worms and their ES products alters LV tissue in a gradient-dependent manner (Case et al., 1991). Taken together, these observations suggest that LECs maybe prime targets of parasite-derived factors which induce the development of clinical pathology (Rao et al., 1996).

Previous studies have also shown that filarial products not only alter the morphological characteristics of LECs, but also physiological functions of ECs. Filarial parasites are capable of modulating vascular activity by inducing changes in rat abdominal aorta EC behavior; both endothelial-dependent relaxation and the frequency of spontaneous contractions were disrupted (Kaiser et al., 1991, 1996). Given the lack of a central pump throughout the lymphatic system, spontaneous contractibility most likely serves a critical function in the peristalsis necessary for lymphatic propulsion; moreover, this depressed contractibility seen in co-cultures containing ECs and parasites could correlate with the altered lymphatic function seen in lymphedema patients (Kaiser et al., 1996). Overall, parasite-derived factors have been shown to alter the physiologic functions of ECs *in vitro*.

Some authors have proposed that parasites induce endothelial and connective tissue proliferation *in vivo* which in turn causes the thickening of the endothelium (von Lichtenberg, 1987, Buck, 1991). It is thought that the hyperplastic nature of ECs and the low opening pressure of dilated LVs indicate abnormal multiplication of LECs (Rao et al., 1996). The cuboidal ECs seen in *B. malayi*-infected nude mice suggest an increase in the multiplication of

LECs may also contribute to lymphangiectasia (Vickery et al., 1985). However, since this phenomenon could not be reproduced *in vitro* with human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), the authors suggested the lack of proliferation could be due to the ES products suppressing the activity of growth factors or the parasite might have inactivated or absorbed the growth factors from the medium (Rao et al., 1996). It is interesting to note that the addition of lymph, but not serum, from dilated lymphatics of infected mice was able to increase the rates of cellular division by ECs seen *in vitro* (Rao et al., 1996).

1.3 Pathogenesis of Lymphatic Filariasis

Filarial worms have been noted for their longevity in human infections with an average lifespan of around six years. It is generally accepted that the worms facilitate their survival by modulating the host response to their advantage (Harnett and Harnett, 2006a, 2006b). This has been attributed to a defective lymphocyte proliferative response, referred to as lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness. This lack of an appropriate immune response was first reported in the 1970s when lymphocytes isolated from infected individuals failed to respond to filarial antigens and also again in animal models (Ottesen et al., 1977, Weiss, 1978). In general the immune dysfunction seen in microfilaremic patients has been characterized by low serum levels of parasite-specific antibodies and impaired antigen-specific T- and B-cell responses to parasite antigens *in vitro* (Ottesen et al., 1977, Piessens et al., 1980, Hussain et al., 1981, Lammie and Katz, 1983, Nutman et al., 1987, Nielsen et al., 2002a). The roles of various immune effectors have been investigated to define their contribution to the hyporesponsiveness seen in filarial infections, but the direct involvement of LECs has not been identified. Given their direct contact with the worms and their location, LECs may be a prime target of parasite products.

The cause of the lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness seen in filarial infections is not known; however, it is likely that all stages of the parasite are capable of suppressing the immune response (Harnett and Harnett, 2006b). Studies using hamsters infected with Acanthocheilonema viteae and jirds infected B. pahangi demonstrated that microfilaremia was associated with impaired lymphocytic proliferation to filarial antigens and B- and T-cell mitogens (Weiss, 1978, Weller et al., 1978, Lammie and Katz, 1983, Harnett and Harnett, 2006b). In humans, the inhibition of an antigen-specific lymphocyte response was associated with microfilaremia and the elimination of microfilariae by chemotherapeutic treatments was linked with the recovery of lymphocyte proliferative responses (Ottesen et al., 1977, Piessens et al., 1981, Mahanty and Nutman, 1995). However, more recent studies in humans have shown that the lack of an immune response correlates better with levels of circulating antigen than with microfilaremia (Dimock et al., 1996, King, 2001). Besides microfilariae, ES products have also been shown to induce lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness with in vitro worm culture products being capable to inhibit lymphocyte proliferation (Wadee et al., 1987, Elkhalifa et al., 1991, Hartmann et al., 1997).

The mechanisms responsible for the immune dysregulation are not fully understood. Proposed mechanisms have included a decreased number of lymphocytes, the presence of tolerized lymphocytes and a decrease in co-stimulatory signals required for immunologic activation. A decrease in parasite-specific lymphocyte precursor frequency was measured in individuals with microfilaremia and asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals had significantly lower numbers of IFN γ -secreting cells, produced less IFN γ mRNA and secreted less IFN γ than persons with clinical pathology (King et al., 1992, King et al., 1993, Maizels et al., 1995, Mahanty et al., 1996, 1997, Dimock et al., 1996, Ravichandran et al., 1997, Nielsen et al.,

2002a). In addition, lymphocyte apoptosis was seen in *B. pahangi*-infected mice (O'Connor et al., 2003). Immune suppression could also be the result of clonal deletion that had occurred from *in utero* exposure since children born to microfilaria-positive mothers continued to be hyporesponsive to filarial antigens throughout their lives (Weil et al., 1983, Lammie et al., 1991, Steel et al., 1994).

The lack of lymphocytes may not be the only factor involved in the diminished immune response, but the lymphocytes may be present, yet dysfunctional. For instance, there is an increased surface expression of cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4) in patients with microfilariae (Steel and Nutman, 2003). CTLA-4 is a receptor for the co-stimulatory molecule B7 on antigen presenting cells (APCs) and it delivers an inhibitory signal to T cells, in contrast to its homologue CD28 which activates the T cell. B lymphocytes, along with monocytes, from filarial-infected patients displayed decreased activation and cytokine production upon TLR stimulation implying a state of immunologic unresponsiveness (Babu et al., 2005b).

Antibody polarization may also contribute to the immune modulation seen in filarial infections. In general, patients with clinical pathology exhibit higher levels of specific IgG1, IgG2, IgG3 and IgE compared to asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals; and asymptomatic microfilaremic persons display higher levels of IgG4 serum antibodies (Kurniawan et al., 1993, Yazdanbakhsh et al., 1995, Zhang et al., 1999, Nielsen et al., 2002b). Higher IgG4:IgE ratios are thought to characterize those with active infection and parasite protection where antibodies characterized by the opposite ratio may play a role in parasite killing (Nielsen et al., 2002b). In addition, lower levels of IFNγ were found in groups with high IgG4:IgE or in individuals with active infection (Nielsen et al., 2002b).

Inhibitory effectors such as T-regulatory cells (Tregs) may play a role in the lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness seen in LF (Taylor et al., 2005). Taylor et al. showed that the susceptibility seen in the BALB/c mouse strain, but not the C57B/6 strain, correlates with the increased expression of Foxp3 (2005). Furthermore, the targeting of CD4+ T cells with antibodies against CD25 and GITR found on Tregs provides an immunological cure for filarial infection in the BALB/c model (Taylor et al., 2005). In addition, molecules released by such regulatory cell populations such as IL-10 and TGF- β can be neutralized with antibodies to restore some of the diminished T cell proliferation (King et al., 1993, Mahanty et al., 1995, 1996, 1997). Therefore, lymphocyte proliferation can be inhibited by the induction of a regulatory T cell population.

It is hypothesized that the worm-induced production of anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10 may help to prevent an excessive Th2 response (van den Biggelaar et al., 2000, Gillan and Devaney, 2005). Asymptomatic microfilaremic patients as well as those with clinical pathology have similar levels of IL-4 and IL-5, typically Th2 cytokines (King et al., 1993, Maizels et al., 1995, de Almeida et al., 1996, Dimock et al., 1996, Ravichandran et al., 1997). Taken together, the increased antigen-specific IL-4:IFNγ ratio seen in asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals may indicate a lack of Th1 as opposed to a predominant Th2 response since the Th2 cytokines are not changed between groups (Freedman, 1998).

The activity of APC (Allen et al., 1996, Osborne and Devaney, 1999) has been shown to be critical for immunosuppression. *In vitro* T cell proliferation to a non-filarial antigen, conalbumin, was inhibited in the presence of peritoneal exudate cells from *Brugia*-infected mice (Allen et al., 1996). Human monocytes from microfilaremic individuals produce large amounts of IL-10 spontaneously *ex vivo* and are unable to respond to LPS (Mahanty et al., 1996, Sasisekhar et al., 2005). Chronic exposure to filarial antigens is thought to immunologically

deactivate monocytes/macrophages as assessed by their inability to kill *Toxoplasma* and produce TNFα (Nasarre et al., 1998). Taken together, these findings suggest that APCs from microfilaremic persons will not function optimally in presenting antigen to CD4+ T cells (Nutman et al., 2001). This hypothesis is supported by evidence of decreased expression levels of CD80 and CD86 on monocytes from microfilaremic patients compared to uninfected persons (Nutman et al., 2001). CD80, also called B7-1, and CD86, called B7-2, are co-stimulatory molecules expressed by APCs that bind the CD28 receptor on T cells. The receptor-ligand binding of such co-stimulatory molecules is required for T cell activation and the absence of this secondary signal may lead to T cell anergy and thus the dysfunctional immune response seen in filarial infections.

The ability of immunological effectors to migrate into the site of infection can also determine the extent of an immune response. Studies have shown that immune cells from asymptomatic microfilaremic patients are less likely to reach the site of infection compared to those with clinical pathology. Babu et al. showed decreased levels of chemokines in the serum combined with decreased levels of the chemokine receptor CCR9 on T and B cells from microfilaremic individuals which supports a role for these molecules in the hyporeactive immune response (Babu et al., 2005a). In addition to reduced production of chemotactic factors, the ability to migrate is also affected. Lymphocytes from infected individuals were more likely to be dysfunctional in their migration to the site of infection and thus, unable to initiate an appropriate immune response (Freedman et al., 1996, Plier et al., 1997). Research on the role of the ECs and chemokines at infection sites should provide greater knowledge and understanding in the dysfunctional immune response.

It has also been shown that filarial ES products can directly inhibit lymphocyte proliferation; a phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein discovered in the rodent filarial nematode *A. viteae*, called ES-62, inhibits polyclonal activation of murine B cells and has also been shown to inhibit the ability of macrophages to produce Th1 cytokines like IL-12 and TNF- α (Weil and Liftis, 1987, Harnett et al., 1989, 1993, 1999, Goodridge et al., 2001, Stepek et al., 2004). ES-62 can regulate dendritic cell (DC) maturation to elicit Th2-polarized responses and induce spleen and B1 B cells to produce IL-10 (Whelan et al., 2000, McInnes et al., 2003, Wilson et al., 2003). In addition, ES-62 induces the production of the Th2-associated IgG1 isotype but not the IgG2a isotype typically associated with a Th1 response in mouse models (Harnett et al., 1999). Since ES-62 is found in the L4 and adult stages, this supports the hypothesis that most stages of the parasite are capable of suppressing the immune response, rather than just microfilariae (Harnett et al., 1989).

ES-62 was also found to interfere with cell signaling resulting in the decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-12 and TNFα by inhibiting p38 MAPK activity; ES-62 also initiated ERK MAPK signaling which transduces negative feedback inhibition of IL-12p40 production (Goodridge et al., 2003). It has also been shown that ES-62 interferes with lymphocyte function by modulating PKC signaling and disrupting normal signaling cascades and nuclear transcription patterns which in turn suppresses B cell proliferation following antigen receptor ligation (Deehan et al., 1997, 1998, 2001, Harnett and Harnett, 2006a). Similar results were observed using ES-62 on the human Jurkat T cell line (Harnett et al., 1998).

Other ES products have been shown to display similar inhibitory characteristics. The *A*. *viteae* ES antigen Av17 is a cysteine protease inhibitor that suppresses T cell proliferation in the

mouse model (Hartmann et al., 1997). The filarial nematode *O. volvulus* also secretes a cysteine protease inhibitor called onchocystatin or Ov17 that suppresses immune cell proliferation (Schonemeyer et al., 2001). In addition, filarial molecules that mimic host factors have also been shown to possess suppressive activity including homologues of TGF- β and the macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) (Gomez-Escobar et al., 1998, Pastrana et al., 1998). Mammalian MIFs are typically associated with pro-inflammatory responses, and filarial MIFs have similar properties; the *Brugia* MIF homologue was shown to induce monocyte/macrophage and eosinophil recruitment (Pastrana et al., 1998, Falcone et al., 2001). However, it does not seem consistent for the parasite to induce an inflammatory response with the secretion of MIF homologues in the context of a parallel induction of immunological tolerance for long-term survival (Zang et al., 2002). Overall, these filarial modulatory molecules mitigate the host response and contribute to worm persistence by modifying the host cytokine network (Zang et al., 2002).

In conclusion, there are probably several mechanisms including both parasite and hostmediated processes that are regulating the pathogenesis of filarial infection (Harnett and Harnett, 2006b). Regardless of the mechanisms, the role of the LEC has not been evaluated. Given their proximity to adult worms, LECs could be prime targets for parasite ES products. Stimulation of the LECs by these products may alter their LEC function contributing to the development of lymphangiectasia and thus the development onto filarial lymphedema.

1.4 Molecular Mechanisms of Lymphangiectasia and Lymphangiogenesis

The lymphatic system has remained secondary to the blood vascular system as a research topic, but now that the lymphatics have been shown to play crucial roles in cancer, wound healing and inflammation, the field is quickly emerging. Although the blood and lymphatic

vessels operate in parallel, share some anatomical features and show comparable transcriptome levels by microarray analyses, they also differ in many ways (Petrova et al., 2002, Hirakawa et al., 2003). The blood vascular system is a closed network where the lymphatics are an openended linear system from which fluid is drained from the interstitial space of peripheral tissues to be transported from thin capillaries into larger collecting lymphatics. From here, fluid is emptied into the right lymphatic duct and the thoracic duct before draining into the blood circulation via the right and left subclavian veins. In contrast to blood capillaries, the lymphatic capillaries are thin-walled terminal end tubes that lack smooth muscle cells/pericytes and a continuous basement membrane. But the LVs do contain large interendothelial valve-like openings and anchoring filaments that directly connect the vessels to the extracellular matrix (ECM) and maintain luminal shape. The lymphatics tend to have a wider and more irregularly-shaped lumen lined by a single layer of ECs that are thought to remain collapsed under physiologic conditions until interstitial pressure increases due to fluid drainage. As a result, the anchoring filaments exert tension on the LECs to pull open the overlapping cell junctions so that fluids are able to enter the lymphatic lumen. Once the interstitial fluid enters the LV lumen, the pressure difference across the wall decreases and the vessel closes. (Pograbinska et al., 2002, Lohela et al., 2003, Pepper et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2004a, Saharinen et al., 2004)

Given their biological function, LVs exhibit greater permeability so that they are more effective at removing protein-rich fluids from intracellular spaces. Compared to blood endothelial cells (BEC), LECs also contain a greater number of cytoplasmic vesicles and express genes for protein metabolism, sorting and trafficking indicating a robust role in molecule transport (Leak, 1972, 1976, Pograbinska et al., 2002). Unlike the blood vasculature, there is no central pump. LVs rely on respiratory movements, adjacent skeletal muscles and the

contractility of the smooth muscle cells surrounding the larger collecting LVs to propel lymph (Muthuchamy and Zawieja, 2008). When a LV becomes stretched with fluid, the wall of the vessel automatically contracts and valves maintain a uni-directional flow throughout the network. (Pograbinska et al., 2002, Lohela et al., 2003, Pepper et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2004a, Saharinen et al., 2004)

Much of the previous work on ECs focused on BECs, but only recently the field of LEC biology has taken shape. The identification and increased availability of lymphatic-specific EC markers such as LYVE-1, Prox-1, podoplanin and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) have completely transformed the field within the past ten years. In addition, the discovery of the vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF), a family of growth factors that regulate vascular EC proliferation, angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, vasculogenesis and vascular permeability, has also revolutionized the field (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Overall the VEGF family contains six known members that are highly related structurally including placental growth factor (PIGF), VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and viral VEGF homologues known as VEGF-E. The disruption of genes encoding VEGF or any of the three receptors of the VEGF family (VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3) results in embryonic lethality due to insufficient blood vessel development (Fong et al., 1995, Shalaby et al., 1995, Dumont et al., 1998, Eriksson and Alitalo, 1999, Makinen et al., 2001a, Shibuya, 2001).

Lymphatic-specific markers include LYVE-1, a lymphatic endothelial transmembrane receptor for the ECM/lymphatic fluid glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (HA) (Banerji et al., 1999, Nisato et al., 2004). HA is a large mucopolysaccaccharide polymer that comprises the ECM and undergoes constant turnover (Jackson et al., 2001, 2003, Hong et al., 2004a). HA is transported through the lymph to the lymph nodes where it is partially degraded before it reaches the liver

for complete digestion (Hong et al., 2004a). HA turnover increases during tissue injury and the by-products induce an inflammatory response, leading to angiogenesis, chemokine production and DC recruitment (Hong et al., 2004a). Even though LYVE-1 is expressed on all embryonic LECs and later restricted to lymphatic capillaries in the adult, it is not essential for lymphatic growth as LVYE-1 deficient mice are viable with normal lymphatics (Jackson, 2004, Makinen et al., 2005, Adams and Alitalo, 2007).

Another lymphatic-specific marker is podoplanin, a glomerular podocyte transmembrane mucoprotein that is expressed by LECs, but not BECs, *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Wetterwald et al., 1996, Kriehuber et al., 2001, Petrova et al., 2002, Hirakawa et al., 2003, Schacht et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2004a, Nisato et al., 2004). Mice deficient in podoplanin die at birth due to lung failure; these mice exhibit malformed LVs and diminished tissue drainage (Ramirez et al., 2003, Schacht et al., 2003, Adams and Alitalo, 2007). According to overexpression studies and siRNA knockdowns, podoplanin seems to play a role in LEC migration, adhesion and tube formation (Schacht et al., 2003).

Prox-1, a homeodomain transcription factor regulating early lymphatic development, can also be used to identify LECs (Nisato et al., 2004, Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Overall, it is thought that Prox-1 might be involved in specifying lymphatic cell fate (Wigle et al., 2002, Hong et al., 2004a). This transcription factor is the first known regulator of lymphangiogenic growth in the mouse embryo and Prox-1 knockout mice die around embryonic day 15 lacking LVs (Wigle and Oliver, 1999, Wigle et al., 2002, Adams and Alitalo, 2007). In addition, the ectopic expression of Prox-1 has been shown to be sufficient to reprogram transcriptome of BECs to adopt a lymphatic phenotype by repressing BEC-specific genes and inducing lymphatic-specific genes (Hong et al., 2002, Petrova et al., 2002).

VEGFR-3, also known as Flt4, is a transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor typically restricted to the lymphatic endothelium in adults, but has also been shown to be expressed in blood vasculature during embryogenesis, and in wound healing and tumors (Kaipainen et al., 1995, Partanen et al., 1999). Embryos deficient in VEGFR-3 die due to defective blood vessel development leading to cardiovascular failure suggesting that VEGFR-3 plays a crucial role in the development of the cardiovascular system prior to the emergence of LVs (Dumont et al., 1998). Postnatally, VEGFR-3 occurs mainly in the lymphatic endothelium where it binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D and promotes the growth, survival and migration of LECs (Makinen et al., 2001a). The blocking of VEGFR-3 signaling with a soluble VEGFR-3 protein caused the regression of developing lymphatics by inducing EC apoptosis (Makinen et al., 2001b). Given that mutations in *Vegfr-3* are embryonically lethal in mice, it has been difficult to study the molecule's role in lymphatic development, but skin-specific overexpression of VEGFR-3 in transgenic mice is sufficient to promote lymphangiogenesis or the development of new LVs (Veikkola et al., 2001). It should also be noted that mutations in the human gene Vegfr-3 are responsible for hereditary lymphedema type I (Alitalo et al., 2005, Adams and Alitalo, 2007).

The ligands of VEGFR-3, VEGF-C and VEGF-D, selectively promote the growth, survival and tubule formation of LECs (Joukov et al., 1996, Lee et al., 1996, Achen et al., 1998, Makinen et al., 2001a, Podgrabinska et al., 2002). Therefore, these molecules have been found to be potent regulators of lymphangiogenesis (Joukov et al., 1996, Lee et al., 1996, Jeltsch et al., 1997, Achen et al., 1998). However, further proteolytic processing of VEGF-C can produce isoforms capable of binding VEGFR-2 so that this factor can also play a role in angiogenesis and increase vascular permeability (Joukov et al., 1996, 1997). VEGF-C shares 30% identity with VEGF-A and VEGF-D is structurally 48% identical to VEGF-C (Joukov et al., 1996,

Schoppman, 2005). *Vegf-c*-mutant embryos die from fluid accumulation in tissues due to a lack of lymphatic vasculature and mice containing a single *Vegf-c* allele exhibit lymphatic hypoplasia and lymphedema (Karkkainen et al., 2004). Given the requirement for VEGF-C to promote the budding and proliferation of Prox-1-expressing LEC from the cardinal vein, *Vegf-c* mutant ECs commit to the lymphatic lineage but they do not sprout to form LVs (Karkkainen et al., 2004). The deletion of *Vegf-d* does not affect the development of the lymphatic vasculature but recombinant VEGF-C and VEGF-D can rescue the impaired vessel sprouting in *Vegf-c* deficient embryos (Karkkainen et al., 2004, Baldwin et al., 2005, Alitalo et al., 2005).

In a variety of experimental systems, VEGF-C and VEGF-D have been shown to induce lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis. In a chick chorioallantoic membrane model, VEGF-C induced LEC proliferation and the development of new lymphatics (Oh et al., 1997). Overexpression of VEGF-C in the skin of transgenic mice stimulated LEC proliferation and hyperplastic LVs; in addition, subcutaneous adenovirus delivery of VEGF-C to mice induced lymphangiogenesis (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Enholm et al., 2001). In a mouse cornea model, VEGF-C induced LV growth and these effects could be inhibited by the administration of antibodies against VEGFR-3 (Kubo et al., 2002). Using a more selective approach, transgenic mice overexpressing a VEGFR-3-specific VEGF-C induced the growth of LVs in the skin (Veikkola et al., 2001). Over-expressing VEGF-D induces lymphangiogenesis in the skin of transgenic mice (Veikkola et al., 2001). Furthermore, adenovirus delivery of VEGF-D protein induced EC proliferation and lymphangiogenesis in rat skin and in rabbit hindlimb muscle and adenovirusencoded VEGF-D served as the most potent member of the VEGF family (Byzova et al., 2002, Rissanen et al., 2003).

Likewise, in a mouse tumor model human VEGF-D induced angiogenesis, lymphangiogenesis, and metastatic spread through the lymphatics (Stacker et al., 2001).

Interestingly, VEGF-C expression has been identified in about half the human cancers analyzed and the levels of VEGF-C expression have been correlated with lymph node (LN) metastasis in multiple cancers such as thyroid, gastric, colorectal and lung (Salven et al., 1998, Schoppman, 2005). Tumor cells express VEGF-C and have been shown to play a role in tumor lymphangiogenesis and metastasis (Mandriota et al., 2001, Skobe et al., 2001a, 2001b). In addition, enlarged LVs as well as lymphangiogenesis have been reported in peritumoral areas and the number of tumor-associated lymphatics correlated with LN metastases (Stacker et al., 2002, Pepper et al., 2003). The administration of tumor cells expressing VEGF-C promoted the growth of tumor-associated lymphatics and these effects could be inhibited by a soluble VEGFR-3 fusion protein (Karpanen et al., 2001). Taken together, these data suggest that recombinant VEGF-C protein or tumor cells can initiate LV growth and that these effects are mediated primarily through VEGFR-3 signaling.

VEGF-C and VEGF-D act as mediators of lymphangiogenesis which may increase the propensity for cancer to spread via the lymphatic system (Stacker et al., 2002, Pepper et al., 2003). It is thought that tumor cells are capable of migrating through the lymphatics, as opposed to the blood vasculature, because lymphatics have looser junctions and a discontinuous basement membrane (Alitalo and Carmeliet, 2002). As a result, VEGF-C offers an attractive target for the inhibition of tumor lymphangiogenesis and LN dissemination via a soluble VEGFR-3 fusion protein or neutralizing antibodies (Karpanen et al., 2001, He et al., 2005, Schoppman, 2005).

The role of VEGF-A in lymphangiogenesis is not as well characterized as VEGF-C or VEGF-D. VEGF-A signaling through VEGFR-2 is considered to be the main receptor that

mediates BEC proliferation, migration, survival, tubule formation and thus, angiogenesis, but VEGFR-2 has also been shown to be expressed by LECs (Gupta et al., 1999, Makinen et al., 2001a, Podgrabinska et al., 2002, Saharinen et al., 2004). Specifically, VEGFR-2 has been found on collecting LVs and in lymphatics undergoing active lymphangiogenesis (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Veikkola et al., 2001, Saharinen et al., 2004). VEGFR-2 is also activated by the full proteolytic products of VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Joukov et al., 1997, Achen et al., 1998). In addition, VEGFR-2 signaling has been shown to promote LV enlargement, but it does not appear to be involved in LV sprouting (Wirzenius et al., 2007). Deletion of the Vegfr-2 gene in mice results in the absence of a functional vasculature due to the embryonic arrest in the differentiation of hematopoietic cells and ECs (Shalaby et al., 1995). Furthermore, removal of both *Vegf-a* alleles in mice results in almost a complete lack of vasculature where as the removal of a single allele is still embryonically lethal due to an arrest in vasculogenesis, demonstrating that Vegf-a expression is required for vascular patterning and assembly (Carmeilet et al., 1996, Ferrara, 1996a, 1996b, Oliver and Alitalo, 2005). Through VEGFR-2 signaling, VEGF-A also possesses lymphangiogenic potential; it has been shown to induce LEC proliferation, LN lymphangiogenesis and thus, tumor metastasis (Nagy et al., 2002, Hirakawa et al., 2005). Overexpression of VEGF-A promoted lymphangiogenesis at the site of wound healing and blockade of VEGFR-2 signaling prevented LV formation (Hong et al., 2004b).

Lymphangiogenesis has been associated with cancer, but lymphangiogenesis also occurs in wound healing and in response to chronic inflammation such as psoriasis, Crohn's disease, graft rejection or pathogen infection. However, it is unclear whether the new LVs are present to resolve the inflammation by removing excess extravasated fluids, protein clots and apoptotic cells or if the new LVs are a consequence of the pathology (Angeli and Randolph, 2006). Even
though lymphangiogenesis is generally perceived to be a beneficial process that provides a network of vessels to drain edematous tissues, results from several models suggest that inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis can exacerbate the inflammation rather than controlling it. In addition, the massive expansion of the lymphatic network actually leads to defective LVs and thus decreased drainage and disease progression (Kovi et al., 1981, Kunstfeld et al., 2004, Angeli and Randolph, 2006). For example, over-expression of VEGF-A or VEGF-C results in lymphatics becoming structurally and functionally abnormal and lymphatic function is impaired (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Nagy et al., 2002, Angeli and Randolph, 2006). The chronic inflammatory response seen in psoriasis patients is mediated by VEGF-A and characterized by lymphangiogenesis and dilated lymphatics (Kunstfeld et al., 2004). Furthermore, systemic blockade of VEGF-A in animal models of psoriasis reduced skin inflammation (Schonthaler et al., 2009). It has also been proposed that inflammatory lymphangiogenesis is the primary step in the formation of tertiary lymphoid organs that organize in response to a state of chronic inflammation such as solid organ transplant rejection and the increased LV density around transplanted human kidneys undergoing rejection resembles tertiary lymphoid organs (Kerjaschki et al., 2004, Angeli and Randolph, 2006, Drayton et al., 2006, Thaunat et al., 2006). However, the mechanisms and players responsible for the induction of lymphangiogenesis in a state of inflammation are not completely understood and this field is only at its nascence compared to the study of tumor-induced lymphangiogenesis. (Angeli and Randolph, 2006, Drayton et al., 2006)

Lymphangiogenic VEGF molecules have also been able to improve lymphatic function when it is impaired. In a mouse ear model of postsurgical lymphedema, recombinant VEGF-C improved lymphatic function, increased dermal vascularity and normalized tissue architecture

resulting from chronic lymphatic insufficiency (Szuba et al., 2002). The local transfer of naked plasmid DNA encoding VEGF-C in a rabbit ear model led to a decrease in thickness and volume of lymphedema as well as an increase in lymphatic function as measured by lymphoscintigraphy (Yoon et al., 2003). These effects on lymphedema were also confirmed using a mouse tail model where VEGF-C decreased tail thickness and induced the proliferation of LECs and thus LV growth (Yoon et al., 2003). In the Chy mouse model of secondary lymphedema which exhibits chylous ascites and swollen limbs due to a lack of subcutaneous lymphatics as a result of an inactivating *Vegfr-3* mutation, virus-mediated VEGF-C gene therapy was able to generate functional lymphatics (Karkkainen et al., 2001). These results demonstrate that VEGF-C selectively promotes lymphangiogenesis which improves the lymphatic pathology associated with lymphedema. These studies also provide the support for the potential use of VEGF-C as a therapeutic agent for lymphatic pathologies.

Other molecules such as cytokines like IL-8, IL-6, IL-3 and IL-7 have also been implicated in supporting the function of LECs and LVs. The role of these cytokines in modulating lymphatic architecture emphasizes intimate interaction between the lymphatics and the immune response. For instance, IL-8 is generally thought of as a member of the α chemokine or CXC chemokine subfamily that operates as a pro-inflammatory cytokine and a chemotactic factor for neutrophils, but it has also been shown to activate T cells as well as basophils and eosinophils (Baggiolini et al., 1994, Vitiello et al., 2004). IL-8 is secreted by a variety of cells types including monocytes/macrophages, neutrophils, T lymphocytes, fibroblasts, ECs, and epithelial cells in response to inflammatory stimuli such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), IL-1, or TNF α (Marie et al., 1998). However, IL-8 also serves as potent angiogenic factor promoting vascularization in tumors and injured tissues (Koch et al., 1992, Vitiello et al., 2004).

Furthermore, IL-8 plays a direct role in supporting angiogenesis *in vitro* by directly enhancing EC proliferation, survival and tubule formation while inhibiting apoptosis (Koch et al., 1992, Li et al., 2003). More specifically, IL-8 has been shown to be secreted by the human monocytic cell line THP-1 as well as human PBMCs in response to LPS and this activation is mediated by MAPK ERK1/2 (Marie et al., 1998, Vitiello et al., 2004). Furthermore, inhibitors against the MAPK cascade reduce the amount of IL-8 produced by monocytes (Marie et al., 1998).

IL-6 is normally thought of as a pro-inflammatory cytokine associated with fever; however, IL-6 also acts as an angiogenic factor by promoting VEGF expression and inducing EC motility and EC proliferation (Holzinger et al., 1993, Cohen et al., 1996, Giraudo et al., 1996, Ni et al., 2004, Yao et al., 2006).

IL-7 is a pleitropic cytokine associated with the development of B and T lymphocytes or the homeostasis of peripheral T cell populations, but recent evidence indicates IL-7 also mediates lymphangiogenesis. IL-7 has been shown to induce the expression of lymphatic-specific molecules such as LYVE-1, podoplanin and Prox-1 in ECs (Al-Rawi et al., 2005). It also enhanced EC growth, migration and tubule formation via the up-regulation of VEGF-D (Al-Rawi et al., 2005). Blocking IL-7 with neutralizing antibodies or using IL-7R EC null mutants abolished these effects (Al-Rawi et al., 2005).

IL-3 is known to promote the survival, proliferation and differentiation of pluripotent hemopoietic stem cells in addition to its roles modulating the activity of mature cell lineages; it has also been shown to stimulate EC proliferation and functional activation (Brizzi et al., 1993). IL-3 has been reported to induce EC migration and tubule formation *in vitro* as well as neoangiogenesis in a murine model of Matrigel transplantation (Dentelli et al., 1999).

Finally, IL-3 plays a role in the differentiation of ECs through its ability to up-regulate the lymphatic-specific molecules podoplanin and Prox-1 in BECs (Groger et al., 2004).

1.5 Monocytes and Lymphangiogenesis

Monocytes have been shown to induce EC proliferation and migration by soluble mediators as well as cell to cell contact (Ito et al., 1997, Schubert et al., 2008). In wound healing monocyte recruitment has been correlated with EC proliferation (Taylor and Lewis, 1986). Even the number of circulating monocytes has been correlated with the induction of angiogenesis and activated monocytes secrete many soluble products involved in EC proliferation such as VEGF and IL-8 (Koch et al., 1992, Itaya et al., 2001, Heil et al., 2002, Li et al., 2002). The activation of monocytes to induce EC proliferation is mediated by the MAPK ERK1/2 pathway and chemotherapeutic inhibition of this pathway ablates monocyte-induced EC proliferation. Taken together, these data show that monocytes can play an active role in EC proliferation (Schubert et al., 2008).

Even though monocytes induce EC proliferation, the specific effect on LECs is less defined (Alitalo et al., 2005). Monocytes secrete lymphangiogenic factors such as VEGF-C and VEGF-D and VEGF-C; VEGF-C binds VEGFR-3 which is found on the surface of a subset of peripheral blood monocytes (Schoppmann et al., 2002, Salven et al., 2003). During biological events such as cancer, wound healing or inflammation, LVs proliferate and this effect can be mediated by pro-inflammatory cytokines, especially in inflammation, which induces the secretion of VEGF-C (Pullinger and Florey, 1937, Ristimaki et al., 1997, Watari et al., 2008). Inflammatory infiltrates in human kidney transplants undergoing rejection contain proliferating host lymphatics and *Mycoplasma* infection of mouse airway epithelial cells results in robust lymphangiogenesis driven by VEGF-C and VEGF-D-expressing cells (Kerjaschki et al., 2004,

Baluk et al., 2005). In addition, the inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling resulted in the complete arrest in the growth of LVs which exaggerated edema (Baluk et al., 2005). Furthermore, in the rabbit cornea model of lymphangiogenesis which is associated with inflammation, lymphangiogenesis can be ablated by the depletion of macrophages which suggests that macrophages can mediate the formation of LVs (Cursiefen et al., 2004).

In cancer lymphangiogenesis, tumor associated macrophages (TAM) are a primary component of the inflammatory infiltrate surrounding tumors. These cells have a dual role in anti-tumor immunity; under IL-2 stimulation, they kill tumor cells, but under IFNy and IL-12 activation they produce potent angiogenic and lymphangiogenic factors like VEGF that potentiate tumor progression (Schoppmann et al., 2002, 2005). Macrophages, recruited by VEGF-C-producing tumors, are thought to promote tumor lymphangiogenesis by first becoming VEGF-secreting cells themselves. Here, TAMs stimulate elongation of existing lymphatics associated with the tumor as well as the recruitment of more VEGF-producing cells to maintain the lymphatic network supporting tumorigenesis. Secondarily, TAM support tumorigenesis by transdifferentiating into LECs themselves and integrating into the peritumoral lymphatic network, there is a greater potential for metastasis. (Kerjaschki, 2005)

It is thought that EC progenitors can contribute to postnatal lymphangiogenesis and there have been two potential bone marrow-derived circulating candidate cell populations identified thus far. Salven et al. described a small population of circulating CD34+CD133+VEGFR-3+ cells that possess the capacity to differentiate into mature LECs while Schoppmann et al. identified a major subpopulation of CD14+VEGFR-3+CD31+ VEGFR-2- monocytes in human blood that can be stimulated to express VEGF-C and the LEC-specific marker LYVE-1

(Schoppmann et al., 2002, Salven et al., 2003). Endothelial progenitor cells (CD34+CD133+) have been identified in human umbilical cord blood and genetic profiling only revealed a small set of genes that were differentially expressed between these endothelial progenitors and LECs suggesting related lineages for these two cell types (Nguyen et al., 2009).

Given the existence of these two cell populations *in vivo*, it is possible that postnatal lymphangiogenesis can occur through two mechanisms: the proliferation of LECs from preexisting vessels as well as the through recruitment of bone marrow-derived EC precursors. These cells can also incorporate into the LVs to induce two types of growth: enlarge the vessel circumferentially or join at sprout tips (Adams and Alitalo, 2007). In renal transplants, circulating LEC precursors were shown to incorporate into growing LVs (Kerjaschki et al., 2004). Furthermore, healthy corneas are typically avascular, but during inflammatory conditions both blood and lymphatic vessels invade the cornea. Using this corneal transplantation model, studies have shown that inflamed corneas contain bone marrow-derived macrophages that express VEGF-C and VEGF-D mRNA (Cursiefen et al., 2004). New LVs are formed in the inflamed corneas and this is mediated by macrophages, and not DCs or cells of the adaptive immune response or blood endothelial progenitor cells (Maruyama et al., 2005). These macrophages were also able to produce tubules and up-regulate the expression of LEC-specific markers such as LYVE-1, podoplanin and Prox-1 suggesting that macrophages transdifferentiate into LECs (Maruyama et al., 2005). It should be noted that the development of the new LVs was not only from pre-existing lymphatics but also from *de novo* lymphangiogenic aggregates of recruited cells that did not have connections to existing lymphatics (Maruyama et al., 2005). Not only did donor macrophages directly integrate into the new LVs, but local depletion of macrophages resulted in the suppression of lymphangiogenesis (Maruyama et al., 2005).

Additionally, LYVE-1+ macrophages were seen to integrate into the endothelial lining of the LVs of onchocerca nodules suggesting monocytes/macrophages play a role in the neovascularization of this structure (Attout et al., 2009).

Based on these results, monocytes and macrophages support LEC function by various mechanisms. Expansion of lymphatic vasculature occurs through the proliferation of preexisting LECs as well as the incorporation of LEC progenitor cells into the vessels. Monocytes and macrophages may serve a dual role in lymphangiogenesis by providing the soluble mediators, like VEGF-C and VEGF-D, necessary for the division of LECs in pre-existing vessels or by transdifferentiating into LECs and directly incorporating into the vessels (Kerjaschki et al., 2004).

Even though the literature suggests that monocytes/macrophages are the predominant cell type responsible for lymphangiogenesis, other cell types such as platelets, B cells, DCs and epithelial cells have lymphangiogenic potential because of their ability to secrete lymphangiogenic molecules. Upon activation, such as clotting to initiate wound healing, platelets secrete VEGF-A and VEGF-C which induce vessel formation (Wartiovaara et al., 1998, Webb et al., 1998, Brill et al., 2004). Platelets store pro- and anti-angiogenic and lymphangiogenic molecules segregated in distinct α -granules suggesting platelets play an active role in maintaining the balance between stimulating and inhibiting angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis upon release of these factors (Italiano et al., 2008). B cells have also been shown to regulate the expansion of the lymphatic network surrounding an activated LN during an immune response (Angeli et al., 2006). Lymphangiogenesis and, thus, DC migration into the activated LN was dependent on B cells entering the LN (Angeli et al., 2006). As a result, it is hypothesized that B cells which are recruited to the activated LN during an inflammatory

response, secrete VEGF-A and stimulate the growth of LVs and high endothelial venules through VEGFR-2 signaling (Angeli and Randolph, 2006, Angeli et al., 2006). Finally, DCs possess lymphangiogenic potential; in the corneal transplantation model, the cornea becomes infiltrated with DCs and LVs. Hamrah et al. showed that there is a rapid increase in the number of VEGFR-3+ corneal DCs under inflammatory conditions and that these cells express VEGF-C (2003). Additionally, epithelial cells were identified as the primary cell source for VEGF-A during a corneal infection with herpes simplex virus-1 (Wuest and Carr, 2010). In conclusion, it appears many different cells types have been implicated in lymphangiogenesis and that these cells exhibit increased lymphangiogenic potential during periods of inflammation arguing for an intimate link between the immune response and remodeling of the lymphatic network.

1.6 Statement of Purpose

Possible candidates mediating the filarial-induced lymphangiectasia could be discovered in the ES products of the adult worms and identifying and harnessing the biological function of these factors could help to define the pathogenesis of disease. Given the residence of the adult worms in the LVs and the location of the LECs within the same microenvironment, it is critical to understand the relationship between the ES products released by the worms and the LECs that line the lumen of infected vessels. As an initial step to characterize worm proteins and familiarize ourselves with the technologies utilized to identify proteins from complex mixtures, we performed 2-dimensional SDS-PAGE coupled with mass spectrometry. In preliminary studies, we used antigens available in abundance such as crude worm extract to provide the framework and experience base for analyses of the protein constituents and the biological relevance of the ES products. It is hypothesized that the ES products released by living adult worms stimulate the host response through an interaction with LECs.

The aim of this research is to identify the effects the ES products have on LECs or other cell

types involved in lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiectasia.

1.7 References

Achen, M.G., M. Jeltsch, E. Kukk, T. Makinen, A. Vitali, A.F. Wilks, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (FLT-4). PNAS 95:548-53.

Adams, R. and K. Alitalo. 2007. Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Bio 8:464-78.

Al-Rawi, M.A., G. Watkins, R.E. Mansel, W.G. Jiang. 2005. The effects of interkeukin-7 on the lymphangiogenic properties of human endothelial cells. Int J Oncol 27:721-30.

Alitalo, K., and P. Carmeliet. 2002. Molecular mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis in health and disease. Cancer Cell 1:219-27.

Alitalo, K., T. Tammela, T.V. Petrova. 2005. Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease. Nature 438:946-53.

Allen, J., R. Lawrence, R. Maizels. 1996. APC from mice harbouring the filarial nematode, *Brugia malayi*, prevent cellular proliferation but not cytokine production. Int Immunol 8:143-51.

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Angeli, V., F. Ginhoux, J. Llodra, L. Quemeneur, P.S. Frenette, M. Skobe, R. Jessberger, M. Merad, G.J. Randolph. 2006. B-cell driven lymphangiogenesis in inflamed lymph nodes enhances dendritic cell mobilization. Immunity 24:203-15.

Angeli, V., and G.J. Randolph. 2006. Inflammation, lymphatic function and dendritic cell migration. Lymphatic Res and Biol 4:217-28.

Attout, T., A. Hoerauf, G. Denece, A.Y. Debrah, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, M. Boussinesq, S. Wanji, V. Martinez, S. Mand, O. Adjei, O. Bain, S. Specht, C. Martin. 2009. Lymphatic vascularization and involvement of LYVE-1+ macrophages in the human onchocerca nodule. PLoS One 4:e8234.

Babu, S., C.P. Blauvelt, V. Kumaraswami, T.B. Nutman. 2005. Chemokine receptors of T cells and of B cells in lymphatic filarial infection: a role for CCR9 in pathogenesis. J Infect Dis 191:1018-26.

Babu, S., C.P. Blauvelt, V. Kumaraswami, T.B. Nutman. 2005. Diminished expression and function of TLR in lymphatic filariasis: a novel mechanism of immune dysregulation. J Immunol 175:1170-6.

Babu, S., V. Kumaraswami, T. Nutman. 2009. Alternatively activated and immunoregulatory monocytes in human filarial infections. J Infect Dis 199:1827-37.

Baggiolini, M., B. Dewald, B. Moser. 1994. Interleukin-8 and related chemotactic cytokines-CXC and CC chemokines. Adv Immunol 55:97-179.

Baldwin, M.E., M.M. Halford, S. Roufail, R.A. Williams, M.L. Hibbs, D. Grail, H. Kubo, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen. 2005. Vascular endothelial growth factor D is dispensable for development of the lymphatic system. Mol Cell Biol 25:2441-9.

Baluk, P., T. Tammela, E. Ator, N. Lyubynska, M.G. Achen, D.J. Hicklin, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, B. Pytowski, S.A. Stacker, S. Ylä-Herttuala, D.G. Jackson, K. Alitalo, D.M. McDonald. 2005. Pathogenesis of persistent lymphatic vessel hyperplasia in chronic airway inflammation. J Clin Invest 115:247-57.

Banerji, S., J. Ni, S. Wang, S. Clasper, J. Su, R. Tammi, M. Jones, D. Jackson. 1999. LYVE-1, a new homologue of the CD44 glycoprotein, is a lymph-specific receptor for hyaluronan. J Cell Biol 144:789-801.

Barbee, W.C., A. Ewert, D. Folse. 1977. The combined effect of a cutaneo-lymphatic fungus, *Sporothrix schenckii* and a lymphatic-dwelling nematode, *Brugia malayi*. Tropical and Geographical Medicine 29:65-73.

Bosworth, W., and A. Ewert. 1975. The effect of Streptococcus on the persistence of *Brugia malayi* and on the production of elephantiasis in cats. Int J Parasitol 5:583-9.

Bradley, M.J., and V.K. Kumaraswami. 2004. Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis: 2.2 Essential tools-drugs and clinical drug trials. Am J Trop Med Hyg 71(Suppl):7-11.

Brill, A., H. Elinv, D. Varon. 2004. Differential role of platelet granular mediators in angiogenesis. Cardiovascular Res 63:226-35.

Brizzi, M.F., G. Garbarino, P.R. Rossi, G.L. Pagliardi, C. Arduino, G.C. Avanzi, L. Pegoraro. 1993. Interleukin 3 stimulates proliferation and triggers endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 gene activation of human endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 91:2887-92.

Buck, A.A. Part VI. Helminthic infections, section B, filarial infections: Hunter's tropical medicine. 7 ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Co., 1991, p. 711-49.

Byzova, T.V., C.K. Goldman, J. Jankau, J. Chen, G. Cabrera, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K.A. Carnevale, M. Siemionow, S.R. Deitcher, P.E. DiCorleto. 2002. Adenovirus encoding vascular endothelial growth factor-D induces tissue-specific vascular patterns *in vivo*. Blood 99:4434-42.

Case, T., B. Leis, M. Witte, D. Way, M. Bernas, P. Borgs, C. Crandall, R. Crandall, R. Nagle, S. Jamal. 1991. Vascular abnormalities in experimental and human lymphatic filariasis. Lymphology 24:174-83.

Case, T.C., E. Unger, M.J. Bernas, M.H. Witte, C.L. Witte, G. McNeill, C. Crandall, R. Crandall. 1992. Lymphatic imaging in experimental filariasis using magnetic resonance. Invest Radiol 27:293-7.

Chandrashekar, R., K.C. Curtis, R.M. Ramzy, F. Liftis, B-W Li, G.J. Weil. 1994. Molecular cloning of *Brugia malayi* antigens for diagnosis of lymphatic filariasis. Molec Biochem Parasitol 64:261-71.

Cohen, T., D. Nahari, L.W. Cerem, G. Neufeld, B. Levi. 1996. Interleukin-6 induces the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor. J Biol Chem 271:736-41.

Cuenco, T., E. Halloran, P.J. Lammie. 2004. Assessment of families for excess risk of lymphedema of the leg in a lymphatic filariasis-endemic area. Am J Trop Med Hyg 70:185-90.

Cursiefen, C., L. Chen, L.P. Borges, D. Jackson, J. Cao, C. Radziejewski, P.A. D'Amore, M.R. Dana, S.J. Wiegand, J.W. Streilein. 2004. VEGF-A stimulates lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis in inflammatory neovacularization via macrophage recruitment. J Clin Invest 113:1040-50.

de Almeida, A.B., M.C. Maia e Silva, M.A. Maciel, D.O. Freedman. 1996. The presence or absence of active infection, not clinical status, is most closely associated with cytokine responses in lymphatic filariasis. J Infect Dis 173:1453-9.

Debrah, A., S. Mand, S. Specht, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, L. Batsa, K. Pfarr, J. Larbi, B. Lawson, M. Taylor, O. Adjei, A. Hoerauf. 2006. Doxycycline reduces plasma VEGF-C/sVEGFR-3 and improves pathology in lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Pathog 2:e92.

Dentelli, P., L. del Sorbo, A. Rosso, A. Molinar, G. Garbarino, G. Camussi, L. Pegoraro, M.F. Brizzi. 1999. Human IL-3 stimulates endothelial cell motility and promotes *in vivo* new vessel formation. J Immunol 163:2151-9.

Dimock, K., M. Eberhard, P. Lammie. 1996. Th1-like antifilarial immune responses predominate in antigen-negative persons. Inf Immun 64:2962-7.

Dissanayake, S., L. Watawana, W.F. Piessens. 1995. Lymphatic pathology in *Wuchereria bancrofti* microfilaraemic infections. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 89:517-21.

Drayton, D.L., S. Liao, R.H. Mounzer, N. Ruddle. 2006. Lymphoid organ development: from ontogeny to neogenesis. Nat Immunol 7:344-53.

Dreyer, G., E.A. Ottesen, E. Galdino, L. Andrade, A. Rocha, Z. Medeiros, I. Moura, I. Casimiro, F. Beliz, A. Coutinho. 1992. Renal Abnormalities in microfilaremic patients with bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 46:745-51.

Dreyer, G., J. Noroes, J. Figueredo-Silva. 2000. New insights into the natural history and pathology of bancroftian filariasis: implications for clinical management and filariasis control programmes. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 94:594-6.

Dreyer, G., J. Noroes, J. Figueredo-Silva, W. Piessens. 2000. Pathogenesis of lymphatic disease in bancroftian filariasis: A clinical perspective. Parasitol Today 16:544-8.

Dreyer, G., D. Addiss, J. Roberts, J. Noroes. 2002. Progression of lymphatic vessel dilatation in the presence of living adult *Wuchereria bancrofti*. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:157-61.

Dumont, D.J., L. Jussila, J. Taipale, A. Lymboussaki, T. Mustonen, K. Pajusola, M. Breitman, K. Alitalo. 1998. Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. Science 282:946-9.

Elkhalifa, M.Y., H.W. Ghalib, T. Dafa'Alla, J.F. Williams. 1991. Suppression of human lymphocyte responses to specific and non-specific stimuli in human onchocerciasis. Clin Exp Immunol 86:433-9.

Enholm, B., T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, H. Kubo, F. Stenback, R. Prevo, D.G. Jackson, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2001. Adenoviral expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C induces lymphangiogenesis in skin. Circ Res 88:623-9.

Eriksson, U., and K. Alitalo. 1999. Structure, expression and receptor-binding properties of novel vascular endothelial growth factors. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237:41-57.

Falcone, F.H., P. Loke, X. Zang, A.S. MacDonald, R.M. Maizels, J.E. Allen. 2001. A *Brugia malayi* homolog of macrophage migration inhibitory factor reveals an important link between macrophages and eosinophil recruitment during nematode infection. J Immunol 167:5348-54.

Ferrara, N., K. Carver-Moore, H. Chen, M. Dowd, L. Lu, K.S. O'Shea, L. Powell-Braxton, K.J. Hillan, M.W. Moore. 1996. Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature 380:439-42.

Ferrara, N. 1999. Molecular and biochemical properties of vascular endothelial growth factor. J Mol Med 77:527-43.

Ferrara, N. 1999. Vascular endothelial growth factor: Molecular and biological aspects. Curr Top in Micro and Immunol 237:1-30.

Figueredo-Silva, J., J. Noroes, A. Cedenho, G. Dreyer. 2002. The histopathology of bancroftian filariasis revisited: the role of the adult worm in the lymphatic-vessel disease. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 96:531-41.

Freedman, D. 1998. Immune dynamics in the pathogenesis of human lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol Today 14:229-34.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh, C.M. Maia e Silva, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1994. Lymphoscintigraphic analysis of lymphatic abnormalities in symptomatic and asymptomatic human filariasis. J Infect Dis 170:927-33.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh. 1995. Abnormal lymphatic function in presymptomatic bancroftian filariasis. J Infect Dis 171:997-1001.

Freedman, D., C.M. Maia e Silva, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1996. Predominant CD8+ infiltrate in limb biopsies of individuals with filarial lymphedema and elephantiasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 53:633-8.

Freedman, D., S. Parker-Cook, C.M. Maia e Silva T.D. Horn, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1996. Very late antigen-4/vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VLA-4/VCAM-1) pathway is involved in the transendothelial migration of lymphocytes in bancroftian filariasis. J Immunol 156:2901-8.

Fong, G.H., J. Roassant, M. Gertsenstein, M.L. Breitman. 1995. Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. Nature 376:66-70.

Geary, T.G. 2005. Ivermectin 20 years on: Maturation of a wonder drug. Trends in Parasitol 21:530-2.

Gillan, V., and E. Devaney. 2005. Regulatory T cells modulate Th2 responses induced by *Brugia pahangi* third-stage larvae. Inf Immun 73:4034-42.

Giraudo, E., M. Arese, C. Toniatti, M. Strasly, L. Primo, A. Mantovani, G. Ciliberto, F. Bussolini. 1996. IL-6 is an *in vitro* and *in vivo* autocrine growth factor for middle T antigentransformed endothelial cells. J Immunol 157:2618-23.

Gomez-Escobar, N., E. Lewis, R.M. Maizels. 1998. A novel member of the transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) superfamily from the filarial nematodes *Brugia malayi* and *B. pahangi*. Exp Parasitol 88:200-9.

Goodridge, H.S., E.H. Wilson, W. Harnett, C. Campbell, M. Harnett, F. Liew. 2001. Modulation of macrophage cytokine production by ES-62, a secreted product of the filarial nematode *Acanthocheilonema viteae*. J Immunol 167:940-5.

Goodridge, H.S., W. Harnett, F. Liew, M.M. Harnett. 2003. Differential regulation of interleukin-12 p40 and p35 induction via Erk mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent and - independent mechanisms and the implications for bioactive IL-12 and IL-23 responses. Immunology 109:415-25.

Groger, M., R. Loewe, W. Holnthoner, R. Embacher, M. Pillinger, G.S. Herron, K. Wolff, P. Petzelbauer. 2004. IL-3 induces expression of lymphatic markers Prox-1 and podoplanin in human endothelial cells. J Immunol 173:7161-9.

Gupta, K., S. Kshirsagar, W. Li, L. Gui, S. Ramakrishnan, P. Gupta, P.Y. Law, R.P. Hebbel. 1999. VEGF prevents apoptosis of human microvascular endothelial cells via opposing effects on MAPK/ERK and SAPK/JNK signaling. Exp Cell Res 247:495-504.

Hamrah, P., L. Chen, Q. Zhang, M.R. Dana. 2003. Novel expression of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR)-3 and VEGF-C on corneal dendritic cells. Am J Pathol 163:57-68.

Harnett, W., M.J. Worms, A. Kapil, M. Grainger, R.M. Parkhouse. 1989. Origin, kinetics of circulation and fate *in vivo* of the major excretory-secretory product of *Acanthocheilonema viteae*. Parasitol 99:229-39.

Harnett, W., and M. Harnett. 1993. Inhibition of murine B cell proliferation and down-regulation of protein kinase C levels by a phosphorylcholine-containing filarial excretory- secretory product. J Immunol 151:4829-37.

Harnett, W., M. Deehan, K. Houston, M. Harnett. 1999. Immunomodulatory properties of a phosphorylcholine-containing secreted filarial glycoprotein. Parasite Immunol 21:601-8.

Harnett, W., and M. Harnett. 2006. Molecular basis of worm-induced immunomodulation. Parasite Immunol 28:535-43.

Harnett, W., and M. Harnett. 2006. What causes lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness during filarial nematode infection? Trends in Parasitol 22:105-10.

Hartmann, K.B., B. Sonnenburg, R. Lucius. 1997. A filarial cysteine protease inhibitor downregulates T cell proliferation and enhances interleukin-10 production. Euro J Immunol 27:2253-60.

He, Y., I. Rajantie, K. Pajusola, M. Jeltsch, T. Holopainen, S. Yla-Herttuala, T. Harding, K. Jooss, T. Takahashi, K. Alitalo. 2005. Vascular endothelial cell growth factor receptor 3-mediated activation of lymphatic endothelium is crucial for tumor cell entry and spread via lymphatic vessels. Cancer Res 65:4739-46.

Heil, M., T. Ziegelhoeffer, F. Pipp, S. Kostin, S. Martin, M. Clauss, W. Schaper. 2002. Blood monocyte concentration is critical for enhancement of collateral artery growth. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283:H2411-H2419.

Hirakawa, S., Y. Hong, N. Harvey, V. Schacht, K. Matsuda, T. Libermann, M. Detmar. 2003. Identification of vascular lineage-specific genes by transcriptional profiling of isolated blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells. Am J Pathol 162:575-86.

Hirakawa, S., S. Kodama, R. Kunstfeld, K. Kajiya, L.F. Brown, M. Detmar. 2005. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201:1089-99.

Hoerauf, A., L. Volkmann, C. Hamelmann, O. Adjei, I.B. Autenrieth, B. Fleisher, D.W. Buttner. 2000. Endosymbiotic bacteria in worms as targets for novel chemotherapy in filariasis. Lancet 355:1242-3.

Holzinger, C., E. Weissinger, A. Zuckermann, M. Imhof, F. Kink, A. Schöllhammer, C. Kopp, E. Wolner. 1993. Effects of interleukin-1, -2, -4, -6, interferon-gamma and granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor on human vascular endothelial cells. Immunol Lett 35:109-17.

Hong, Y., N. Harvey, Y. Noh, V. Schacht, S. Hirakawa, M. Detmar, G. Oliver. 2002. Prox1 is a master control gene in the program specifying lymphatic endothelial cell fate. Developmental Dynamics 225:351-7.

Hong, Y., J. Shin, M. Detmar. 2004. Development of the lymphatic vascular system: a mystery unravels. Developmental Dynamics 231:462-73.

Hong, Y., B. Lange-Asschenfeldt, P. Velasco, S. Hirakawa, R. Kunstfeld, L.F. Brown, P. Bohlen, D.R. Sneger, M. Detmar. 2004. VEGF-A promotes tissues repair-associated lymphatic vessel formation via VEGFR-2 and the $\alpha 1\beta 1$ and $\alpha 2\beta 2$ integrins. FASEB J 18:1111-3.

Hong, S., S. Kodama, R. Kunstfeld, K. Kajiya, L.F. Brown, M. Detmar. 2005. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201:1089-99.

Hooper, P.J., M.H. Bradley, G. Biswas, E.A. Ottesen. 2009. The Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic filariasis: health impact during its first 8 years (2000-2007). Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 103:S17-31.

Hussain, R., R.G. Hamilton, V. Kumaraswami, N. Adkinson, E. Ottesen. 1981. IgE responses in human filariasis. I. Quantitation of filaria-specific IgE. J Immunol 127:1623-9.

Italiano, J.E., J.L. Richardson, S. Patel-Hett, E. Battinelli, A. Zaslavsky, S. Short, S. Ryeom, J. Folkman, G.L. Klement. 2008. Angiogenesis is regulated by a novel mechanism: pro- and antiangiogenic proteins are organized into separate platelet a-granules and differentially released. Blood 111:1227-33.

Itaya, H., T. Imaizumi, H. Yoshida, M. Koyama, S. Suzuki, K. Satoh. 2001. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in human monocyte/macrophages stimulated with lipopolysaccharide. Thromb Haemost 85:171-176.

Ito, W.D., M. Arras, B. Winkler, D. Scholz, J. Schaper, W. Schaper. 1997. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 increases collateral and peripheral conductance after femoral artery occlusion. Circ Res 80:829-37.

Jackson, D.G. 2003. The lymphatics revisited: new perspectives from the hyaluronan receptor LYVE-1. Trends Cardiovasc Med 13:1-7.

Jackson, D.G. 2004. Biology of the lymphatic marker LYVE-1 and applications in research into lymphatic trafficking and lymphangiogenesis. APMIS 112:526-38.

Jackson, D.G., R. Prevo, S. Clasper, S. Banerji. 2001. LYVE-1, the lymphatic system and tumor lymphangiogenesis. Trends Immunol 22:317-21.

Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, K. Alitalo. 1997. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276:1423-5.

Joukov, V., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, D. Chilov, I. Lahtinen, E. Kukk, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1996. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt-4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J 15:290-8.

Joukov, V., T. Sorsa, V. Kumar, M. Jeltsch, L. Claesson-Welsh, C. Yihai, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1997. Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. EMBO J 16:3898-911.

Jungmann, P., J. Figueredo-Silva, G. Dreyer. 1991. Bancroftian lymphadenopathy: a histopathologic study of fifty-eight cases from northeastern Brazil. Am J Trop Med Hyg 45:325-31.

Kaipainen, A., J. Korhonen, T. Mustonen, V.W. van Hinsbergh, G.H. Fang, D. Dumont, M. Breitman, K. Alitalo. 1995. Expression of the fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. PNAS 92:3566-70.

Kaiser, L., P.K. Tithof, V.L. Lamb, J.F. Williams. 1991. Depression of endothelium-dependent relaxation in aorta from rats with *Brugia pahangi* lymphatic filariasis. Circ Res 68:1703-12.

Kaiser, L., M. Mupanomunda, J.F. Williams. 1996. *Brugia pahangi*-induced contractility of bovine mesenteric lymphatics studied in vitro: a role for filarial factors in the development of lymphedema? Am J Trop Med Hyg 54:386-90.

Karkkainen, M.J., A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, K.A. Karila, E.C. Lawrence, K. Pjusola, H. Bueler, A. Eichmann, R. Kauppinen, M.I. Kettunen, S. Yla-Herttuala, D.N. Finegold, R.E. Ferrell, K. Alitalo. 2001. A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. PNAS 98:12677-82.

Karkkainen, M.J., P. Haiko, K. Sainio, J. Partanen, J. Taipale, T.V. Petrova, M. Jeltsch, D.G. Jackson, M. Talikka, H. Rauvala, C. Betsholtz, K. Alitalo. 2004. Vascular endothelial growth factor C is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. Nat Immunol 5:74-80.

Karpanen, T., M. Egeblad, M.J. Karkkainen, H. Kubo, S. Yla-Herttuala, M. Jaattela, K. Alitalo. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor C promotes tumor lymphangiogenesis and intralymphatic tumor growth. Cancer Res 61:1786-90.

Kerjaschki, D. 2005. The crucial role of macrophages in lymphangiogenesis. J Clin Invest 115:2316-9.

Kerjaschki, D., H.M. Regele, I. Moosberger, K. Nagy-Bojarski, B. Watschinger, A. Soleiman, P. Birner, S. Krieger, A. Hovorka, G. Silberhumer, P. Laakkonen, T. Petrova, B. Langer, I. Raab. 2004. Lymphatic neoangiogenesis in human kidney transplants is associated with immunologically active lymphocytic infiltrates. J Am Soc Nephrol 15:603-12.

King, C. 2001. Transmission intensity and human immune responses to lymphatic filariasis. Parasite Immunol 23:363-71.

King, C., V. Kumaraswami, R. Poindexter, S. Kumari, K. Jayaraman, D. Alling, E. Ottesen, T. Nutman. 1992. Immunologic tolerance in lymphatic filariasis: Diminished parasite- specific T and B lymphocyte precursor frequency in the microfilaremic state. J Clin Invest 89:1403-10.

King, C., S. Mahanty, V. Kumaraswami, J. Abrams, J. Regunathan, K. Jayaraman, E. Ottesen, T. Nutman. 1993. Cytokine control of parasite-specific anergy in human lymphatic filariasis. Preferential induction of a regulatory T helper type 2 lymphocyte subset. J Clin Invest 92:1667-73.

Koch, A.E., P.J. Polverini, S.L. Kunkel, L.A. Harlow, L.A. DiPietro, V.M. Elner, S.G. Elner, R.M. Strieter. 1992. Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. Science 258:1798-801.

Kovi, J., H.D. Duong, C.T. Hoang. 1981. Ultrastructure of intestinal lymphatics in Crohn's disease. Am J Clin Pathol 76:385-394.

Kriehuber, E., S. Breiteneder-Geleff, M. Groeger, A. Soleiman, S. Schoppmann, G. Stingl, D. Kerjaschki, D. Maurer. 2001. Isolation and characterization of dermal lymphatic and blood endothelial cells reveal stable and functionally specialized cell lineages. J Exp Med 194:797-808.

Kubo, H., R. Cao, E. Bräkenhielm, T. Mäkinen, Y. Cao, and K. Alitalo. 2002. Blockade of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 signaling inhibits fibroblast growth factor-2-induced lymphangiogenesis in mouse cornea. PNAS 99:8868-73.

Kunstfeld, R., S. Hirakawa, Y.K. Hong, V. Schacht, B. Lange-Asschenfeldt, P. Velasco, C. Lin, E. Fiebiger, X. Wei, Y. Wu, D. Hicklin, P. Bohlen, M. Detmar. 2004. Induction of cutaneous delayed-type hypersensitivity reactions in VEGF-A transgenic mice results in chronic skin inflammation associated with persistent lymphatic hyperplasia. Blood 104:1048-57.

Kurniawan, A., M. Yazdanbakhsh, R. van Ree, R. Aalberse, M.E. Selkirk, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels. 1993. Differential expression of IgE and IgG4 specific antibody responses in asymptomatic and chronic human filariasis. J Immunol 150:3941-50.

Kwan-Lim, G.E., W.F. Gregory, M.E. Selkirk, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels. 1989. Secreted antigens of filarial nematodes: A survey and characterization of *in vitro* excreted/secreted products of adult *Brugia malayi*. Parasite Immunol 11:629-54.

Lammie, P., and S. Katz. 1983. Immunoregulation in experimental filariasis. I. *In vitro* suppression of mitogen-induced blastogenesis by adherent cells from jirds chronically infected with *Brugia pahangi*. J Immunol 130: 1381-5.

Lammie, P., W.L. Hitch, E.M. Walker Allen, W. Hightower, M.L. Eberhard. 1991. Maternal filarial infection as risk factor for infection in children. Lancet 337:1005-6.

Lammie, P., K. Cuenco, G. Punkosdy. 2002. The pathogenesis of filarial lymphedema: is it the worm or is it the host? Annals NY Acad Sci 979:131-42.

Lammie, P.J., G. Weil, R. Noordin, P. Kaliraj, C. Steel, D. Goodman, V.B. Lakshmikanthan, E. Ottesen. 2004. Recombinant antigen-based antibody assays for the diagnosis and surveillance of lymphatic filariasis-a multicenter trial. Filaria J 3:9.

Leak, L.V. 1972. The transport of exogenous peroxidase across the blood-tissue-lymph interface. J Ultrastuct Res 39:24-42.

Leak, L.V. 1976. The structure of lymphatic capillaries in lymph formation. Fed Proc 35:1863-71.

Lee, J.A., J. Yuan, S.M. Luoh, H. Avraham, W.I. Wood. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor-related protein: a ligand and specific activator of the tyrosine kinase receptor Flt-4. PNAS 93:1988-92.

Li, A., S. Dubey, M.L. Varney, R.K. Singh. 2002. Interleukin-8-induced proliferation, survival, and MMP production in CXCR1 and CXCR2 expressing human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Microvasc Res 64:476-481.

Li, A., D. Seema, M. Varney, B. Dave, R. Singh. 2003. IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinases production and regulated angiogenesis. J Immunol 170:3369-76.

Lohela, M., A. Saaristo, T. Veikkola, K. Alitalo. 2003. Lymphangiogenic growth factors, receptors and therapies. Thromb Haemost 90:167-84.

Loke, P., A.S. MacDonald, A. Robb, R.M. Maizels, J.E. Allen. 2000. Alternatively activated macrophages induced by nematode infection inhibit proliferation via cell-to-cell contact. Eur J Immunol 30:2669-78.

Mahanty, S., and T. Nutman. 1995. Immunoregulation in human lymphatic filariasis: The role of interleukin 10. Parasite Immunol 17:385-92.

Mahanty, S., S.N. Mollis, M. Ravichandran. 1996. High levels of spontaneous and parasite antigen-driven interleukin-10 production are associated with antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in human lymphatic filariasis. J Infect Dis 173:769-73.

Mahanty, S., M. Ravichandran, U. Raman, K. Jayaraman, V. Kumaraswami, T.B. Nutman. 1997. Regulation of parasite antigen-driven immune responses by interleukin-10 (IL-10) and IL-12 in lymphatic filariasis. Inf Immun 65:1742-7.

Maizels, R., E. Sartono, A. Kurniawan, F. Partono, M. Selkirk, M. Yazdanbakhsh. 1995. T-cell activation and the balance of antibody isotypes in human lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol Today 11:50-6.

Makinen, T., T. Veikkola, S. Mustjoki, T. Karpanen, B. Catimel, E.C. Nice, L. Wise, A. Mercer, H. Kowalski, D. Kerjashki, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, K. Alitalo. 2001. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. EMBO J 20:4762-73.

Makinen, T., L. Jussila, T. Veikkola, T. Karpanen, M.I. Kettunen, K.J. Pulkkanen, R. Kauppinen, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, S. Nishikawa, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2001. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. Nat Med 7:199-205.

Makinen, T., R. H. Adams, J. Bailey, Q. Lu, A. Ziemiecki, K. Alitalo, R. Klein, G.A. Wilkinson. 2005. PDZ interaction site in ephrinB2 is required for the remodeling of lymphatic vasculature. Genes Dev 19:397-410.

Mandriota, S.J., L. Jussila, M. Jeltsch, A. Compagni, D. Baetens, R. Prevo, S. Banerji, J. Huarte, R. Montesano, D.G Jackson, L. Orci, K. Alitalo, G. Christofori, M.S. Pepper. 2001. Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumor metastasis. EMBO J 20:672-82.

Marie, C., S. Roman-Roman, G. Rawadi. 1999. Involvement of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in interleukin-8 production by human monocytes and polymorphonuclear cells stimulated with lipopolysaccharide or *Mycoplasma fermentans* membrane lipoporteins. Inf Immun 67:688-93.

Maruyama, K., M. Ii, C. Cursiefen, D.G. Jackson, H. Keino, M. Tomita, N. van Rooijen, H. Takenaka, P.A. D'Amore, J. Stein-Streilein, D.W. Lorsodo, J.W. Streilein. 2005. Inflammationinduced lymphangiogenesis in the cornea arises from CD11b-positive macrophages. J Clin Invest 115:2363-72. McInnes, I.B., B.P. Leung, M. Harnett, J.A. Gracie, F.Y. Liew, W. Harnett. 2003. A novel therapeutic approach targeting articular inflammation using the filarial nematode-derived phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein ES-62. J Immunol 171:2127-33.

Michael, E., D.A.P. Bundy, B.T. Grenfell. 1996. Re-assessing the global prevalence and distribution of lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol 112:409-28.

Michael, E., and D.A.P. Bundy. 1997. Global mapping of lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol Today 13:472-6.

Molyneux, D.H. 2003. Lymphatic filariasis (elephantiasis) elimination: a public health success and development opportunity. Filaria J 2:13.

Molyneux, D.H. 2009. 10 years of success in addressing lymphatic filariasis. Lancet 373: 529-30.

Molyneux, D.H., and M.J. Taylor. 2001. Current status and future prospects of the Global Lymphatic Filariasis Programme. Curr Opin Infect Dis 14:155-59.

Muthuchamy, M., and D. Zawieja. 2008. Molecular regulation of lymphatic contractility. Annals NY Acad Sci 1131:89-99.

Nagy, J.A., E. Vasile, D. Feng, C. Sundberg, L.F. Brown, M.J. Detmar, J.A. Lawitts L. Benjamin, X. Tan, E.J. Manseau, A.M. Dvorak, H.F. Dvorak. 2002. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. J Exp Med 196:1497-506.

Nasarre, C., J.L. Krahenbuhl, T.R. Klei. 1998. Down regulation of macrophage activation in *Brugia pahangi*-infected jirds (*Meriones unguiculatus*). Inf Immun 66:1063-9.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Nguyen, V.A., C. Fürhapter, P. Obexer, H. Stössel, N. Romani, N. Sepp. 2009. Endothelial cells from cord blood CD133+CD34+ progenitors share phenotypic, functional and gene expression profile similarities with lymphatics. J Cell Mol Med 13:522-34.

Ni, C.W., H.J. Hsieh, Y.J. Chao, D.L. Wang. 2004. Interleukin-6-induced JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway in endothelial cells is suppressed by hemodynamic flow. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 287:C771-80.

Nielsen, N., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. I. Cellular responses. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:446-52.

Nielsen, N.O., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. II. Humoral responses. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:453-8.

Nisato, R., J. Harrison, R. Buser, L. Orci, C. Rinsch, R. Montesano, P. Dupraz, M. Pepper. 2004. Generation and characterization of telomerase-transfected human lymphatic endothelial cells with an extended life span. Am J Pathol 165:11-24.

Noroes, J., D. Addiss, F. Amaral, A. Coutinho, Z. Medeiros, G. Dreyer. 1996. Occurrence of living adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* in the scrotal area of men with microfilaraemia. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 90:55-6.

Noroes, J., D. Addiss, A. Santos, Z. Medeiros, A. Coutinho, G. Dreyer. 1996. Ultrasonographic evidence of abnormal lymphatic vessels in young men with adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* infection in the scrotal area. J Urol 156:409-12.

Nutman, T., V. Kumaraswami, L. Pao, P. Narayanan, E. Ottesen. 1987. An analysis of *in vitro* B cell immune responsiveness in human lymphatic filariasis. J Immunol 138:3954-9.

Nutman, T., and V. Kumaraswami. 2001. Regulation of the immune response in lymphatic filariasis: perspectives on acute and chronic infection with *Wuchereria bancrofti* in South India. Parasite Immunol 23:389-99.

O'Connor, R., J. Jenson, J. Osborne, E. Devaney. 2003. An enduring association? Microfilariae and immunosupression in lymphatic filariasis. Trends in Parasitol 19:565-70.

Oh, S., M. Jeltsch, R. Birkenhager, J.E. McCarthy, H.A. Weich, B. Christ, K. Alitalo, J. Wilting. 1997. VEGF and VEGF-C: Specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. Dev Biol 188:96-109.

Oliver, G., and K. Alitalo. 2005. The lymphatic vasculature: recent progress and paradigms. Ann Rev Cell Dev Biol 21:457-83.

Olszewski, W.L., S. Jamal, G. Manokaran, S. Pani, V. Kumaraswami, U. Kubicka, B. Lukomska, A. Dworczynski, E. Swoboda, F. Meisel-Mikolajczyk. 1997. Bacteriologic studies of skin, tissue fluid, lymph, and lymph nodes in patients with filarial lymphedema. Am J Trop Med Hyg 57:7-15.

Osborne, J., and E. Devaney. 1999. Interleukin-10 and antigen-presenting cells actively suppress Th1 cells in BALB/c mice infected with the filarial parasite *Brugia pahangi*. Inf Immun 67:1599-605.

Ottesen, E. 1992. Infection and disease in lymphatic filariasis: An immunological perspective. Parasitol 104:71-9.

Ottesen, E.A. 1994. The human filariases: new understandings, new therapeutic strategies. Curr Opin Infect Dis 7:550-8.

Ottesen, E., P. Weller, L. Heck. 1977. Specific cellular immune unresponsiveness in human filariasis. Immunol 33:413-21.

Ottesen, E., B.O. Duke, M. Karam, K. Behbehani. 1997. Strategies and tools for the control/elimination of lymphatic filariasis. Bull World Health Organ 75:491-503.

Ottesen, E., P.J. Hooper, M. Bradley, G. Biswas. 2008. The Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis: Health impact after 8 years. PLoS NTDs 2:e317.

Partanen, T.A., K. Alitalo, M. Miettinen. 1999. Lack of lymphatic vascular specificity of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 in 185 vascular tumors. Cancer 86:2406-12.

Pastrana, D., N. Raghavan, P. Fitzgerald, S. Eisinger, C. Metz, R. Bucala, R. Schleimer, C. Bickel, A. Scott. 1998. Filarial nematode parasites secrete a homologue of the human cytokine macrophage migration inhibitory factor. Inf Immun 66:5955-63.

Pepper, M.S., J.C. Tille, R. Nisato, M. Skobe. 2003. Lymphangiogenesis and tumor. Cell Tissue Res 14:167-77.

Petrova, T., T. Mäkinen, T. Mäkelä, J. Saarela, I. Virtanen, R. Ferrell, D. Finegold, D. Kerjaschki, S. Ylä-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2002. Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. EMBO J 21:4600-11.

Piessens, W.F., S. Ratiwayanto, S. Tuti, J.H. Palmieri, P.W. Piessens, I. Koiman, D.T. Dennis. 1980. Antigen-specific suppressor cells and suppressor factors in human filariasis with *Brugia malayi*. New Eng J Med 302:833-7.

Piessens, W.F., S. Ratiwayanto, P.W. Piessens S. Tuti, P.B. McGreevey, F. Darwis, J.R. Palmieri, I. Koiman, D.T. Dennis. 1981. Effect of treatment with diethylcarbamazine on immune responses to filarial antigens in patients infected with *Brugia malayi*. Acta Trop 38:227-34.

Plier, D., M.C. Maia e Silva, M.A. Maciel, D.O. Freedman. 1997. T-lymphocytes from individuals with filarial inflammatory disease have increased transendothelial migration *in vitro*. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 82:216-20.

Podgrabinska, S., P. Braun, P. Velasco, B. Kloos, M. Pepper, D. Jackson, M. Skobe. 2002. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. PNAS 99:16069-74.

Pullinger, B.D., and H.W. Florey. 1937. Proliferation of lymphatics in inflammation. J Pathol Bact 45:157-70.

Rajkumar, M.J., S. Wright, J. Aslanzadeh. 2005. Case report and brief commentary: *Wuchereria bancrofti* and *Onchocerca volvulus* co-infection from a refugee in Sierra Leone. Annals of Clinical and Laboratory Science 35:199-201.

Ramirez, M.I., G. Millien, A. Hinds, Y. Cao, D.C. Seldin, M.C. Williams. 2003. T1alpha, a lung type I cell differentiation gene, is required for normal lung cell proliferation and alveolus formation at birth. Dev Biol 256:61-72.

Rao, U., C.S. Zometa, A.C. Vickery, B.H. Kwa, J.K. Nayar, E.T. Sutton. 1996. Effect of *Brugia malayi* on the growth and proliferation of endothelial cells *in vitro*. J Parasitol 82:550-6.

Ravichandran, M., S. Mahanty, V. Kumaraswami, T. Nutman, K. Jayaraman. 1997. Elevated IL-10 mRNA expression and downregulation of Th1-type cytokines in microfilaraemic individuals with *Wuchereria bancrofti* infection. Parasite Immunol 19:69-77.

Rissanen, T.T., J.E. Markkanen, M. Gruchala, T. Heikura, A. Puranen, M.I. Kettunen, I. Kholová, R.A. Kauppinen, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K. Alitalo, S. Ylä-Herttuala. 2003. VEGF-D is the strongest angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effector among VEGFs delivered into skeletal muscle via adenoviruses. Circ Res 92:1098-106.

Ristimaki, A., K. Narko, B. Enholm, V. Joukov, K. Alitalo. 1997. Proinflammatory cytokines regulate expression of the lymphatic endothelial mitogen vascular endothelial growth factor-C. J Biol Chem 273:8413-18.

Saharinen, P., T. Tammela, M.J. Karkkainen, K. Alitalo. 2004. Lymphatic vasculature: development, regulation and role in tumor metástasis and inflammation. Trends Immunol 25:387-95.

Salven, P., A. Lymboussaki, P. Heikkila, H. Jaaskela-Saari, B. Enholm, K. Aase, G. von Euler, U. Eriksson, K. Alitalo, H. Joensuu. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF-B and VEGF-C are expressed in human tumors. Am J Pathol 153:103-8.

Salven, P., K. Hattori, B. Heissig, S. Rafii. 2002. Interleukin-1alpha promotes angiogenesis in vivo via VEGFR-2 pathway by inducing inflammatory cell VEGF synthesis and secretion. FASEB J 16:1471-3.

Sakamoto, M., J.L. Meier, D.S. Folse, A. Ewert. 1985. Perturbation of lymphatic endothelial cells in experimental *Brugia malayi* infections. Microcirc Endothelium Lymphatics 2:487-98.

Sakamoto, M., M. Shimada, Y. Fujimaki, A. Ewert. 1988. Degenerative changes in lymphatic endothelium of jirds infected with *Brugia pahangi*. J Parasitol 74:731-4.

Salven, P. S. Mustjoki, R. Alitalo, K. Alitalo, S. Rafii. 2003. VEGFR-3 and CD133 identify a population of CD34+ lymphatic/vascular endothelial precursor cells. Blood 101:168-72.

Sasisekhar, B., S., M. Aparna, D. Augustin, P. Kaliraj, S. Kar, T. Nutman, R. Narayanan. 2005. Diminished monocyte function in microfilaremic patients with lymphatic filariasis and its relationship to altered lymphoproliferative responses. Inf Immun 73:3385-93.

Schacht, V., M. Ramirez, Y. Hong, S. Hirakawa, D. Feng, N. Harvey, M. Williams, A. Dvorak, H. Dvorak, G. Oliver, M. Detmar. 2003. T1 α /podoplanin deficiency disrupts normal lymphatic vasculature formation and causes lymphedema. EMBO J 22:3546-56.

Schonemeyer, A., R. Lucius, B. Sonnenburg, N. Brattig, R. Sabat, K. Schilling, J. Bradley, S. Hartmann. 2001. Modulation of human T cell responses and macrophage functions by Onchocystatin, a secreted protein of the filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus*. J Immunol 167:3207-15.

Schonthaler, H.B., R. Huggenberger, S.K. Wculek, M. Detmar, E.F. Wagner. 2009. Systemic anti-VEGF treatment strongly reduces skin inflammation in a mouse model of psoriasis. PNAS 106:21264-9.

Schoppman, S. 2005. Lymphangiogenesis, inflammation and metastasis. Anticancer Res 25:4503-12.

Schoppmann, S.F., P. Birner, J. Stockl, R. Kalt, R. Ullrich, C. Caucig, E. Kriehuber, K. Nagy, K. Alitalo, K. Kerjaschki. 2002. Tumor-associated macrophages express lymphatic endothelial growth factors and are related to peritumoral lymphangiogenesis. Am J Pathol 161:947-56.

Schubert, S., A. Benarroch, J. Ostvang, E. Edelman. 2008. Regulation of endothelial cell proliferation by primary monocytes. Arterio Thromb Vasc Biol 28:97-104.

Shalaby, F., J. Roassant, T.P. Yamaguchi, Gertsenstein, X.F. Wu, M.L. Breitman, A.C. Schuh. 1995. Failure of blood island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. Nature 376:62-6.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2007. Preliminary findings from a cross-sectional study on lymphatic filariasis in children, in an area of India endemic for *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 101:205-13.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 103:235-47. Shibuya, M. 2001. Structure and function of VEGF/VEGF-receptor system involved in angiogensis. Cell Structure and Function 26:25-35.

Simonsen, P.E., and D. Meyrowitsch. Chapter 3. Lymphatic filariasis drug studies in Eastern and Southern Africa: Lymphatic filariasis research and control Eastern and Southern Africa. Denmark: DBL-Center for Health Research and Development, 2008, p. 31-57.

Skobe, M., L.M. Hamberg, T. Hawighorst M. Schirner, G.L. Wolf, K. Alitalo, M. Detmar. 2001. Current induction of lymphangiogenesis, angiogenesis and macrophage recruitment by vascular endothelial growth factor-C in melanoma. Am J Pathol 159:893-903.

Skobe, M., T. Hawighorst, D.G. Jackson, R. Prevo, L. Janes, P. Velasco, L. Riccardi, K. Alitalo, K. Claffey, M. Detmar. 2001. Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis. Nat Med 7:192-8.

Stacker, S.A., C. Caesar, M.E. Baldwin, G.E. Thornton, R.A. Williams, R. Prevo, D.G. Jackson, S. Nishikawa, H. Kubo, M.G. Achen. 2001. VEGF-D promotes the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics. Nat Med 7:186-91.

Stacker, S.A., M.G. Achen, L. Jussila, M.E. Baldwin, K. Alitalo. 2002. Lymphangiogenesis and cancer metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 2:573-83.

Steel, C., J. McCarthy, E. Ottesen, A. Guinea. 1994. Long-term effect of prenatal exposure to maternal microfilaraemia on immune responsiveness to filarial parasite antigens. Lancet 343:890-3.

Steel, C., and T. Nutman. 2003. CTLA-4 in filarial infections: implications for a role in diminished T cell reactivity. J Immunol 170:1930-8.

Stepek, G., K. Houston, H. Goodridge, E. Devaney, W. Harnett. 2004. Stage-specific and species-specific differences in the production of the mRNA and protein for the filarial nematode secreted product, ES-62. Parasitol 128:91-8.

Szuba, A., M. Skobe, M.J. Karkkainen, W.S. Shin, D.P. Beynet, N.B. Rockson, N. Dakhil, S. Spilman, M.L. Goris, H.W. Strauss, T. Quertermous, K. Alitalo, S.G. Rockson. 2002. Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis with human recombinant VEGF-C. FASEB J 16:1985-7.

Taylor, R.G., and J.C. Lewis. 1986. Endothelial cell proliferation and monocyte adhesion to antherosclerotic lesions of white carneau pigeons. Am J Pathol 125:152-60.

Taylor, M.J., and A. Hoerauf. 2001. A new approach to the treatment of filariasis. Curr Opin Infect Dis 14:727-31.

Taylor, M., L. LeGoff, A. Harris, E. Malone, J. Allen, R. Maizels. 2005. Removal of regulatory T cell activity reverses hyporesponsiveness and leads to filarial parasite clearance *in vivo*. J Immunol 174:4924-33.

Thaunat, O., A.C. Filed, J.B. Michel, A. Nicoletti. 2006. Implication of the lymphoid neogenesis process in chronic rejection. Med Sci (Paris) 22:110-1.

Tortora, G.J., and S.R. Grabowski. Principles of Anatomy and Physiology. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2003, p. 764-74.

van den Biggelaar, A.H., R. van Ree, L.C. Rodrigues, B. Lell, A. Deelder, P. Kremsner, M. Yazdanbakhsh. 2000. Decreased atopy in children infected with *Schistosoma haematobium*: a role for parasite-induced interleukin 10. Lancet 356:1723-7.

Vaqas, B., and T.J. Ryan. 2003. Lymphoedema: Pathophysiology and management in resourcepoor settings-relevance for lymphatic filariasis control programmes. Filaria J 2:4.

Veikkola, T., L. Jussila, T. Makinen, T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, H. Kubo, G. Thurston, D.M. McDonald, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K. Alitalo. 2001. Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. EMBO J 20:1223–31.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., J.K. Nayar, K.H. Albertine. 1985. Differential pathogenicity of *Brugia malayi*, *B. patei* and *B. pahangi* in immunodeficient nude mice. Acta Trop 42:353-63.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Tropica 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of *Brugia pahangi* in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

Vitiello, M. D'Isanto, M. Galdiero, K. Raieta, A. Tortora, P. Rotondo, L. Peluso and M. Galdiero. 2004. Interleukin-8 production by THP-1 cells stimulated by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium porins is mediated by AP-1, NF-κB and MAPK pathways. M. Cytokine 27:15-24.

von Lichtenberg, F. 1957. The early phase of endemic bancroftian filariasis in the male, Pathological study. J Mt Sinai Hosp 24:983-1000.

Wadee, A.A., A.C. Vickery, W.F. Piessens. 1987. Characterization of immunosuppressive proteins of *Brugia malayi* microfilariae. Acta Trop 44:343-52.

Warren, K.S. Worms: Immunological Diseases. Boston: Little Brown and Co., 1971, p. 668-86.

Wartiovaara, U., P. Salven, H. Mikkola, R. Lassila, J. Kaukonen, V. Joukov, A. Orpana, A. Ristimaki, M. Heikinheimo, H. Joensuu, K. Alitalo, A. Palotie. 1998. Peripheral blood platelets

express VEGF-C and VEGF which are released during platelet activation. Thromb Haemost 80:171-5.

Watari, K., S. Nakao, A. Fotovati, Y. Basaki, F. Hosoi, B. Bereczky, R. Higuchi, T. Miyamoto, M. Kuwano, M. Ono. 2008. Role of macropahges in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis: enhanced production of vascular endothelial growth factor C and D through NFkB activation. Biochem and Biophys Res Comm 377:826-31.

Webb, N.J., M.J. Bottomley, C.J. Watson, P.E. Brenchley. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is released from platelets during blood clotting: implications for measurement of circulating VEGF levels in clinical diseases. Clin Sci (Lond) 94:395-404.

Weil, G., R. Hussain, V. Kumaraswami, S.P. Tripathy, K.S. Phillips, E.A. Ottesen. 1983. Prenatal allergic sensitization to helminth antigens in offspring of parasite-infected mothers. J Clin Invest 71:1124-9.

Weil, G., and L. Liftis. 1987. Identification and partial characterization of a parasite antigen in sera from humans infected with *Wuchereria bancrofti*. J Immunol 138:3035-41.

Weil, G.J., P.J. Lammie, N. Weiss. 1997. The ICT filariasis test: a rapid-format antigen test for diagnosis of bancroftian filariasis. Parasitol Today 13:401-4.

Weil, G. J., and R.M.R. Ramzy. 2007. Diagnostic tools for filariasis elimination programs. Trends in Parasitol 23:78-82.

Weiss, N. 1978. *Dipetalonema viteae: in vitro* blastogenesis of hamster spleen and lymph node cells to phytohemagglutinin and filarial antigens. Exp Parasitol 46:283-99.

Wetterwald, A., W. Hofstetter, M. Cecchini, B. Lanske, C. Wagner, H. Fleisch, M. Atkinson. 1996. Characterization and cloning of the E11 antigen, a marker expressed by rat osteoblasts and osteocytes. Bone 18:125-32.

Whelan, M., M.M. Harnett, K.M. Houston, V. Patel, W. Harnett, K.P. Rigley. 2000. A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. J Immunol 164:6453-60.

WHO. 1992. Lymphatic filariasis: the disease and its control. Fifth report of the WHO expert committee on filariasis. In: technical report series, no. 821.

Wigle, J.T., N. Harvey, M. Detmar, I. Lagutina, G. Grosveld, M.D. Gunn, D.G. Jackson, G. Oliver. 2002. An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. EMBO J 21:1505-13.

Wigle, J.T., and G. Oliver. 1999. Prox1 function is required for the development of murine lymphatic system. Cell 98:769-78.

Wilson, E.H., E. Katz, H.S. Goodridge, M.M. Harnett, W. Harnett. 2003. *In vivo* activation of murine peritoneal B1 cells by the filarial nematode phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein ES-62. Parasite Immunol 25:463-6.

Wirzenius, M., T. Tammela, M. Uutela, Y. He, T.Odorisio, G. Zambruno, J.A. Nagy, H.F. Dvorak, S. Ylä-Herttuala, M. Shibuya, K. Alitalo. 2007. Distinct vascular endothelial growth factor signals for lymphatic vessel enlargement and sprouting. J Exp Med 204:1431-40.

Wuest, T.R., and D.J.J. Carr. 2010. VEGF-A expression by HSV-1-infected cells drives corneal lymphangiogenesis. J Exp Med 207:101-15.

Yao, J.S., W. Zhai, W.L. Young, G.Y. Yang. 2006. Interleukin-6 triggers human cerebral endothelial cells proliferation and migration: the role for KDR and MMP-9. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342:1396-404.

Yazdanbakhsh, M., W.A. Paxton, A. Brandenburg, R. van Ree, M. Lens, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels, M.E. Selkirk. 1995. Differential antibody isotype reactivity to specific antigens in human lymphatic filariasis: gp15/400 preferentially induces immunoglobulin E (IgE), IgG4, and IgG2. Inf Immun 63:3772-9.

Yoon, Y., T. Murayama, E. Gravereaux, T. Tkebuchava, M. Silver, C. Curry, A. Wecker, R. Kurchmair, C. Hu, M. Kearney, A. Ashare, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, J. Isner, D.W. Losordo. 2003. VEGF-C gene therapy augments postnatal lymphangiogenesis and ameliorates secondary lymphedema. J Clin Invest 111:717-25.

Zang, X., P. Taylor, J. Wang, D. Meyer, A. Scott, M. Walkinshaw, R. Maizels. 2002. Homologues of human macrophage migration inhibitory factor from a parasitic nematode: gene cloning, protein activity and crystal structure. J Biol Chem 277:44261-7.

Zhang, S., B. Li, G.J. Weil. 1999. Human antibody responses to *Brugia malayi* antigens in brugian filariasis. Int J Parasitol 29:429-36.

CHAPTER 2

IDENTIFICATION OF ANTIGENIC *BRUGIA* ADULT WORM PROTEINS BY PEPTIDE MASS FINGERPRINTING¹

¹Weinkopff, T., J.A. Atwood III, G.A. Punkosdy, D. Moss, D.B. Weatherly, R. Orlando, P. Lammie. 2009. *The Journal of Parasitology* 95:1429-1435. Reprinted here with permission of publisher.

2.1 Abstract

With the recent completion of the *Brugia malayi* genome, proteomics offers a new resource for a deeper understanding of the biology of filarial parasites. We employed 2-dimensional (2D) gel electrophoresis followed by peptide mass fingerprinting on a matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-ToF) mass spectrometer to identify *Brugia* adult worm proteins, and then determined which proteins were recognized by the host humoral immune response. We identified 18 unique proteins, several of which were determined to be antigenic by immunoblot. The proteins identified here may contribute to future studies to analyze the transmission and pathogenesis of lymphatic filariasis.

2.2 Introduction

Lymphatic filariasis is caused by the parasitic nematodes *Wuchereria bancrofti*, *Brugia malayi*, and *B. timori*, which affect an estimated 120 million people in Asia, Africa, and the Americas (WHO, 1995, 2001). Adult worms live within the lymphatic vessels of the human host and release microfilariae. The microfilariae exit the lymphatic vessels and circulate in the peripheral blood to be acquired by mosquitoes during a blood meal. In the mosquito, the microfilariae mature into third-stage larvae (L3) that are infectious to humans following a subsequent blood meal. The L3 develop into the adult worms that reside in the lymphatic vessels, thereby completing the filarial life cycle.

Clinical filariasis can include hydrocoele and lymphedema/elephantiasis, but many individuals with clinical disease are antigen-negative; conversely, many infected individuals with circulating microfilariae are asymptomatic (Lammie et al., 2002). The mechanisms of filarialassociated pathology have not been clearly elucidated; both secondary bacterial infections and genetic susceptibility are thought to play major roles in the development of lymphedema. It has

been hypothesized that individuals with disease may have a genetic predisposition since pedigree studies have shown that lymphedema clusters in high risk families (Cuenco et al., 2004). While secondary bacterial infections and genetic susceptibility have been shown to contribute to the development of disease, there is also evidence that the host immune response is associated with the clinical presentation. Previous studies have shown more robust antifilarial humoral immune responses, primarily characterized by elevated IgG1, IgG2, and IgG3, in persons with clinical disease compared to those with asymptomatic microfilaremia (Baird et al., 2002, Nielsen et al., 2002b). In addition, individuals with clinical disease have heightened cell-mediated immune responses (Ottesen et al., 1977, Addiss et al., 1995, Freedman, 1998, Nutman and Kumaraswami, 2001, Nielsen et al., 2002a, 2002b). Moreover, animal models have also demonstrated a role for the immune system in the development of disease, since reconstituting *B. malayi*-infected nude mice with primed spleen cells from chronically infected mice induces the development of lymphatic lesions not seen in nude mice alone (Vickery et al., 1991). Taken together, these data suggest that the host immune system is contributing to the development of disease.

Advances in the understanding of the pathogenesis of lymphatic filariasis have been limited by the lack of knowledge regarding patterns of antigen-specific recognition. It has been hypothesized that the disease phenotype may correlate with specific antigen recognition profiles and that characterizing these profiles could be relevant to both immunopathology and immunodiagnosis of infection.

Proteomics offers a new approach to the study of filarial parasites (Bennuru et al., 2009, Hewitson et al., 2008, Moreno and Geary, 2008). With the completion of the *B. malayi* genome (Ghedin et al., 2007), the increased availability of mass spectrometry technology, and previous demonstrations of successful proteomic studies in other parasitic worms (Cheng et al., 2005,

Curwen et al., 2004, Dea-Ayuela and Bolas-Fernandez, 2005, Jefferies et al., 2001, van Balkom et al., 2005, Yatsuda et al., 2003), many novel immunogenic proteins can be identified. Furthermore, proteomics coupled with 2-dimensional immunoblotting facilitates the characterization of antigens that are potentially important targets of the host response. Others have begun to utilize these tools to characterize the immune response against the excretory-secretory products of filarial worms (Hewitson et al., 2008), but we are interested in the identification of adult antigens from crude worm extracts. Here, we describe a proteomic approach to identifying *Brugia* adult worm proteins, which may subsequently provide tools to help monitor transmission, diagnose infection, and elucidate the mechanism(s) associated with the pathogenesis of disease.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Parasite Material

Brugia pahangi adult worms collected from the peritoneal cavity of infected jirds, *Meriones unguiculatus*, were obtained from the NIH Filariasis Repository at the University of Georgia (Athens, Georgia). The worms were stored in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at -80 C until thawed. After thawing, crude worm extracts were prepared by cutting the adult worms with scissors, suspending the material in 3 ml PBS and ultrasonicating (Heat Systems-Ultrasonics, Inc., Plainview, New York; Model W-225 with standard tip) at 40% power, 20% duty cycle, pulse mode for 30 min at 4°C. After a 10 min centrifugation at 15,000 *g* at 4 C, the protein concentration of the supernatant was determined by the bicinchoninic acid protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, Illinois). Prior to isoelectric focusing, soluble proteins (3.2 mg) were acetone precipitated overnight at -20 C. The precipitate was centrifuged for 15 min at 15,000 *g*. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was dried for 30 min at room temperature.

2.3.2 2-Dimensional Gel Electrophoresis

The protein pellet was dissolved in 9.8 M urea (Sigma, St. Louis, Missouri), 4% 3-[3cholamidopropyl)dimethylammonio]-1-propanesulfonate (CHAPS; Sigma), 0.25% ampholytes, pH 3-10 (Bio-Rad, Hercules, California), 2 mM tributylphosphine (TBP; Bio-Rad) reducing agent and trace bromophenol blue (Bio-Rad). An immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strip (17 cm linear, pH 4-7; Bio-Rad) was loaded with the sample and left at room temperature overnight. Isoelectric focusing was performed in a Protean IEF Cell (Bio-Rad) at 20 C with the parameters set at 250 V for 15 min, 10,000 V for 3 hr and then 10,000 V until a total of 60,000 Volt-hr was reached. After isoelectric focusing, the IPG strips were stored at -80 C until SDS-PAGE separation was performed.

Proteins on the strip were reduced and alkylated in an equilibration step immediately prior to the transfer to the second dimension electrophoresis. The IPG strips were incubated in 6 ml of equilibration buffer (6 M urea, 20% SDS, 41 mM Tris, 40 mM boric acid, 20% glycerol, 0.1% bromophenol blue) containing 130 mM dithiothreitol (DTT; Sigma) for 10 min and in equilibration buffer containing 135 mM iodoacetamide (Bio-Rad) for 10 min. IPG strips were placed onto 3% stacking gels above 10-20% linear-gradient sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) 1.0 mm-thick gels in a Protean II set-up (Bio-Rad) and run at 10 mA per gel for 1 hr and then at 20 mA per gel for 5 hr at 15 C. The discontinuous buffer system used has been previously described (Moss et al., 1990). Two replicate gels were stained with Brilliant Blue G 250 Coomassie (Alfa Aesar, Ward Hill, Massachusetts) and spots of interest were manually excised for mass spectrometric analysis. The protein identifications are reported as a combination of proteins identified from both gels.

2.3.3 MALDI-ToF

Spots of interest were destained with 50% acetonitrile in 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate and digested with porcine trypsin (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin) overnight at 37 C. Peptides were extracted from the gels with 100% acetonitrile and dried by vacuum centrifugation. The tryptic peptides were desalted using C18 ZipTips (Millipore, Billerica, Massachusetts) according to the manufacturer's protocol (Millipore). After desalting, the peptides were eluted into 10 μ l elution buffer containing 50% acetonitrile and 0.1% formic acid. A mixture of 1.5 μ l sample plus 1 μ l saturated α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid in 50% elution buffer was plated directly onto a MALDI target plate.

The target plate was loaded into a Proteomics 4700 MALDI-ToF-ToF Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, California) and the spectra were acquired in reflector mode on positively charged ions. The modified analysis of the mass spectrometric data has been previously described (Curwen et al., 2004). In brief, raw spectrum files were opened in Data Explorer software (Applied Biosystems) and processed to remove the noise and de-isotope the peak lists so that only monoisotopic peaks remained. The peak list was converted to a text file and searched against the *B. malayi* amino acid sequence database (TIGR) (Ghedin et al., 2007) as well as the NCBI-NR database by the Mascot software program (Matrixscience, Boston, Massachusetts), which allows experimental peptide weights to be compared against known tryptic peptide fragments from the amino acid sequence of an organism. Search parameters were as follows: missed cleavages = 1; peptide tolerance = ± 200 ppm; possible variable modifications = carbamidomethylation (due to the iodoacetamide treatment on cysteine residues). According to the Mascot software program, scores are reported as $-10*LOG_{10}$ (P) where P is the absolute probability and identified proteins were only considered significant if they were above the 95%

probability that they were not a random match as calculated by Mascot. Significant protein identifications by Mascot were confirmed by their predicted molecular weight and isoelectric point (pI) on the gel.

2.3.4 Study sera

Pooled sera (n = 20) were prepared from clinically and parasitologically characterized samples collected from several groups of patients as part of previous studies (Baird et al., 2002). Serum was collected from antigen-positive persons, those with lymphedema and residents who live in areas of Haiti where no transmission of filariasis is known to occur.

2.3.5 Immunoblotting

Crude worm protein (300 µg) separated by 2D-electrophoresis were transferred to Immobilon-P polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore) using a Trans Blot Plus Cell (Bio-Rad) at 100 V for 2 hr 20 min with coolant circulator for blot medium set at 0 C. The blot medium contained 20% methanol, 108 mM Tris/HCl, pH 9.18, and the immunoblot procedure has been previously described (Tsang et al., 1986, Moss et al., 1998). In brief, the transferred proteins were exposed to pooled human sera at a 1:50 dilution. Bound human antibodies were detected with a 1:1,000 dilution of biotinylated mouse anti-human IgG (clone HP6022; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California). Streptavidin alkaline phosphatase (Invitrogen) was used at a 1:1,000 dilution to probe for bound biotinylated secondary antibodies. Bound human IgG was visualized by 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl phosphate (Sigma) as the substrate and nitro blue tetrazolium (Sigma) as the chromagen.

2.3.6 Image Analysis and Antigen Identification

Prior to spot excision, Coomassie-stained gels were electronically scanned (Hewlett-Packard Scanjet). Phoretix 2D v2004 software (Nonlinear Dynamics Ltd., Durham, North

Carolina) was used to compare the spots on the immunoblots to the spots on the gels. In brief, the gel and immunoblot images were opened in the software, the background was subtracted automatically and the proteins were landmarked. With minimal manual adjustments, the images were aligned and warped so that antigen identifications could be made. The Phoretix software uses the overall protein expression pattern, which is based on MW and pI of each protein, to align and warp the blots to match the gel spots with the corresponding spots on the immunoblot. The software also utilizes proteins that are recognized by all individuals (e.g. tropomyosin) as internal reference standards for this alignment. Moreover, the immunoblot spots were identified based solely on their corresponding position with the protein spot excised from the gel; no proteins were collected off of the immunoblot for MALDI-ToF analysis. More specifically, no proteins were removed and digested from the immunoblot itself.

2.4 Results

2.4.1 MALDI-ToF

Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis was used to separate *B. pahangi* adult worm proteins. The gel was stained with Coomassie blue and the most visually intense spots (n = 64) were excised. The spots were digested with trypsin, yielding peptide fragments that were analyzed by a MALDI-ToF mass spectrometer and searched against the *B. malayi* amino acid sequence database by the Mascot software program. A spot was considered to be positively identified only if it possessed a significant MASCOT score and migrated to a point consistent with its predicted molecular weight and pI in the 2D gel. Figure 2.1 shows the 2D profile and the protein spots that were identified from the Coomassie-stained gels. Only the spots that were positively identified as proteins are circled in Figure 2.1. Based on significant MASCOT scores, we were able to positively identify 38 proteins; however, 2 of these spots did not match their
predicted molecular weight and/or pI. Also, 1 spot (#27 in Fig. 2.1) had multiple protein identifications. As a result, a total of 36 total proteins and 18 unique proteins were positively identified (Table 2.1). To support the protein identifications, a representative example of the protein sequence coverage is seen in Figure 2.2 for the disorganized muscle protein. Proteins identified were involved in many different biological processes including metabolism, cell signaling and structural functions (Table 2.2).

2.4.2 Immunoblotting

In studies of Haitian populations living in an endemic area for lymphatic filariasis, it has been shown that persons with lymphedema and those with circulating antigen exhibit differential antibody reactivity to filarial antigens (Baird et al., 2002). We performed immunoblots to compare patterns of specific antibody responsiveness with pooled sera from antigen-positive persons and those with lymphedema (Fig. 2.3). We also probed immunoblots with sera from unexposed individuals as a negative control.

Using Phoretix software, which allows the overlay of gels and immunoblots, we analyzed gel to blot pairs to determine if there were any differences in antigen recognition associated with specific patient groups (Fig. 2.3). The intensity of antibody reactivity by immunoblots prepared with sera from lymphedema patients was greater than that of antigen-positive persons; however, the proteins recognized by both groups were similar. For example, tropomyosin, transglutaminase, the 14-3-3-like protein and galectin elicited a strong immune response from both patient groups. In contrast, HSP70 was recognized more intensely by those with lymphedema. The spot identified as disorganized muscle protein was visually present on both groups' immunoblots, but the software analysis identified disorganized muscle protein solely on the antigen-positive immunoblot.

By immunoblot, unexposed persons recognized tropomyosin (data not shown) but this reactivity could be due to a non-specific cross-reactivity resulting from infection with other helminths (Arruda and Santos, 2005).

2.5 Discussion

Proteomics can offer exciting new resources to fuel the fight against lymphatic filariasis through the discovery of new proteins, which may lead to the development of improved diagnostics and a better understanding of the host immune response. With the completion of the *B. malayi* genome (Ghedin et al., 2007), the proteome can now be characterized using mass spectrometry. Previous work in filariasis has begun to characterize the excretory-secretory products (Hewitson et al., 2008) and stage- and gender-specific proteins (Bennuru et al., 2009, Moreno and Geary, 2008), but here we utilized MALDI-ToF mass spectrometry to identify *Brugia* adult worm proteins, and coupled these results with immunoblotting to identify the antigenic proteins.

Traditionally, the search for worm antigens has been focused on screening filarial libraries; however, a proteomics approach provides an alternative, more direct method to identify a new set of antigenic proteins. In addition, previous work carried out by others has demonstrated the benefits of using proteomics to define targets of the host's immune system (Dea-Ayuela and Bolas-Fernandez, 2005, Hewitson et al., 2008, Mutapi et al., 2005, Wilson et al., 2008, Yatsuda et al., 2003). We identified several structural and housekeeping proteins such as tropomyosin, actin, and HSPs, so we were confident that we were able to identify proteins typically associated with a proteomics approach. Moreover, we were also able to identify several filarial-specific proteins that have been previously characterized due to their recognition by the host immune response.

Many of the proteins identified have been shown to play a role in the host immune response to filarial parasites. For example, fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase has been shown to induce a protective immune response in a mouse chamber model of onchocerciasis, leading to approximately 50% reduction in larval survival (McCarthy et al., 2002). Another filarial protein identified in the study, the Onchocerca volvulus protein tropomyosin, has been reported to confer protective immunity in various rodent vaccination models inducing not only a significant reduction (48-62%) in recovery of the microfilariae from the skin, but also a 46% reduction in the recovery of adult worms (Taylor et al., 1996). In addition, mice with serum-transferable protection against microfilariae produce an abundance of antibodies specific for tropomyosin (Jenkins et al., 1998). Furthermore, there was an inverse correlation between antibody levels against tropomyosin and the microfilarial densities in the skin in human infections, suggesting the clinical relevance of the humoral response to this protein (Jenkins et al., 1998). However, it should be noted that mice immunized with the full-length tropomyosin developed potent serological responses, but this reactivity was not associated with statistically significant levels of protection to challenge with infective larvae, arguing that serologic responses may not predict vaccine efficacy (Harrison et al., 2000).

Similarly, HSP70 was initially thought to be a potential candidate to induce protection since it is recognized predominantly by endemic normal persons and it is expressed by *B. malayi* L3 exposed to 37 C which would mimic larval exposure to the mammalian host (Rothstein et al., 1989). Given the elevated serologic reactivity of endemic normals, it was thought that the immune response was targeting the larval stage and preventing the establishment of infection (Peralta et al., 1999). However, rodent immunizations with *O. volvulus* HSP70 only resulted in a modest decrease in worm burdens suggesting that no significant protection is associated with this antigen (Peralta et al., 1999). Selkirk et al. demonstrated that antibodies from *B. malayi*-infected individuals did seem to be directed at filarial-specific epitopes of HSP70, but there was also cross-reactivity from individuals infected with *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Schistosoma mansoni*, suggesting that this molecule is not suitable for diagnostics because of extensive cross-reactivity (1989).

Other proteins identified in this the study have also been identified previously as diagnostic targets. The protein identified in Genbank as *B. malayi* antigen, also known as SXP1 (Dissanayake et al., 1994), and many homologs have been evaluated in various studies. The homologs Wb-SXP-1 (Dissanayake et al., 1994, Rao et al., 2000, Baskar et al., 2004, Lammie et al., 2004), Bm-SXP-1 (Dissanayake et al., 1994), BmSXP (Rahman et al., 2007), and the well-known Bm14 recombinant antigen characterized by Chandrashekar et al. (1994) have shown great potential for use in filarial diagnostic assays. Together, these studies have shown that detection of IgG4 antibodies to this protein by ELISA is highly sensitive and specific for both brugian and bancroftian filariasis and that there is no cross-reactivity either with *Strongyloides stercoralis* or other intestinal helminths.

The proteomics approach used in this study provides an initial catalogue of immunoreactive proteins in human filariasis, but it is important to note the limitations to the study. First, *B. pahangi* was utilized in the preparation of the material, but the mass spectrometry data was searched against the *B. malayi* amino acid sequence. We decided to use *B. pahangi* worms due to the increased availability of these parasites, since this approach required a great amount of material. However, we were then forced to rely on the high degree of homology between the *Brugia* species for our protein identifications (Maizels et al., 2001). Second, the mass spectrometry data was searched against the *Brugia* amino acid sequence as

well as the NCBI-NR database under specified parameters and the peptide mass tolerance for MALDI-ToF mass spectrometry could be considered less stringent compared to other mass spectrometric techniques, but this could be a reflection of the parasite material, the 2D gel electrophoresis approach or the decreased sensitivity of a MALDI-ToF mass spectrometer compared to other instruments. As with other proteomics studies, we were not able to identify all of the excised spots as proteins; we defined positive identification as a spot with a significant MASCOT score. The lack of positive identifications could be due to the decreased sensitivity of the 2D gel/MALDI-ToF technique, an insufficient amount of parasite material or an incomplete trypsin digestion. However, the identification of just over half of the excised spots is consistent with other 2D gel/MALDI-ToF studies published on parasites (Curwen et al., 2004, Parodi-Talice et al., 2004). Finally, we used pooled serum samples to probe our immunoblots. We decided to use pooled sera to have a representative sample for each group and to decrease the amount of individual variation, but this could have biased our results toward the null hypothesis and made the recognition profiles appear more similar. In other words, if persons in one group were more likely to recognize a particular antigen than those in another group, we would have overlooked this difference. In the future, it will also be necessary to perform more detailed analyses on individual serum samples as well as an examination on the immune recognition profiles to particular antigens by each isotype.

In conclusion, the present study has identified 18 *Brugia* proteins by MALDI-ToF mass spectrometry. The overlay of 2D gels and immunoblots by computer software allowed the identification of antigenic proteins recognized by Haitians living in an endemic area. Results showed that the initial recognition profiles between antigen-positive persons and those with lymphedema were similar, with several proteins being recognized by both groups. The

similarities between proteins recognized by the different patients groups argues for the possibility of identifying an antigen that may serve as a marker of exposure which could help monitor the transmission of filariasis in the context of ongoing elimination programs for lymphatic filariasis. Many of these antigens have not been thoroughly described and will require further characterization for potential application in diagnostics, vaccine development and chemotherapeutics. With the completion of the *B. malayi* genome, future proteomics studies will add useful information to the global effort to eliminate lymphatic filariasis.

Acknowledgements

This work has been supported by training grant to the Center for Tropical and Emerging Global Diseases (T32 AI 060546) with additional support from the CDC's Emerging Infectious Disease Program.

The authors wish to thank Dr. Tracy Andacht (University of Georgia (UGA), Athens, Georgia) for her skillful technical assistance. Thanks also go to Dr. David Finegold (University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania), Dr. Jeff Silva (Waters Corporation, Milford, Massachusetts) and Dr. Lance Wells (UGA, Athens, Georgia) for their helpful advice. They would also like to thank Sara Butler (CDC, Atlanta, Georgia) and the Graduate Committee of Miss Weinkopff for their critical reading of the manuscript.

2.6 References

Addiss, D.G., K.A. Dimock, M.L. Eberhard, P.J. Lammie. 1995. Clinical, parasitologic, and immunologic observations of patients with hydrocele and elephantiasis in an area with endemic lymphatic filariasis. J Infect Dis 171:755-8.

Arruda, L., and A. Santos. 2005. Immunologic responses to common antigens in helminthic infections and allergic disease. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 5:399-402.

Baird, J., J. Charles, T. Streit, J. Roberts, D. Addiss, P. Lammie. 2002. Reactivity to bacterial, fungal, and parasite antigens in patients with lymphedema and elephantiasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 66:163-9.

Baskar, L.K.V., T.R. Srikanth, S. Suba, H.C. Mody, K. Desai, P. Kaliraj. 2004 Development and evaluation of a rapid flow-through immunofiltration test using recombinant filarial antigen for diagnosis of brugian and bancroftian filariasis. Microbio Immunol 48:519-25.

Bennuru, S., R. Semnani, Z. Meng, J.M.C. Ribeiro, T.D. Veenstra, T.B. Nutman. 2009. *Brugia malayi* excreted/secreted proteins at the host/parasite interface: stage- and gender-specific proteomic profiling. PLoS NTDs 3:e410.

Chandrashekar, R., K. Curtis, R. Ramzy, F. Liftis, B. Li, G. Weil. 1994. Molecular cloning of *Brugia malayi* antigens for diagnosis of lymphatic filariasis. Molec Biochem Parasitol 64:261-71.

Cheng, G., J.J. Lin, X. Feng, Z. Fu, Y. Jin, C. Yuan, Y. Zhou, Y. Cai. 2005. Proteomic analysis of differentially expressed proteins between the male and female worm of *Schistosoma japonicum* after pairing. Proteomics 5:511-21.

Cuenco, K., M.E. Halloran, J. Louis-Charles, P. Lammie. 2004. A family study of lymphedema of the leg in a lymphatic filariasis-endemic area. Am J Trop Med Hyg 70:180-4.

Curwen, R.S., P.D. Ashton, D.A. Johnston, R.A. Wilson. 2004. The *Schistosoma mansoni* soluble proteome: a comparison across four life-cycle stages. Molec Biochem Parasitol 138:57-66.

Dea-Ayuela, M.A., and F. Bolas-Fernandez. 2005. Two-dimensional electrophoresis and mass spectrometry for the identification of species-specific *Trichinella* antigens. Vet Parasitol 132:43-9.

Dissanayake, S., M. Xu, W.F. Piessens. 1992. A cloned antigen for serological diagnosis of *Wuchereria bancrofti* microfilaraemia with daytime blood samples. Molec Biochem Parasitol 56:269-77.

Dissanayake, S., H. Zheng, G. Dreyer, M. Xu, L. Watawana, G. Cheng, S. Wang, P. Morin, B. Deng, L. Kurniawan. 1994. Evaluation of a recombinant parasite antigen for the diagnosis of lymphatic filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:727-34.

Freedman, D. O. 1998. Immune dynamics in the pathogenesis of human lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol Today 14:229-234.

Ghedin, E., S. Wang, D. Spiro, E. Caler, Q. Zhao, J. Crabtree, J.E. Allen, A.L. Delcher, D.B. Guiliano, D. Miranda-Saavedra, et al. 2007. Draft genome of the filarial nematode parasite *Brugia malayi*. Science 317:1756-60.

Harrison, R.A., and A.E. Bianco. 2000. DNA immunization with *Onchocerca volvulus* genes, Ov-tmy-1 and OvB20: serology and parasitological outcomes following intramuscular or GeneGun delivery in a mouse model of onchocerciasis. Parasite Immunol 22:249-57.

Hewitson, J.P., Y.M. Harcus, R.S. Curwen, A.A. Dowle, A.K. Atmadja, P.D. Ashton, A. Wilson, R.M. Maizels. 2008. The secretome of the filarial parasite, *Brugia malayi*: proteomic profile of adult excretory-secretory products. Molec Biochem Parastiol 160:8-21.

Jeffries, J.R., A.M. Campbell, A.J. van Rossum, J. Barrett, P.M. Brophy. 2001. Proteomic analysis of *Fasciola hepatica* excretory-secretory products. Proteomics 1:1128-32.

Jenkins, R.E., M.J. Taylor, N.J. Gilvary, A.E. Bianco. 1998. Tropomyosin implicated in host protective responses to microfilariae in onchocerciasis. PNAS 95:7550-55.

Lammie, P., K. Cuenco, G. Punkosdy. 2002. The pathogenesis of filarial lymphedema: Is it the worm or is it the host? Annals NY Acad Sci 979:131-42.

Lammie, P.J., G. Weil, N. Rahmah, P. Kaliraj, C. Steel, D. Goodman, V.B. Lakshmikanthan, E. Ottesen. 2004. Recombinant antigen-based antibody assays for the diagnosis and surveillance of lymphatic filariasis-a multicentre trial. Filaria J 3:9.

Maizels, R.M., M.L. Blaxter, A.L. Scott. 2001. Immunological genomics of *Brugia malayi*: filarial genes implicated in immune evasion and protective immunity. Parasite Immunol 23:327-44.

McCarthy, J. S., M. Wieseman, J. Tropea, D. Kaslow, D. Abraham, S. Lustigman, R. Tuan, R.H. Guderian, T.B. Nutman. 2002. *Onchocerca volvulus* glycolytic enzyme fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase as a target for a protective immune response in humans. Inf Immun 70:851-8.

Moreno, Y., and T. Geary. 2008. Stage- and gender-specific proteomic analysis of *Brugia malayi* excretory-secretory products. PLoS NTDs 2:e326.

Moss, D. M., H.M. Mathews, G.S. Visvesvara, J.W. Dickerson, E.M. Walker. 1990. Antigenic variation of *Giardia lamblia* in the feces of Mongolian gerbils. J Clin Microbiol 28:254-7.

Moss, D.M., S.N. Bennett, M.J. Arrowood, S.P. Wahlquist, P.J. Lammie. 1998. Enzyme-linked immunoelectrotransfer blot anaylsis of a *Cryptosporidium* outbreak on a United States Coast Guard cutter. Am J Trop Med Hyg 58:110-8.

Mutapi, F., R. Biurchmore, T. Mduluza, A. Foucher, Y. Harcus, G. Nicoll, N. Midzi, C.M. Turner, R.M. Maizels. 2005. Praziquantel treatment of individuals exposed to *Schistosoma haematobium* enhances serological recognition of defined parasite antigens. J Infect Dis 192:1108-18.

Mulvenna, J., B. Hamilton, S.H. Nagaraj, D. Smyth, A. Loukas, J.J. Gorman. 2009. Proteomic analysis of the excretory/secretory component of the blood-feeding stage of the hookworm, *Ancylostoma caninum*. Molec Cell Proteomics 8:109-21.

Nielsen, N.O., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. II. Humoral responses. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:453-8.

Nielsen, N.O., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. I. Cellular responses. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:446-52.

Nutman, T.B., and V. Kumaraswami. 2001. Regulation of the immune response in lymphatic filariasis: perspectives on acute and chronic infection with *Wuchereria bancrofti* in south India. Parasite Immunol 23:389-97.

Ottesen, E.A., P.F. Weller, L. Heck. 1977. Specific cellular immune unresponsiveness in human filariasis. Immunol 33:413-21.

Parodi-Talice, A., R. Duran, N. Arrambide, V. Prieto, M. D. Pineyro, O. Pritsch, A. Cayota, C. Cervenansky, C. Robello. 2004. Proteome analysis of the causative agent of Chagas disease: *Trypansoma cruzi*. Int J Parasitol 34:881-6.

Peralta, M.E., K.A. Schmitz, T.V. Rajan. 1999. Failure of highly immunogenic filarial proteins to provide host-protective immunity. Exp Parasitol 91:334-40.

Rahman, R.A., C. Hwen-Yee, R. Noordin. 2007. Pan LF-ELISA using BmR1 and BmSXP recombinant antigens for detection of lymphatic filariasis. Filaria J 6:10.

Rao, K.V., M. Eswaran, V. Ravi, B. Gnanasekhar, R.B. Narayanan, P. Kaliraj, K. Jayaraman, A. Marson, N. Raghavan, A.L. Scott. 2000. The *Wuchereria bancrofti* orthologue of *Brugia malayi* SXP 1 and the diagnosis of bancroftian filariasis. Molec Biochem Parasitol 107:71-80.

Rothstein, N.M., G. Higashi, J. Yates, T.V. Rajan. 1989. *Onchocerca volvulus* heat shock protein 70 is a major immunogen in amicrofilaremic individuals from a filariasis-endemic area. Molec Biochem Parasitol 33:229-36.

Selkirk, M.E., D.E. Denham, F. Partono, R. Maizels. 1989. Heat shock cognate 70 is a prominent immunogen in brugian filariasis. J Immunol 143:299-308.

Taylor, M., R. Jenkins, A. Bianco. 1996. Protective immunity induced by vaccination with *Onchocerca volvulus* tropomyosin in rodents. Parasite Immunol 18:219-25.

Tsang, V.C.W., K. Hancock, M. Wilson, D. Parmer, S. Whaley, J.S. McDougal, S. Kennedy. 1986. Enzyme-linked immunoelectrotransfer blot technique (Western blot) for human T-lymphotropic virus type III/lymphadenopathy-associated virus (HTLV-III/LAV) antibodies. Procedural Guide. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

van Balkom, B.W.M., R. van Gestel, J.F.H.M. Brouwers, J. Krijgsveld, A.G.M. Tielens, A.J.R. Heck, J.J. van Hellemond. 2005. Mass spectrometric analysis of the *Schistosoma mansoni* tegumental sub-proteome. J Proteome Res 4: 958-966.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Tropica 49:45-55.

WHO. 1995. World Health Report. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.

WHO. 2001. Lymphatic filariasis. The Weekly Epidemiological Record 76:149-56.

Wilson, R.A., J.A.M. Langermans, G.J. van Dam, R.A. Vervenne, S.L. Hall, W.C. Borges, G.P. Dillon, A.W. Thomas, P.S. Coulson. 2008. Elimination of *Schistosoma mansoni* adult worm proteins by rhesus macaques: basis for a therapeutic vaccine? PLoS NTDs 2:e290.

Yatsuda, A.P., J. Krijgsveld, A.W.C.A. Cornelissen, A.J.R. Heck, E. deVries. 2003. Comprehensive analysis of the secreted proteins of the parasite *Haemonchus contortus* reveals extensive sequence variation and differential immune recognition. J Biol Chem 278:16941-51.

2.7 Figures and Tables

Figure 2.1. 2D gel electrophoresis of soluble *Brugia* adult worm proteins. *B. pahangi* adult worm proteins (3.2 mg) were subjected to IEF (pH 4-7) and then to a SDS-PAGE separation. The 2D gel was stained with Coomassie blue and the most visually intense spots (n = 64) were excised for MALDI-ToF analysis. Only the spots that were positively identified as proteins are numbered and listed in Table 2.1.

Figure 2.1



		Brugia				
Unique			identifier from	Theoretical	Theoretical	Mascot
Protein	Spot	Protein name	TIGR database	MW	pI	score
1	1	Disorganized muscle protein 1	14972.m07771	35508	4.99	105
1	2	Disorganized muscle protein 1	14972.m07771	35508	4.99	104
1	3	Disorganized muscle protein 1	14972.m07771	35508	4.99	97
1	4	Disorganized muscle protein 1	14972.m07771	35508	4.99	61
2	5	14-3-3-like protein 2	13662.m00125	29351	4.82	118
2	6	14-3-3-like protein 2	13662.m00125	29351	4.82	66
2	7	14-3-3-like protein 2	13662.m00125	29351	4.82	60
3*	8	Actin 1	14965.m00431	41777	5.30	117
3*	9	Actin 1	14965.m00431	41777	5.30	102
3*	10	Actin 1	14594.m00163	41777	5.30	71
4	11	Galectin	14731.m01012	31927	5.96	156
4	12	Galectin	14731.m01012	31927	5.96	151
4	13	Galectin	14731.m01012	31927	5.96	109
5	14	Transglutaminase	14937.m00487	56899	6.05	85
5	15	Transglutaminase	14937.m00487	56899	6.05	70
5	16	Transglutaminase	14937.m00487	56899	6.05	55
6	17	Fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase 1	14176.m00093	39488	7.64	65
6	18	Fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase 1	14176.m00093	39488	7.64	65
7	19	Heat shock 70kDa protein	14977.m04983	73833	5.71	60
7	20	Heat shock 70kDa protein	14977.m04983	73833	5.71	59
8	21	P27	14907.m00563	19090	6.52	62
8	22	P27	14907.m00563	19090	6.52	56
9	23	Protein disulfide isomerase	14972.m07552	54563	4.94	88
9	24	Protein disulfide isomerase	14972.m07552	54563	4.94	75
10	25	20s proteasome α 5 subunit	14972.m07172	27378	5.28	91
11*	26	Actin	14258.m00140	41793	5.29	77
12*	27	Actin 2	14594.m00167	41778	5.30	64
13	28	Brugia malayi antigen	14975.m04515	17220	5.95	64
14	29	Calmodulin	14992.m10856	16517	4.09	72
15	27	Cytoplasmic intermediate filament				
		protein	15463.m00018	37425	5.35	75
15	30	Cytoplasmic intermediate filament				
		protein	15463.m00018	37425	5.35	60
16	31	DJ-1 family protein	13325.m00230	19800	5.97	55
17	32	Inorganic pyrophosphatase	14271.m00285	38880	5.91	57
18	33	Major sperm protein 2	14015.m00090	14352	7.79	81
19	34	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase	14990.m07926	11534	5.84	53
20	35	Tropomyosin family protein	12630.m00063	36213	4.63	58

Table 2.1. Protein identifications by MALDI-ToF mass spectrometry

* isoforms which may have been identified by homologous peptides

Figure 2.2. Example of peptide mass fingerprinting protein sequence coverage. The experimental peptides that matched to disorganized muscle protein (Spot 2-*Brugia* TIGR ID 14972.m07771) as reported by Mascot are shown in bold. The protein sequence coverage seen here for disorganized muscle protein (38%) is representative of the average protein sequence coverage (36.8%) for all identified proteins.

Figure 2.2

1MPEGKAPHFPQQPVARQNDDGSLELECFLEAQPVPDIKWFYDTTELKQDQ51RFSFRLDNKGNDAYSAILQIKDLADSDAGAYRCAIVNPHGKGNANFNLKL101TGFSAPTFVEKPQISSRDDGQVMVMEFRAKSILKPTFVWQKGEEIVAESD151RVKIVLREEANQTYYAALEIKEPTKEKDAGQFVCTAKNESGKLTATFTVK201FEVPQGAPTFTRKPQILQKTSDSGDPAIVFDIGFQADQNPEVIWLNPKGK251KMKESSRIKFGLTPDGGANTFTAQLELKNYKAKDSGTYTCNIKNEAGEAN301VELTLNIEGPLDEGADDASEAAA

Functional category	Protein name
Binding	14-3-3-like protein 2* (binds proteins) Calmodulin* (binds Ca ions) Galectin* (binds sugars)
Chaperone	HSP70 P27
Degradation	20s alpha 5 subunit*
Electron transport	Protein disulfide isomerase* Tranglutaminase*
Metabolism	Fructose-1,6-bisphosphate aldolase 1 Inorganic pyrophosphatase
Motor	Actin Actin 1 Actin 2
Protein folding	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase
Structural activity	Cytoplasmic intermediate filament protein* Disorganized muscle protein 1 Tropomyosin family protein
Unclassified	Brugia malayi antigen DJ-1 family protein Major sperm protein 2

Table 2.2. Protein identifications separated by function

Figure 2.3. 2D immunoblots of microfilaria-positive persons or those with lymphedema. 2D gels containing 300 µg protein were blotted onto a membrane, probed with pooled sera from the 2 patient groups and antigenic proteins were visualized using a biotin-streptavidin AP system. The 2D gels were compared with the 2D immunoloblots using Phoretix 2D v2004 software which identified the antigenic proteins specific for each patient group.



CHAPTER 3

CHARACTERIZATION OF *BRUGIA* EXCRETORY-SECRETORY PRODUCTS **3.1 Abstract**

Adult filarial worms and the filarial excretory-secretory (ES) products they release are thought to induce lymphangiectasia in the lymphatic vessels (LV) that they inhabit. To characterize ES products, we utilized a proteomic approach with reverse phase liquid chromatography and tandem mass spectrometry to simultaneously measure both quantitative and qualitative information on ES-derived tryptic peptides. The proteomic analysis identified a complex mixture of 52 proteins associated with a variety of functions. Many of these proteins have been previously identified in the literature, but a large number are novel proteins that have not been investigated. This initial catalogue of ES proteins may lead to improved understanding of the factors mediating the pathogenesis of disease and give us a foundation to define the mechanism of lymphangiectasia.

3.2 Introduction

Lymphangiectasia or the dilation of LVs is a characteristic feature of vessels infected with filarial worms. Adult worms reside in LVs where they release microfilaria as well as ES products. Early subclinical lymphatic dilation may result in lymphatic dysfunction and thus predispose individuals to clinical lymphedema over time; however, the mechanisms involved in the development of this initial lymphangiectasia remain elusive. It has been hypothesized that the parasite is responsible for the lymphatic dilation seen in infected vessels since removal or killing of the worms by drug treatment in both humans and animal models reverses the lymphatic

dilation (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991, Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). Lymphangiectasia is also seen in SCID mouse models suggesting that the development of disease is not necessarily a consequence of the adaptive immune response (Vincent et al., 1984, Nelson et al., 1991). In addition, even though lymphatic dilation is greatest at the site of the worm nest, lymphangiectasia is seen throughout the infected vessel and not only restricted to the site of the worm nest, arguing a soluble mediator secreted by the worm that can travel the length of the vessel induces the initial lymphatic pathology (Case et al., 1991, Amaral et al., 1994).

Filarial ES products may be important in immune evasion and the establishment of active infection as well as contributing to the development of disease, so many worm researchers have investigated the ability of these proteins to influence the immune response. Adult *Brugia* ES proteins have been shown to exhibit immunomodulatory functions by ablating antigen-driven lymphocyte responses and generating alternatively activated macrophages (Miller et al., 1991, Allen and MacDonald, 1998). The immunomodulation by helminth secreted molecules is nicely reviewed in Hewitson et al. (2009). Furthermore, filarial ES products have also been assessed for potential as diagnostic antigens; most of these initial studies utilized radiolabeling to characterize proteins recognized by microfilaremic individuals (Kaushal et al., 1982, Maizels et al., 1985, Kwan-Lim et al., 1989).

Given the presence of lymphatic dilation along the length of the infected vessel and the intimate interactions between the adult worm and the lymphatic endothelium, filarial ES products may be important in initiating lymphangiectasia. For these reasons, we wanted to identify and catalogue the ES products released by the living adult worms. We identified 52 different proteins using LC-MS. Other laboratories were performing similar studies simultaneously, so we also compared our results with concurrent filarial proteomics findings.

3.3 Material and Methods

3.3.1 Parasite Materials and Collection of ES Products

Brugia malayi adult male and female worms were collected from the peritoneal cavity of infected jirds, Meriones unguiculatus, that were obtained from the NIAID Filariasis Repository at the University of Georgia (Athens, GA). For the collection of ES products, 50 live adult male and female worms were cultured separately in vitro for 7 days at 37 C in 10mL serum-free RPMI 1640 media (GIBCO, Grand Island, NY) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin). Supernatants were collected and fresh medium added daily. The microfilariae were resuspended in PBS and counted using a hemacytometer to ensure worm viability. Supernatants containing the ES products were centrifuged at 6000 x g at 4 C for 10 min to remove the microfilariae and then concentrated with a Centricon filter (Millipore, Bedford, MA) to a volume of $\sim 300 \,\mu$ L. This process resulted in ~670 ng/mL or 201 ng of worm protein as measured with the bicinchoninic acid protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, IL). ES products were stored at 4 C until further use. ES products were filtered using 0.45 µm Millex-HA syringe filters (Millipore, Carrigtwohill, Co. Cork, Ireland). Two biological replicates were analyzed to document similarities in protein identification by LC-MS. For stimulations with ES products, all batches of ES products were tested for endotoxin activity using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate QCL-1000 assay (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) and ES products were only used at concentrations ≤ 0.1 eu/mL.

Adult crude worm extracts were prepared by cutting the parasites with scissors, and then the extract was suspended in 3 mL PBS and ultrasonicated (Heat Systems-Ultrasonics, Inc., Plainview, NY; Model W-225 with standard tip) at 40% power, 20% duty cycle, pulse mode for

30 min at 4 C. After a 10 min centrifugation at 15,000 x g at 4 C, the protein concentration of the supernatant was determined by BCA assay (Pierce).

3.3.2 SDS-PAGE

Concentrated ES products or crude worm proteins were mixed 1:1 with 2xSDS loading buffer, boiled for 5 min and loaded on 0.75 mm thick 12% polyacrylamide gels. For characterization of ES products secreted by males and females and across batches, 15 μ L of concentrated ES products plus 15 μ L of 2xSDS buffer were loaded per lane. Proteins were electrophoresed for 45 min at 160 V in a Mini PROTEAN II System (Bio-rad) and visualized by silver stain.

3.3.3 LC-MS

B. malayi ES products were prepared as described above. The proteins were first treated with 100mM aqueous ammonium bicarbonate and then with 0.2% RapiGest SF (Waters, Milford, MA). The proteins were reduced with 100 mM DTT (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) and alkylated with 300 mM iodoacetamide (Bio-Rad) for 30 min per step. Porcine trypsin (Promega) buffered in 50 mM ammonium bicarbonate was added so that the trypsin:soluble protein ratio was approximately 1:100. The digestions were incubated overnight at 37 C and sent on dry ice to collaborators where they were analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry.

The methods used to perform LC-MS by the Protein Expression System have been previously described (Silva et al., 2006). In brief, capillary liquid chromatography of tryptic peptides was performed with a Waters CapLC system using a Waters NanoEaseTM AtlantisTM C18, 300 µm x 15 cm reverse phase column. The aqueous mobile phase contained 1% acetonitrile in 0.1% formic acid while the organic mobile phase contained 80% acetonitrile in 0.1% formic acid. Samples were loaded onto the column with 6% organic mobile phase and the

peptides were eluted with a gradient of 6% to 40% organic mobile phase over 100 min at 4.4 μ L/min. The column was rinsed for 10 min in 99% organic mobile phase and re-equilibrated for 20 min. All samples were analyzed in triplicate.

Mass spectrometric analysis was performed using a Waters/Micromass Q-ToF Ultima API. The mass spectrometer was operated in V-mode and the analyses were performed in positive mode ESI using a NanoLockSpray[™] source. The mass spectrometer was calibrated and LC-MS data were collected for 1.85 s in an alternating, low energy (collosion energy; 10 eV) and elevated energy (collosion energy; 28-35 eV) mode of acquisition. One cycle of data was acquired every 4 s.

The data were processed and searched using ProteinLynx Global Server (PLGS) version 2.2 and as well as the NCBI-NR database by the Mascot software program (Matrixscience, Boston, MA). Protein identifications were assigned by searching the TIGR *Brugia* (Ghedin et al., 2007) and *Wolbachia* (Foster et al., 2005) amino acid sequences. Search parameters were as follows: missed cleavages = 1; peptide tolerance = \pm 5 ppm; possible variable modifications = carbamidomethylation. The ion detection, clustering and normalization were processed using PLGS as described (Silva et al., 2005) and if necessary, additional analysis was performed with Spotfire Decision Site 7.2 and Microsoft Excel as described (Silva et al., 2005). Identified proteins were only considered significant if they were above the 85% probability that they were not a random match.

3.3.4 Immunoblotting for Wolbachia Surface Protein, WSP

Crude worm protein or ES products underwent SDS-PAGE and were electrotransferred onto Immobilon-P polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes (Millipore). Transferred proteins were exposed to PBS plus 0.3% Tween throughout each immunoblot step. The membranes were

then incubated overnight at 4 C with undiluted mouse IgG2a monoclonal antibody against WSP. The membranes were washed and incubated for 1 hour with biotinylated rat anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:1000). The streptavidin alkaline phosphatase (Invitrogen) system at a 1:1000 dilution was used to probe for bound biotinylated secondary antibodies. After a final washing, bound conjugates were visualized by 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indoyl phosphate (Sigma) as the substrate and nitro blue tetrazolium (Sigma) as the chromagen.

3.3.5 Cell Culture

Primary adult human dermal lymphatic microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC-dLy) (cat. CC-2810T25) were purchased from Lonza Clonetics (Walkersville, MD) and maintained in the corresponding EGM-2 MV Bulletkit media (cat. CC-3202; Lonza Clonetics). Cells were cultured and split using the Clonetics Reagent Pack (cat. CC-5034). Cells were maintained according to manufacturer's instructions and used between passages 4 through 8. In addition, the human dermal microvascular endothelial cell line, HMEC-1, (Ades 1992) was also used in parallel experiments. HMEC-1 cells were obtained from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and maintained in MCDB131 media containing 15% FBS, 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor, 1 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 90 µg/mL heparin, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin).

3.3.6 Detection of NFkB Phosphorylation

Lymphatic endothelial cells or HMECs were seeded at 5×10^5 cells/well in a 6-well plate (Costar, Corning, NY) in EGM-2MV media and grown until confluent. Cells were starved for 2.5 hours with MCDB-131 (GIBCO) containing penicillin-streptomycin heated to 37 C. Cells were stimulated for 15 min (LEC) and 30 min (HMEC) and lysed with 25 µL/mL 1M Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 50 µL/mL 20% SDS, 925 µL/mL H₂O, 200 µg/mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

(EDTA), 1 μg/mL leupeptin, 1 μg/mL pepstatin A, 200 μg/mL Pefabloc SC (Roche,
Indianapolis, IN) and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail Set II (1:100; Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA).
Lysate protein concentrations were determined by BCA (Pierce); 2.5 μg (LEC) and 5 μg
(HMEC) protein per lane was electrophoresed in a 12% SDS-PAGE gel and electrophoretically
transferred onto Immobilon-P PVDF membranes (Millipore).

Throughout the western blotting, PBS plus 0.3% Tween was used in each step. The membranes were then incubated overnight at 4 C with rabbit anti–phospho-pNF κ B (1:300; cat. 4884; Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA) or mouse anti- α -tubulin (1:4000; cat. T6074; Sigma) antibodies. The membranes were washed and incubated for 1 hour with HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:1000; cat. 7074; Cell Signaling Technology) or HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:1000; cat. 12-349; Millipore), respectively. After a final washing, the bound conjugates were visualized by 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (Sigma) as the chromagenic substrate.

3.4 Results

The ES products of filarial worms may have important biological effects in both the establishment of infection and the development of lymphedema; therefore, we wanted to define the proteins composing the secretome of filarial nematodes. Excretory-secretory products were collected from *Brugia* adult worms daily for seven days and all seven days were pooled and defined as a single batch. Initial characterization of the ES products revealed that adult females release greater quantities of protein compared to males as demonstrated by SDS-PAGE (Fig. 3.1), so female adult worms were used for all subsequent experiments. Over the seven-day collection period of ES products, adult female worms were monitored for viability by motility and microfilariae production. Microfilaria production across seven days was consistent with

previous published reports (Kwan-Lim et al., 1989) where an initial *in vitro* acclimation period was seen over the first two days, followed by a subsequent increase of microfilariae release occurring between days 4-6, and a slight decline at day 7 (Fig. 3.2); therefore, we discontinued our ES collections on day 7. Daily SDS-PAGE profiles of the ES products across all seven days appeared similar and SDS-PAGE also demonstrated consistent protein patterns across various batches (Figure 3.3A and 3.3B). The reproducible kinetics of ES production and microfilariae release across the seven-day *in vitro* cultures suggest that the proteins produced were similar to those secreted under physiologic conditions and not the result of degenerating or dying worms.

In order to identify the proteins composing the collected filarial ES products, we employed LC-MS. In this analysis we identified 52 unique proteins involved in a variety of biological processes (Table 2.1). Many of these proteins (17/52) were also identified by others labs undertaking simultaneous proteomic studies on filarial ES products as denoted in Table 2.1. Almost 20% (10/52) of the identified proteins were hypothetical. In addition, 5 out of the 52 proteins possessed a secretory signal peptide as predicted by SignalP (Bendtsen et al., 2004) suggesting secretion through the classic pathway (Table 2.1). The unexpectedly low number of proteins with a secretory signal is not uncommon based on previous reports suggesting the lack of a secretory signal is not always indicative of the secretory potential of a protein (Moreno and Geary, 2008).

Given the emerging role for the *Wolbachia* endosymbiont in filarial pathogenesis, we also searched the LC-MS peptide data against the *Wolbachia* annotated genome sequence, but we did not detect any *Wolbachia* proteins in our *Brugia* ES products (Foster et al., 2005). To confirm the absence of *Wolbachia* from worm ES products, ES products were subjected to SDS-PAGE coupled with immunoblot analysis for the presence of the *Wolbachia*-specific protein,

Wolbachia surface protein or WSP; however, WSP was not detected in filarial ES products (Fig. 3.4A). WSP was detected in crude worm extract used as a positive control (Fig. 3.4A). In addition, there was no detectable endotoxin in the ES products as measured by the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate assay (data not shown). We were still concerned the presence of *Wolbachia* in the ES products might be below the limit of detection for our assays, so we carried out additional biological testing examining the ability of *Wolbachia* within the filarial ES products to activate cellular signaling pathways known to be stimulated by the endosymbiont. *Wolbachia* has been shown to mediate it's biological effects through TLR2 ligation (Hise et al., 2007), and TLR2 stimulation leads to NF κ B phosphorylation; so we stimulated multiple cell types, such as primary lymphatic endothelial cells and the well-characterized HMEC line (Ades et al., 1992) with ES products but we did not detect phosphorylation of NF κ B upon ES exposure (Fig. 3.4B). TNF α was used as a positive control for the phosphorylation of NF κ B but the absence of NF κ B phosphorylation by ES products suggests *Wolbachia* is not present in the ES at levels that can initiate cellular signaling events.

3.5 Discussion

Recent completion and annotation of the *Brugia* genome predicted 11,515 protein coding genes with 20% of the proteins being *B. malayi*-specific (Ghedin et al., 2007). Currently the *Brugia* draft genome covers ~90% of the coding region, so we employed mass spectrometry to identify the proteins composing the filarial ES products (Hewitson et al., 2008). In our analysis we found 52 unique proteins spanning multiple biological processes. Many of these products such as leucyl aminopeptidase, a homologue of the ES-62 of *Acanthocheilonema viteae*, the Ov-16 antigen of *O. volvulus* and the *Brugia* macrophage migration inhibitory factor (Bm MIF-1) have all been well characterized in the literature.

Many of the previously characterized proteins have been given special attention due to their immunomodulatory properties. For instance, ES-62 is a phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein that can interfere with cell signaling resulting in the inhibition of lymphocyte proliferation and a decreased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Weil and Liftis, 1987, Harnett et al., 1989, 1999, 2009, Goodridge et al., 2001, 2003, Stepek et al., 2004). ES-62 can regulate DC maturation to elicit Th2-polarized responses, induce IL-10 production and inhibit the ability of macrophages to produce Th1 cytokines (Whelan et al., 2000, Goodridge et al., 2001, McInnes et al., 2003, Wilson et al., 2003). In our ES proteomic analysis, we detected the Brugia homologue of Ov-16 which is a cysteine protease inhibitor that suppresses immune cell proliferation that is secreted by both A. viteae and O. volvulus (Hartmann et al., 1997, Schönemeyer et al., 2001). Bm MIF-1 was also identified in the ES; the secretion of Bm MIF-1 is thought to reflect the worm's ability to promote parasite persistence by modulating the host immune response through the secretion of products that mimic host factors and induce suppressive effects (Pastrana et al., 1998, Zang et al., 2002). LL20 15 kDa ladder protein, formerly called the gp15/400 antigen, was identified in our ES analysis and this protein has been shown to be one of the major targets of IgG4 and IgE responses in lymphatic filariasis (Paxton et al., 1993, Tweedie et al., 1993, Yazdanbakhsh et al., 1995). The LL20 15 kDa ladder protein is synthesized as a 400 kDa precursor that is secreted as 15 kDa subunits which can bind lipids and may play an additional role in the sequestration of lipid mediators involved in the local immune response (Selkirk et al., 1993, Kennedy et al., 1995, 2000). γ -Glutamyltranspeptidase or Bm2325, a protein that is known to be a target for host IgE and highly recognized in patients with tropical pulmonary eosinophilia, was also detected in our ES preparation (Lobos et al.,

1996, 1997, 2003). γ -Glutamyltranspeptidase may also be involved in leukotriene synthesis and thus eosinophil recruitment (Mayatepek et al., 2004, Cheraim et al., 2008).

In our analysis we also detected the presence of molecules that have not been extensively characterized in the filarial literature such as galectin, triose phosphate isomerase (TPI), and the transthyretin family of proteins. Galectin is of particular interest as it is thought to skew the host immune response towards a Th2 phenotype and specifically bind IgE (Klion and Donelson, 1994, Motran et al., 2008, Pou-Barreto et al., 2008, Yang et al., 2008). Recently it has been demonstrated that galectin is also recognized by filarial-infected individuals as well those exhibiting clinical disease (Hewitson et al., 2008, Weinkopff et al., 2009). We also identified TPI in our ES products which is a glycolytic enzyme that catalyzes the production of glutaraldehyde-3-phosphate and is a potential vaccine candidate for schistosomiasis (Wu et al., 2005). In our analysis, we detected multiple proteins identifying to the transthyretin family of proteins. The function of transthyretin proteins is not known for LF but these proteins are found in the cerebrospinal fluid and serum where they bind thyroid hormones, especially thyroxine, and they also serve as a carrier for retinol, or vitamin A, by binding to the retinol-binding protein to create a complex and thus prevent the loss of the retinol-binding protein through kidney filtration (Prapunpoj and Leelawatwattana, 2009).

Other laboratories have carried out proteomic analyses on the filarial secretome in parallel with our study. Hewitson et al. identified 80 proteins secreted by female and male adults using a combination of approaches including gel electrophoresis coupled to MALDI-ToF/ToF and shotgun LC-MS/MS (2008) and Moreno and Geary identified 228 total filarial proteins by LC-MS/MS with 160 proteins secreted by adult females and 76 proteins secreted by microfilariae (2008). In the Moreno and Geary study, only 7 secreted proteins were shared

between adult females and microfilariae (2008). The most recent secretome analysis performed by Bennuru et al. found 852 total proteins secreted from adult males, adult females, microfilariae, L3 or L3 molting to L4 but only 157 and 457 proteins were specific for the adult female and microfilaria stages, respectively (2009). In the Bennuru study 36 proteins were shared by adult females and microfilariae (2009). Many of the same proteins were identified by our analyses as well as the other studies but the differences in the number of identified proteins could be due to variations in the stages analyzed, variations in the technology utilized and differences in the algorithms and restriction criteria when determining protein identifications. It is important to note we identified the most abundant proteins found within the adult female worm ES products according to the other secretome studies including γ-glutamyltranspeptidase, galectin, LL20 15kDa ladder antigen and TPI which has been shown to be the most abundant protein in the ES products (Hewitson et al., 2008, Moreno and Geary, 2008, Bennuru et al., 2009).

The ES products of the worms contain a mixture of proteins actively secreted by the parasite as well as molecules that are excreted as waste products and products that may diffuse or leak from the worm such as uterine fluids. Given our limited understanding of the biological importance of these proteins, it has been proposed that we need to analyze all the ES products without prejudice with respect to their physiological origin (Hewitson et al., 2009). We agree with this approach, but we extended our approach to include both the ES products from living female adult worms co-cultured with the microfilariae they are releasing *in vitro*. Given the microfilariae are released simultaneously as the ES products *in vivo* we did not discriminate between life cycle stages. However, other filarial proteomic studies did distinguish between life cycle stages so this information is available (Moreno and Geary, 2008, Bennuru et al., 2009).

The presence of rickettsial endosymbiont *Wolbachia* in the ES products remains a controversial topic in filarial biology. In our proteomic analysis of the *Brugia* ES products, we did not detect the presence of *Wolbachia*; these findings are in agreement with results from Hewitson et al. (2008) and Moreno and Geary (2008). However, a proteomics study carried out by Bennuru et al. (2009) did identify 90 *Wolbachia*-specific proteins in their filarial ES products. The analysis performed by Bennuru et al. identified several hundred more proteins than any of the other filarial proteomic approaches, suggesting that their protein identification restrictions were less stringent or that their cultures possessed dying or degenerating worms releasing *Wolbachia*. It has been hypothesized that *Wolbachia* may be important in the pathogenesis of disease but collectively these data suggest that the host is not exposed to *Wolbachia* in the worm ES products but rather upon exposure to dying or degrading worms.

Combined, these studies examining filarial ES products have dramatically increased our understanding of filarial biology but there are several limitations to our approach as well as the other filarial proteomics approaches. The current technologies identified protein constituents in the ES products and provided insight into the relative abundance of each product but these studies do not shed light on the presence of non-protein components such as carbohydrates (Hewitson et al., 2009). In addition, not all secreted products are macromolecules so we are missing information on the small molecular weight compounds such as prostacyclins and prostaglandins known to be secreted by filarial nematodes (Liu et al., 1990, Hewitson et al., 2009). These techniques may also be neglecting the presence of proteins that are expressed at low levels but which are biologically important (Hewitson et al., 2009); however, cataloguing the ES components is a crucial first step in understanding the molecules involved in filarial infection and disease.

In conclusion, we have performed mass spectrometric analysis to identify the protein constituents found within *Brugia* ES products. Now that the proteins have been catalogued, we can focus on the biological relevance of these molecules. Proteins within the ES may be involved in a wide variety of biological processes; many researchers have exploited the ES products for the roles they play in immune evasion, but we are interested in the ability of these molecules to influence the development of disease. Given the intimate interaction between the worm and the lymphatic endothelium, filarial ES products may be contributing to the development of disease by directly activating LECs or indirectly modulating LEC function through an accessory cell type. Future experiments in our lab will examine the biological effects of the filarial ES products on LECs and thus the pathogenesis of disease.

3.6 References

Ades, E.W., F.J. Candal, R.A. Swerlick, V.G. George, S. Summers, D.C. Bosse, T.J. Lawley. 1992. HMEC-1: Establishment of an immortalized human microvascular endothelial cell line. J Invest Dermatol. 99:683-90.

Allen, J.E, and A.S. MacDonald. 1998. Profound suppression of cellular proliferation mediated by the secretions of nematodes. Parasite Immunol 20:241-7.

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Bennuru, S., R. Semnani, Z. Meng, J.M.C. Ribeiro, T.D. Veenstra, T.B. Nutman. 2009. *Brugia malayi* excreted/secreted proteins at the host/parasite interface: stage- and gender-specific proteomic profiling. PLoS NTDs 3:e410.

Bendtsen, J.D., H. Nielsen, G. von Heijne, S. Brunak. 2004. Improved prediction of signal peptides: SignalP 3.0. J Molec Biol 340:783-95.

Case, T., B. Leis, M. Witte, D. Way, M. Bernas, P. Borgs, C. Crandall, R. Crandall, R. Nagle, S. Jamal. 1991. Vascular abnormalities in experimental and human lymphatic filariasis. Lymphology 24:174-83.

Cheraim, A.B., P. Xavier-Elsas, S.H. Penha de Oliveira, T. Batistella, M. Russo, M.I. Gaspar-Elsas, F.Q. Cunha. 2008. Leukotriene B4 is essential for selective eosinophil recruitment following allergen challenge of CD4+ cells in a model of chronic eosinophilic inflammation. Life Sciences 83:214-22.

Foster, J., M. Ganatra, I. Kamal et al. 2005. The *Wolbachia* genome of *Brugia malayi*: endosymbiont evolution within a human pathogenic nematode. PLoS Biol 3:e121.

Ghedin, E., S. Wang, D. Spiro, et al. 2007. Draft genome of the filarial nematode parasite *Brugia malayi*. Science 317:1756-60.

Goodridge, H.S., E.H. Wilson, W. Harnett, C. Campbell, M. Harnett, F. Liew. 2001. Modulation of macrophage cytokine production by ES-62, a secreted product of the filarial nematode *Acanthocheilonema viteae*. J Immunol 167:940-5.

Goodridge, H.S., W. Harnett, F. Liew, M.M. Harnett. 2003. Differential regulation of interleukin-12 p40 and p35 induction via Erk mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent and - independent mechanisms and the implications for bioactive IL-12 and IL-23 responses. Immunol 109:415-25.

Harnett, W., M.J. Worms, A. Kapil, M. Grainger, R.M. Parkhouse. 1989. Origin, kinetics of circulation and fate *in vivo* of the major excretory-secretory product of *Acanthocheilonema viteae*. Parasitol 99:229-39.

Harnett, W., M. Deehan, K. Houston, M. Harnett. 1999. Immunomodulatory properties of a phosphorylcholine-containing secreted filarial glycoprotein. Parasite Immunol 21:601-8.

Harnett, W., and M.M. Harnett. 2009. Immunomodulatory activity and therapeutic potential of the filarial nematode secreted product, ES-62. Adv Exp Med Biol 666:88-94.

Hartmann, K.B., B. Sonnenburg, R. Lucius. 1997. A filarial cysteine protease inhibitor downregulates T cell proliferation and enhances interleukin-10 production. Euro J Immunol 27:2253-60.

Hewitson, J.P., Y.M. Harcus, R.S. Curwen, A.A. Dowle, A.K. Atmadja, P.D. Ashton, A. Wilson, R.M. Maizels. 2008. The secretome of the filarial parasite, *Brugia malayi*: proteomic profile of adult excretory-secretory products. Molec Biochem Parastiol 160:8-21.

Hewitson, J.P., J.R. Grainger, R.M. Maizels. 2009. Helminth immunoregulation: The role of parasite secreted proteins in modulating host immunity. Molec Biochem Parastiol 167:1-11.

Hise, A.G., K. Daehnel, I. Gillette-Ferguson, E. Cho, H.F. McGarry, M.J. Taylor, D.T. Golenbock, K.A. Fitzgerald, J.W. Kazura, E. Pearlman. 2007. Innate immune responses to endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria in *Brugia malayi* and *Onchocerca volvulus* are dependent on TLR2, TLR6, MyD88, and Mal, but not TLR4, TRIF, or TRAM. J Immunol 178:1068-76.

Kaushal, N.A., R. Hussain, T.E. Nash, E.A. Ottesen. 1982. Identification and characterization of excretory-secretory products of *Brugia malayi*, adult filarial parasites. J Immunol 129:338-43.

Kennedy, M.W. 2000. The nematode polyprotein allergens/antigens. Parasitol Today 16:373-80.

Kennedy, M.W., J.E. Allen, A.S. Wright, A.B. McCruden, A. Cooper. 1995. The gp15/400 polyprotein antigen of *Brugia malayi* binds fatty acids and retinoids. Molec Biochem Parasitol 71:41-50.

Klion, A.D., and J.E. Donelson. 1994. OvGalBP, a filarial antigen with homology to vertebrate galactoside-binding proteins. Molec Biochem Parasitol 65:305-15.

Kwan-Lim, G.E., W.F. Gregory, M.E. Selkirk, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels. 1989. Secreted antigens of filarial nematodes: a survey and characterization of *in vitro* excreted/secreted products of adult *Brugia malayi*. Parasite Immunol 11:629-54.

Lobos, E. 1997. The basis of IgE responses to specific antigenic determinants in helminthiasis. Chem Immunol 66:1-25.

Lobos, E., R. Zahn, N. Weiss, T.B. Nutman. 1996. A major allergen of lymphatic filarial nematodes is a parasite homolog of the γ -glutamyl transpeptidase. Molec Med 2:712-24.

Lobos, E., T.B. Nutman, J.S. Hothersall, S. Moncada. 2003. Elevated immunoglobulin E against recombinant *Brugia malayi* gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase in patients with bancroftian filariasis: association with tropical pulmonary eosinophilia or putative immunity. Inf Immun 71:747-53.

Liu, L.X., C.N. Serhan, P.F. Weller. 1990. Intravascular filarial parasites elaborate cyclooxygenase-derived eicosanoids. J Exp Med 172:993-6.

Maizels, R.M., D.A. Denham, I. Sutanto. 1985. Secreted and circulating antigens of the filarial parasite *Brugia pahangi*: analysis of *in vitro* released components and detection of parasite products *in vivo*. Molec Biochem Parasitol 17:277-88.

Mayatepek, E. J.G. Okun, T. Meissner, B. Assmann, J. Hammond, J. Zschocke, W. Lehmann.2004. Synthesis and metabolism of leukotrienes in γ -glutamyl transpeptidase deficiency. J Lipid Res 45:900-4.

McInnes, I.B., B.P. Leung, M. Harnett, J.A. Gracie, F.Y. Liew, W. Harnett. 2003. A novel therapeutic approach targeting articular inflammation using the filarial nematode-derived phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein ES-62. J Immunol 171:2127-33.

Miller, S., D. Schreuer, B. Hammerberg. 1991. Inhibition of antigen-driven proliferative responses and enhancement of antibody production during infection with *Brugia pahangi*. J Immunol 147:1007-13.

Moreno, Y. and T.G. Geary. 2008. Stage- and gender-specific proteomic analysis of *Brugia malayi* excretory-secretory products. PLoS NTDs 2:e326.

Motran, C.C., K.M. Molinder, S.D. Liu, F. Poirier, M.C. Miceli. 2008. Galectin-1 functions as a Th2 cytokine that selectively induces Th1 apoptosis and promotes Th2 function. Eur J Immunol 38:3015-27.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Pastrana, D.V., N. Raghavan, P. Fitzgerald, S.W. Eisinger, C. Metz, R. Bucala, R.P. Schleimer, C. Bickel, A.L Scott. 1998. Filarial nematode parasites secrete a homologue of the human cytokine macrophage migration factor. Inf Immun 66:5955-63.

Paxton, W.A., M. Yazdanbakhsh, A. Kurniawan, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels, M.E. Selkirk. 1993. Primary structure of and immunoglobulin E response to the repeat subunit of gp15/400 from lymphatic filarial parasites. Inf Immun 61:2827-33.

Pou-Barreto, C., M.A. Quise-Ricalde, R. Morchon, C. Vazquez, M. Genchi, I. Postigo, B. Valladares, F. Simon. 2008. Galectin and aldolase-like molecules are responsible for the specific IgE response in human exposed to *Dirofilaria immitis*. Parasite Immunol 30:596-602.

Prapunpoj, P., and L. Leelawatwattana. 2009. Evolutionary changes to transthyretin: structure–function relationships. FEBS J 276:5330-41.

Schonemeyer, A., R. Lucius, B. Sonnenburg, N. Brattig, R. Sabat, K. Schilling, J. Bradley, S. Hartmann. 2001. Modulation of human T cell responses and macrophage functions by Onchocystatin, a secreted protein of the filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus*. J Immunol 167:3207-15.

Selkirk, M.E., W.F. Gregory, R.E. Jenkins, R.M. Maizels. 1993. Localization, turnover and conservation of gp15/400 in different stages of *Brugia malayi*. Parasitol 107:449-57.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals Trop Med Parasitol 103:235-47.

Silva, J.C., R. Denny, C. Dorschel, M.V. Gorenstein, G. Li, K. Richardson, D. Wall, S.J. Geromanos. 2006. Simultaneous qualitative and quantitative analysis of the *Escherichia coli* proteome: a sweet tale. Mol Cell Proteomics 5:589-607.

Silva, J.C., R. Denny, C. Dorschel, M.V. Gorenstein, I.J. Kass, G. Li, T. McKenna, M.J. Nold, K. Richardson, P. Young, S.J. Geromanos. 2005. Quantitative proteomic analysis by accurate mass retention time pairs. Anal Chem 77:2187-200.

Stepek, G., K. Houston, H. Goodridge, E. Devaney, W. Harnett. 2004. Stage-specific and species-specific differences in the production of the mRNA and protein for the filarial nematode secreted product, ES-62. Parasitol 128:91-8.

Tweedie, S., W.A. Paxton, L. Ingram, R.M. Maizels, L.A. McReynolds, M.E. Selkirk. 1993. *Brugia pahangi* and *Brugia malayi*: a surface-associated glycoprotein (gp15/400) is composed of multiple tandemly repeated units and processed from a 400-kDa precursor. Exp Parasitol 76:156-64.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Tropica 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of *Brugia pahangi* in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

Weil, G., and L. Liftis. 1987. Identification and partial characterization of a parasite antigen in sera from humans infected with *Wuchereria bancrofti*. J Immunol 138:3035-41.

Weinkopff, T.S., J. Atwood, G. Punkosdy, D. Moss, B. Weatherly, R. Orlando, P. Lammie. 2009. Identification of antigenic *Brugia* adult worm proteins by peptide mass fingerprinting. J Parasitol 18:1.

Whelan, M., M.M. Harnett, K.M. Houston, V.Patel, W.Harnett, K.P. Rigley. 2000. A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. J Immunol 164:6453-60.

Wilson, E.H., E. Katz, H.S. Goodridge, M.M. Harnett, W. Harnett. 2003. *In vivo* activation of murine peritoneal B1 cells by the filarial nematode phosphorylcholine-containing glycoprotein ES-62. Parasite Immunol 25:463-6.

Wu, Z., Z. Lü, X. Yu. 2005. Development of a vaccine against *Schistosoma japonicum* in China: a review. Acta Tropica 96:106-16.

Yang, R., G.A. Rabinovich, F. Liu. 2008. Galectins: structure, function and therapeutic potential. Expert Rev Mol Med 10:e17.

Yazdanbakhsh, M., W.A. Paxton, A. Brandenburg, R. Van Ree, M. Lens, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels, M.E. Selkirk. 1995. Differential antibody isotype reactivity to specific antigens in
human lymphatic filariasis: gp15/400 preferentially induces immunoglobulin E (IgE), IgG4, and IgG2. Inf Immun 63:3772-9.

Zang, X., P. Taylor, J. Wang, D. Meyer, A. Scott, M. Walkinshaw, R. Maizels. 2002. Homologues of human macrophage migration inhibitory factor from a parasitic nematode: gene cloning, protein activity and crystal structure. J Biol Chem 277:44261-7.

3.7 Figures and Tables

Figure 3.1. SDS-PAGE profiles of *Brugia* ES products. Adult worm ES products from (A) females and (B) males were collected daily for 7 days (D1-7) and subjected to SDS-PAGE and silver stained. MW; molecular weight marker





B. Male ES Products



Figure 3.2. Number of microfilariae produced during *in vitro* culture of adult worms. In order to ensure female adult worm viability throughout the seven days of ES collections, worms were monitored for motility and microfilariae were counted daily using a hemacytometer.

Figure 3.2



Figure 3.3. SDS-PAGE profiles of *Brugia* adult female ES products. Adult worm ES products from various batches including example batch 1 (A) and batch 2 (B) were collected daily for 7 days (D1-7) and subjected to SDS-PAGE and silver stained. Lane profiles were consistent across days and multiple batches. A batch is defined as the concentrated ES products from 50 adult female worms collected daily over 7 days and representative gels are shown for two separate batches. MW; molecular weight marker

Figure 3.3



Table 3.1. Protein identifications by LC-MS

	Protoin name	<i>Brugia</i> identifier from	Dub losus	S	Identified by other filarial
<u>C1</u>	Protein name	TIGK database	Pub_locus	Score	MS studies [®]
1 14-3-3-like p	protein 2	13662.m00125	Bm1_10970	31	A, B
Electron transport	chain				
2 Hypothetical	protein conserved	14528.m00116	Bm1_20620	30	
Host cytokine hom	ologues				
3 Bm MIF-1		14930.m00337	Bm1_28435	81	A, B, C
Lectins and glycos	yltransferases				
4 Galectin Bm	-GAL-1	14731.m01012	Bm1_24940	224	A, B, C
5 Galectin Bm	-GAL-2	14981.m02389	Bm1_46750	57	A, B
Lipid binding					
6 LL20 15 kD	a ladder antigen	14992.m10973	Bm1_50995	707	A, B, C
Metabolism					
7 Fructose-bis	phosphate aldolase 1	14176.m00093	Bm1_15350	90	
8 Glycosyl hyd	drolases family 31 protein	14972.m07829	Bm1_40580	89	A, B, C
9 Triose phosp	hate isomerase	14940.m00172	Bm1_29130	546	A, B, C
Protein digestion a	nd folding				
10 γ-Glutamyltr	anspeptidase family protein	13531.m00015	Bm1_09950	358	A, B, C
11 Leucyl amin	opeptidase*	15373.m00009	Bm1_56305	144	A, B, C
Signaling					
12 Ceramide kin	nase	14990.m08129	Bm1_50005	26	
13 Protein Sprin	nt	14992.m10943	Bm1_50840	30	
14 Ser/thr-prote	in kinase C07A9 3	14980.m02705	Bm1_45930	35	
Structural activity					
15 Heavy neuro	filament protein*	14975.m04412	Bm1_42375	95	B, C
Transcription and	translation				
16 3'-5' exonuc	lease family protein	14975.m04472	Bm1_42650	34	
17 60S ribosom	al protein L19	14961.m05302	Bm1_34025	40	
18 ATP-depend family protein	ent DNA helicase RecQ	14965.m00420	Bm1_34870	18	
19 Cohesin sub	unit A1	14992.m10991	Bm1 51090	51	
20 Dihydrourid	ine synthase domain	12681.m00096	Bm1_02370	31	
21 DNA directe	d PNA polymerase II	12420 m00160	Bm1 00170	40	
21 DINA-UIICOU	RNA synthese	12420.11100109	Bm1 12065	40	
22 Ortificant 23 Helicase	maa synnase	12052 m00128	$Bm1_{12703}$ Bm1_1/100	54 68	
23 Homeobov d	omain containing protein	14037 m00100	Bm1_14100 Bm1_13765	26	
25 Nuclear rece	ntor RXR	14958 m00347	Bm1_137855	20	
26 PHD_finger	family protein	14271 m00291	Bm1 16985	23	
27 PWI contain	ing protein	14992 m11048	Bm1_10203	24	
28 Snf5 homole	ogue	14980 m02744	Bm1_46120	22	AC
20 5115 1011010	Buc	17700.11102/44	Dill1_40120		л, с

Table 3.1. ContinuedProtein identifications by LC-MS

		Brugia			Identified by
	Protein name	TIGR database	Pub_locus	Score	MS studies [§]
29	Surp module family protein	12613.m00116	Bm1 01890	24	
30	Ubiquitin*	13432.m00246	Bm1_09050	44	
Trar	sthyretin-like family proteins				
31	Transthyretin-like family proteins	13250 m00031	Bm1 06445	24	ABC
32	Transthyretin-like family protein*	14486.m00069	Bm1_20065	28	A, B
Uno	lassified				
33	Conserved hypothetical protein	13473 m00077	Bm1 09495	40	
34	Conserved hypothetical protein	13818 m00237	$Bm1_{0}^{-0}$	29	
35	HEAT repeat family protein	13538 m00201	Bm1_10000	72	
36	Hypothetical protein	14469.m00102	Bm1_19875	29	A.B.C
37	Hypothetical protein*	13987.m00026	Bm1 13345	42	C
38	Hypothetical protein	14977.m04858	Bm1 43080	21	Ċ
39	Hypothetical protein	14702.m00398	Bm1 ²⁴⁰⁷⁵	49	
40	Hypothetical protein	14979.m04563	Bm1 45270	37	
41	Hypothetical protein	14174.m00061	Bm1 ¹⁵³¹⁰	26	
42	Hypothetical protein	14245.m00088	Bm1_16485	17	
43	Integrin α pat 2 precursor	12833.m00024	Bm1_03420	32	
44	Kelch motif family protein	14556.m00153	Bm1_21095	42	
45	MGC80520 protein	13311.m00337	Bm1_07295	37	
46	Ov-16 antigen precursor	14973.m02599	Bm1_41005	25	B, C
47	NADH-ubiquinone oxioreductase	14979.m04636	Bm1_45585	51	
48	Programmed cell death 6 interacting	14990.m07801	Bm1_48390	29	
	protein				
49	Protein C20orf72 homolog	14704.m00454	Bm1_24160	27	
50	TolA protein	14704.m00455	Bm1_24165	47	
51	Variant SH3 domain containing protein	14686.m00199	Bm1_23725	31	
52	WD-repeat protein BING4	13253.m00071	Bm1_06510	19	

*Possesses a secretory signal according to SignalP analysis

[§]Other filarial ES proteomic studies include: A) Hewitson et al., 2008; B) Moreno and Geary, 2008; C) Bennuru et al., 2009. Proteins with no letter in this column were not identitifed in other studies.

Figure 3.4. Lack of evidence for the presence of *Wolbachia* in *Brugia* ES products. *Wolbachia* proteins were not identified by mass spectrometry so we examined *Brugia* ES products for the presence of *Wolbachia* by alternative approaches. (A) *B. malayi* ES products were subjected to SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis using a monoclonal antibody against WSP. Crude *Brugia* adult worm proteins were used as a positive control for the presence of *Wolbachia* as measured by the detection of WSP. (B) LECs were stimulated with *Brugia* ES products (diluted 1:10) for 0 and 15 min and lysed. 2.5 μ g of cell lysate was loaded in each lane and SDS-PAGE followed by western blot analysis was carried out for the presence of phosphorylated NF κ B. Multiple ES batches (ES 1 and ES 2) were used to stimulate the LECs and TNF α was used as a positive control to induce NF κ B phosphorylation. The western blot seen here is also representative for the HMEC cell line that was stimulated for 30 min with ES products.

Figure 3.4

A.



Anti-WSP



CHAPTER 4

LACK OF EVIDENCE FOR THE DIRECT ACTIVATION OF ENDOTHELIAL CELLS BY FILARIAL EXCRETORY-SECRETORY PRODUCTS

4.1 Abstract

Lymphangiectasia (dilation of the lymphatic vessel (LV)) is pathognomonic for lymphatic filariasis. In both infected humans and animal models of infection, lymphangiectasia is not restricted to the site of the worm nest, but is found along the infected vessel. These observations argue that soluble products secreted by the worm could be mediating this effect by activating the lymphatic endothelial cells (LEC) lining the vessel. Our preliminary work characterized the protein constituents of the filarial excretory-secretory products (ES) but the biological importance of these molecules remains undefined. Given the extent of LV dilation seen *in vivo*, we tested the ability of filarial ES products to activate LECs but we were not able to detect a direct effect of the ES products on the activation of LEC as assessed by a variety of approaches including cellular proliferation, cell surface molecule expression and cytokine and growth factor production (although other mediators used as positive controls did induce these effects). Collectively, these results do not support the hypothesis that ES products directly activate LECs.

4.2 Introduction

Lymphatic filariasis is a disabling disease transmitted by mosquitoes that infects more than 120 million people throughout the tropics. The infection is caused by filarial nematodes that reside in the lymphatic vasculature. There is a wide spectrum of host response phenotypes; infected individuals often appear to be asymptomatic whereas individuals with lymphedema/elephantiasis are predominantly antigen-negative. The factors responsible for the progression of disease from infection to clinical lymphedema remain elusive. Even though infected individuals appear asymptomatic, they exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia or dilated lymphatics (Freedman et al., 1994, 1995, Nutman and Kumaraswami, 2001). The parasite is thought to be responsible for alterations in the lymphatic endothelium since removal or killing of the worms reverses the dilation (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991, Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). Furthermore, lymphangiectasia is seen in SCID mice, arguing that the adaptive immune response is not responsible for the lymphatic pathology (Vincent et al., 1984, Nelson et al., 1991). Lymphatic dilation is greatest near the site of the worm nest but it is not restricted to the site of the worm nest and is found along the length of infected vessels suggesting that a soluble product secreted by the worm may be mediating these effects (Case et al., 1991, Amaral et al., 1994).

In animal models, the lymphatics of parasitized nude mice become highly tortuous with a cuboidal endothelial lining (Vickery et al., 1985). Microscopy of dilated lymphatics of *Brugia malayi*-infected ferrets showed that dilation was greatest near the worm nests with endothelial ballooning, swelling, scarring, thickened walls and valves and thrombus formation (Case et al., 1991). These findings also support the conclusion that the presence of living adult worms and their ES products alters LV tissue. Taken together, these observations suggest that LECs are the prime targets of parasite-derived factors which initiate the development of clinical pathology (Rao et al., 1996).

We and others have previously characterized the protein constituents making up the filarial ES products released by the worm (Chapter 3, Hewitson et al., 2008, Moreno and Geary 2008, Bennuru et al., 2009) but the biological effects of these molecules have not been fully elucidated. Given the altered pathology along the length of the infected vessel and intimate relationship between the parasite and the endothelial cells lining the LVs, worm ES products may be contributing to the pathogenesis of disease. Therefore, we examined the biological effects of filarial ES products on LECs. LECs were stimulated with filarial ES products and assayed for changes in differentiation, activation and proliferation. Changes in cell surface marker expression profiles, the presence of phosphorylated cell signaling molecules, gene expression and growth factor production were used to characterize the LEC response to worm ES products. Identifying the cellular activation events in LECs induced by worm ES products will provide a greater understanding of the potential mechanisms responsible for lymphangiectasia.

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Parasite Materials and Collection of ES Products

Brugia malayi adult female worms were collected from the peritoneal cavity of infected jirds, *Meriones unguiculatus*, that were obtained from the NIAID Filariasis Repository at the University of Georgia (Athens, GA). For the collection of ES products, 50 live adult female worms were cultured *in vitro* for 7 days at 37 C in 10mL serum-free RPMI 1640 media (GIBCO) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin). Supernatants were collected and fresh medium added daily. The microfilariae were resuspended in PBS and counted to ensure worm viability. Supernatants containing the ES products were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 min to remove the microfilariae and then

products were stored at 4 C until further use. Prior to cell stimulations with ES products, ES products were filtered using 0.45 μ m Millex-HA syringe filters (Millipore, Carrigtwohill, Co. Cork, Ireland) and used in a dose-dependent (diluted 1:10, 1:50, 1:100) manner across various replicates and batches to maintain reproducibility. All batches of ES products were tested for endotoxin activity using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate QCL-1000 assay (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) and ES products were only used at concentrations ≤ 0.1 eu/mL for cell stimulations.

4.3.2 Culture of ECs

Primary adult human dermal lymphatic microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC-dLy) (cat. CC-2810T25) were purchased from Lonza Clonetics (Walkersville, MD) and maintained in EGM-2MV Bulletkit media (cat. CC-3202) from Lonza Clonetics. Cells were cultured and split using the Clonetics Reagent Pack (cat. CC-5034). Cells were maintained according to manufacturer's instructions and used between passages 4 through 8. In addition, wellcharacterized cell lines such as the human dermal microvascular endothelial cell line, (HMEC-1; Ades et al., 1992), the human umbilical vein endothelial cell line (HUVEC) and the bovine endothelial cell line (BOVEC) were also used in parallel experiments. hTERT-HDLEC cells were also used; these cells are composed of primary human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMVEC) that were transfected with a retrovirus containing the coding region of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) to provide a primary lymphatic endothelial cell line (hTERT-HDLEC) with an extended lifespan (Nisato et al., 2004). HMEC-1, HUVEC and BOVEC cell lines were obtained from the CDC and maintained in EBM131 media containing endothelial basal media (MCDB131; GIBCO) supplemented with 15% FBS, 10 ng/ml epidermal growth factor, 1 µg/ml hydrocortisone, 90 µg/mL heparin, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin). For starvation experiments, cells were

cultured in MCDB131 media with L-glutamine and antibiotics. hTERT-HDLECs were maintained in the same EBM131 media as HMECs, but EndoGro (Vec Technologies, Rensselaer, NY) was added according to manufacturer's instructions. Cell lines were detached from flasks using 0.02% versene and 0.2% trypsin treatment.

4.3.3 Cellular Proliferation

Cells were seeded into a 96-well plate and allowed to adhere overnight. If cells were starved, cells were cultured in MCDB131 starvation media for 4 or 24 hours prior to stimulation in an array of different media and in the presence or absence of VEGF (1, 10 or 100 ng/mL) or ES products (diluted 1:10 to 1:250) for 72 hours. The cell types and culture conditions used to demonstrate EC proliferation are summarized in Table 4.1. Proliferation was assayed by adding 0.5 μ Ci [³H] thymidine/well and measuring the incorporation of tritiated thymidine over the last 8 or 16 hours of culture using a 1205 Betaplate liquid scintillation counter (Wallac, Perkin-Elmer, Waltham, MA).

4.3.4 Detection of NFkB Phosphorylation

LECs, HMECs or HUVECs were seeded in a 6-well plate in EGM-2MV or EBM131 media and grown until confluent. Cells were starved for 2.5 hours with MCDB131 media heated to 37 C. Cells were stimulated in the warmed media for 15 min (LECs in EGM-2MV; HUVECs in EGM131) and 30 min (HMEC in EGM131) and lysed with 25 μ L/mL 1M Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 50 μ L/mL 20% SDS, 925 μ L/mL H₂O, 200 μ g/mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1 μ g/mL leupeptin, 1 μ g/mL pepstatin A, 200 μ g/mL Pefabloc SC (Roche, Indianapolis, IN) and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail Set II (1:100; Calbiochem, La Jolla, CA).

Lysate protein concentrations were determined by BCA (Pierce); 2.5 µg (LEC) and 5 or 7.5 µg (HMEC) protein per lane was separated in a 12% SDS-PAGE gel and electrophoretically transferred onto Immobilon-P PVDF membranes (Millipore).

Throughout the western blotting, PBS plus 0.3% Tween was used in each step. Following transfer, the membranes were incubated overnight at 4 C with primary antibodies purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA) including rabbit anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK (1:300; cat. 4376S), rabbit anti-phospho-pAkt (1:300; cat. 4056), rabbit anti-phosphopNF κ B p105 (1:300; cat. 4884) or rabbit anti-p44/42 MAPK (1:300; cat. 9102), rabbit anti-Akt (1:300; cat. 9272), rabbit anti-NF κ B p105/p50 (1:300; cat. 3035) or mouse anti- α -tubulin (1:4000; cat. T6074; Sigma). The membranes were washed and incubated for 1 hour with HRPconjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:1000; cat. 7074; Cell Signaling Technology) or HRP-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG antibody (1:1000; cat. 12-349; Millipore), respectively. After a final washing, the bound conjugates were visualized by 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (Sigma) as the chromagenic substrate.

4.3.5 Cytokine and Growth Factor Production

LECs were plated in a 6-well plate at 3×10^5 cells per well in 1.5 mL EGM-2MV media and the monolayer was grown until confluent. LECs were then stimulated with or without 100ng/mL LPS, 10 ng/mL TNF α or ES diluted at 1:10 for 72 hours. Cell culture supernatants were collected and stored at -80 C until further use. Supernatants were analyzed for IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-13, IFN γ , TNF α and VEGF-A by luminex technology using the Bio-Plex Pro multiplex suspension array system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were analyzed by the Bio-Plex Manager software version 4.1.1 and concentrations were calculated based on a standard curve derived from recombinant cytokine standards. If the cytokine level in the sample was lower than the lowest value on the standard curve, which occurred in multiple stimulations, the lowest value of the standard curve was reported for that data point.

For the production of VEGF-C and VEGF-D, LECs were plated in a 24-well plate at 2.5×10^4 cells per well in 500 µL EGM-2MV media and allowed to adhere for 24 hours at which point the monolayer was also confluent. LECs were starved for 24 hours in MCDB131 media and then stimulated in 1.5 mL EGM-2MV media with or without 10 ng/mL TNF α or ES diluted at 1:10 for 72hrs. Cell culture supernatants were collected and stored at -80 C until further use. VEGF-C and VEGF-D production were analyzed by the Quantikine Immunoassay kits (R&D, Minneapolis, MN) as directed by the manufacturer. All cytokine and growth factor production experiments were carried out in triplicate.

4.3.6 Flow Cytometry

LECs, HMECs or HUVECs were grown to confluence in their appropriate media and either starved for 24 hours in MCDB131 or directly stimulated in the appropriate media with or without 100ng/mL LPS, 10ng/mL TNFα or ES (diluted at 1:10 and 1:50) for 24 hours. Cells were removed from the flask by trypsinization and stained for 30 min on ice in the dark according to manufacturers' direction using unconjugated rabbit anti-human VEGFR-3 (cat. 102-PA18AG; ReliaTech, Braunschweig, Germany), mouse anti-human podoplanin (cat. 101-M40; ReliaTech) and rabbit anti-human LYVE-1 (cat. 102-PA50S; ReliaTech) primary antibodies and followed by secondary staining using FITC-labeled goat anti-rabbit (cat. 554020; BD Pharmingen) and PE-labeled goat anti-mouse antibodies (cat. 550589; BD Pharmingen). Cells were also stained using primary antibodies purchased from BD Pharmingen including conjugated PE-Cy5-labeled anti-human ICAM-1 (cat. 555512), FITC-labeled anti-human VCAM-1 (cat.

551146) and PE-Cy5-labeled anti-human E-selectin (cat. 550040). Cell events were acquired and analyzed on a BD FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA).

4.4 Results

To model the intimate interaction between worm ES products and the LECs in filarial infection, an *in vitro* model system was established in which LECs were exposed to filarial ES products released by the parasite. Patients with active infection exhibit lymphangiectasia whereby LVs are dilated, but the mechanism causing this alteration is not known. The diameter of an infected LV is increased and this dilation could be a result of an increase in the number of LECs lining the lymphatic lumen, so we measured the proliferation of LECs stimulated with filarial ES products. To test this, decreasing concentrations (1:10 to 1:100) of ES products were added to LECs as well as the hTERT-HDLEC and HMEC-1 cell lines *in vitro* for various time periods and proliferation was compared to cells cultured in media alone. Under various starvation conditions and in the presence of a range of natural human or fetal bovine serum concentrations (1.25-10%) in multiple EC media (including EGM-2MV, EBM131 and basal MCDB131), we were never able to detect reproducible LEC proliferation in response to worm ES products; a representative experiment using LECs is shown in Figure 4.1.

When we did not detect increased rates of EC proliferation in response to worm ES products, we examined the ECs for earlier activation events such as the phosphorylation of cell signaling molecules. ECs including LECs, HMECs and HUVECs were stimulated with or without ES (1:10) or TNF α and the phophorylation of NF κ B, Akt and MAPK ERK1/2 was compared to cells cultured in media alone at the same time points. Previous experiments established optimal time points for detection of the phosphorylated molecules in response to TNF α but we were not able to detect reproducible phosphorylation of either NF κ B or Akt in

response to worm ES products. We did detect the phosphorylation of the MAPK ERK1/2 p44/42 subunit in response to worm ES products but this was a transient response that was never associated in our analyses with any downstream effects. However, the positive control TNF α did induce the phosphorylation of NF κ B (Chapter 3; Fig. 3.4B), Akt and MAPK ERK1/2 (data not shown).

Cytokine and growth factor production by LECs in response to worm ES products as well as LPS and/or TNF α were also assessed in parallel with the phosphorylation studies to identify any downstream cellular activation events that might be associated with the phosphorylation of cell signaling molecules. After 72 hours of culture, IL-1 β , IL-6, IFN γ and TNF α production were only detected in supernatants from LECs stimulated with LPS but not ES or TNF α ; IL-8 production was similar for all experimental parameters (Fig. 4.2). Low concentrations of IL-2, IL-12, and IL-13 were detected at similar levels in cells stimulated with or without ES 1:10, LPS or TNF α compared to cells cultured in media alone (data not shown). Furthermore, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 production by LECs were below the detection limits of the luminex assay regardless of stimulus (data not shown). For growth factor production, similar levels of VEGF-C and VEGF-D were detected in both stimulated and unstimulated LEC supernatants after 72 hours (Fig. 4.3) and VEGF production was below the limits of detection by the luminex assay (data not shown).

Endothelial cells were also examined for changes in the expression of cell surface molecules in response to filarial ES products. ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 are adhesion molecules known to be expressed on the surface of blood vascular endothelial cells and up-regulated in response to inflammatory stimuli; therefore, we measured the expression of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 on LECs as well as HMECs and HUVECs that were stimulated with worm ES

products for 24 hours. We did not detect an up-regulation of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression in any of the ECs tested in response to worm ES but we did detect an up-regulation of these adhesion molecules in response to $TNF\alpha$ (Fig. 4.4).

We also analyzed LECs for changes in LEC-specific surface marker expression by flow cytometry. The LEC-specific surface markers examined are summarized in Table 4.2. We did not detect and up-regulation of LYVE-1, podoplanin or VEGFR-3 surface expression on LECs that were stimulated with worm ES products or TNF α compared with the LECs cultured in media alone (data not shown).

4.5 Discussion

Our preliminary work focused on characterizing the constituents of ES products by identifying parasite proteins by LC-MS and by testing the effects of *Brugia* ES products on the direct activation of LECs. Since lymphangiectasia in microfilaremic individuals is not restricted to the site of the worm nest, soluble parasite factors may be mediating the effect *in vivo*. We originally hypothesized that the ES products of the worms were activating the lymphatic endothelium; however, we were not able to detect a direct effect of the ES products on the activation of LECs as summarized in Table 4.3. We considered that the lymphangiectasia could be due to an increase in the rate of LEC proliferation, but we did not see increased proliferation of these cells in repeated assays. In addition, the LECs did not appear to be stimulated by ES products as assessed by expression of cell surface molecules or in regard to their production of growth factors or cytokines. The positive controls in these assays induced the expected responses, so the cells were viable and capable of being activated; however, the filarial ES products did not induce detectable responses.

Some authors have proposed that lymphatic filarial parasites induce endothelial and connective tissue proliferation in vivo which in turn causes the thickening of the endothelium (von Lichtenberg, 1987, Buck, 1991). The cuboidal ECs seen in B. malavi-infected nude mice suggest that a multiplication of LECs may also contribute to lymphangiectasia (Vickery et al., 1985). However, this phenomenon could not be reproduced *in vitro* with human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Rao et al., 1996). With such contradicting results in the literature between *in* vivo and in vitro studies, we repeated these in vitro experiments with LECs, but we were still not able to detect an increase in EC proliferation in response to worm ES products under the culture conditions that we employed. In our hands, we were not able to demonstrate reproducible LEC proliferation in response to the positive control VEGF. The lack of a robust in vitro proliferation response to VEGF is not uncommon and many responses only exhibit <50% increase over ECs stimulated in media alone (Hirakawa et al., 2003, Hu et al., 2006, Shin et al., 2008). In general and in our cultures, the lack of LEC proliferation is most likely related to the stringency of the culture conditions required for cell growth. However, Bennuru and Nutman demonstrated microfilariae-induced LEC differentiation as measured by tubule formation suggesting further investigation needs to address the potential role of microfilariae in altering lymphatic pathology (2009). Taken together, these data suggest that EC proliferation under these culture conditions does not result from direct exposure to adult female worm ES products; however, EC proliferation may require unidentified culture conditions, other parasite stages or involve other factors, such as accessory host cells or host-derived products. The involvement of host-derived products mediating lymphangiectasia is supported by the observation that serum from infected individuals can induce LEC proliferation (Bennuru and Nutman, 2009).

Even though we did not identify a reproducible activation event induced by worm ES, we did demonstrate robust responses of LECs to the positive controls, TNF α and LPS, in multiple experiments. At the beginning of this study the appropriate positive controls and relevant concentrations suitable for LEC stimulation *in vitro* had not previously been reported. Here, we report that both TNF α and LPS are capable of stimulating LECs to activate cell signaling events, up-regulate cell surface adhesion molecules and induce growth factor and cytokine production. Since then, others have confirmed our findings; TNF α (10 ng/mL) was shown to increase ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 expression on LECs by flow cytometry (Sawa et al., 2007) and TNF α has also been reported to enhance ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 transcript levels (Pegu et al., 2008). In our hands LPS (100 ng/mL) induced the production of IL-1 β , IL-6 and TNF α by LECs compared to unstimulated LECs (Fig. 4.2) and these results were later confirmed by Pegu et al. (2008). Collectively, these data argue that even though we did not detect an ES-induced activation event in LECs, our cells were viable and we had established the appropriate positive controls to induce and detect optimum responses.

In conclusion, we were not able to demonstrate a direct activation of LECs by filarial ES products. The lack of evidence for a direct activation event may be explained by the limitations of an *in vitro* culture model system. Given the longevity of filarial infections, worms can exist in LVs for years where they release soluble factors that may gradually alter the lymphatic endothelium. In our *in vitro* cultures, we were only carried out the LEC-stimulations with ES products for 72 hours; this may not be enough time to recreate the effects seen in infected vessels. The negative results may also suggest that a more complicated network is established between the parasite and the host.

These data lead to the hypothesis that LECs are not directly activated by worm ES products, but

may be indirectly activated through an accessory cell type that may lead to the activation of the

lymphatic endothelium.

4.6 References

Ades, E.W., F.J. Candal, R.A. Swerlick, V.G. George, S. Summers, D.C. Bosse, T.J. Lawley. 1992. HMEC-1: Establishment of an immortalized human microvascular endothelial cell line. J Invest Dermatol. 99:683-90.

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Banerji, S., J. Ni, S. Wang, S. Clasper, J. Su, R. Tammi, M. Jones, D. Jackson. 1999. LYVE-1, a new homologue of the CD44 glycoprotein, is a lymph-specific receptor for hyaluronan. J Cell Biol 144:789-801.

Bennuru, S., and T.B. Nutman. 2009. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic remodeling induced by filarial parasites: implications for pathogenesis. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000688.

Bennuru, S., R. Semnani, Z. Meng, J.M.C. Ribeiro, T.D. Veenstra, T.B. Nutman. 2009. *Brugia malayi* excreted/secreted proteins at the host/parasite interface: stage- and gender-specific proteomic profiling. PLoS NTDs 3:e410.

Breiteneder-Geleff, S., A. Soleiman, H. Kowalski, R. Horvat, G. Amann, E. Kriehuber, K. Diem, W. Weninger, E. Tschachler, K. Alitalo, D. Kerjaschki. 1999. Angiosarcomas express mixed endothelial phenotypes of blood and lymphatic capillaries: podoplanin as a specific marker for lymphatic endothelium. Am J Pathol 154:385-94.

Buck, A., V.I. 1991. Part. Helminthic infections, section B, filarial infections: Hunter's tropical medicine. 7 ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders Co. 711-49.

Case, T., B. Leis, M. Witte, D. Way, M. Bernas, P. Borgs, C. Crandall, R. Crandall, R. Nagle, S. Jamal. 1991. Vascular abnormalities in experimental and human lymphatic filariasis. Lymphology 24:174-83.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh, C.M. Maia e Silva, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1994. Lymphoscintigraphic analysis of lymphatic abnormalities in symptomatic and asymptomatic human filariasis. J Infect Dis 170:927-33.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh. 1995. Abnormal lymphatic function in presymptomatic bancroftian filariasis. J Infect Dis 171:997-1001.

Hewitson, J.P., Y.M. Harcus, R.S. Curwen, A.A. Dowle, A.K. Atmadja, P.D. Ashton, A. Wilson, R.M. Maizels. 2008. The secretome of the filarial parasite, *Brugia malayi*: proteomic profile of adult excretory-secretory products. Molec Biochem Parastiol 160:8-21.

Hirakawa, S., Y. Hong, N. Harvey, V. Schacht, K. Matsuda, T. Libermann, M. Detmar. 2003. Identification of vascular lineage-specific genes bu transcriptional profiling of isolated blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells. Am J Pathol 162:575-86.

Hong, Y., J. Shin, M. Detmar. 2004. Development of the lymphatic vascular system: a mystery unravels. Developmental Dynamics 231:462-73.

Hu, X., Z. Jiang, N. Liu. 2006. A novel approach for harvesting lymphatic endothelial cells from human foreskin dermis. Lymphatic Res Biol 4:191-7.

Kaipainen, A., J. Korhonen, T. Mustonen, V.W. van Hinsbergh, G.H. Fang, D. Dumont, M. Breitman, K. Alitalo. 1995. Expression of the fms-like tyrosine kinase 4 gene becomes restricted to lymphatic endothelium during development. PNAS 92:3566-70.

Kriehuber, E., S. Breiteneder-Geleff, M. Groeger, A. Soleiman, S. Schoppmann, G. Stingl, D. Kerjaschki, D. Maurer. 2001. Isolation and characterization of dermal lymphatic and blood endothelial cells reveal stable and functionally specialized cell lineages. J Exp Med 194:797-808.

Moreno, Y. and T.G. Geary. 2008. Stage- and gender-specific proteomic analysis of *Brugia malayi* excretory-secretory products. PLoS NTDs 2:e326.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Nisato, R., J. Harrison, R. Buser, L. Orci, C. Rinsch, R. Montesano, P. Dupraz, M. Pepper. 2004. Generation and characterization of telomerase-transfected human lymphatic endothelial cells with an extended life span. Am J Pathol 165:11-24.

Nutman, T. and V. Kumaraswami. 2001. Regulation of the immune response in lymphatic filariasis: perspectives on acute and chronic infection with *Wuchereria bancrofti* in South India. Parasite Immunol 23:389-99.

Pegu, A., S. Qin, B.A.F. Junecko, R.E. Nisato, M.S. Pepper, T.A. Reinhart. 2008. Human lymphatic endothelial cells express multiple functional TLRs. J Immunol 180:3399-405.

Petrova, T., T. Mäkinen, T. Mäkelä, J. Saarela, I. Virtanen, R. Ferrell, D. Finegold, D. Kerjaschki, S. Ylä-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2002. Lymphatic endothelial reprogramming of vascular endothelial cells by the Prox-1 homeobox transcription factor. EMBO J 21:4600-11.

Rao, U., C.S. Zometa, A.C. Vickery, B.H. Kwa, J.K. Nayar, E.T. Sutton. 1996. Effect of *Brugia malayi* on the growth and proliferation of endothelial cells *in vitro*. J Parasitol 82:550-6.

Sawa, Y., Y. Sugimoto, T. Ueki, H. Ishikawa, A. Sato, T. Nagato, S. Yoshida. 2007. Effects of TNF- α on leukocyte adhesion molecule expressions in cultured human lymphatic endothelium. J Histochem Cytochem 55:721-33.

Schacht, V., M. Ramirez, Y. Hong, S. Hirakawa, D. Feng, N. Harvey, M. Williams, A. Dvorak, H. Dvorak, G. Oliver, M. Detmar. 2003. T1 α /podoplanin deficiency disrupts normal lymphatic vasculature formation and causes lymphedema. EMBO J 22:3546-56.

Shin, J.W., R. Huggenberger, M. Detmar. 2008. Transcriptional profiling of VEGF-A and VEGF-C target genes in lymphatic endothelium reveals endothelial-specific molecule-1 as a novel mediator of lymphangiogenesis. Blood 112:2318-26.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals Trop Med Parasitol 103:235-47.

Veikkola, T., L. Jussila, T. Makinen, T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, H. Kubo, G. Thurston, D.M. McDonald, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K. Alitalo. 2001. Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. EMBO J 20:1223–31.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., J.K. Nayar, K.H. Albertine. 1985. Differential pathogenicity of *Brugia malayi*, *B. patei* and *B. pahangi* in immunodeficient nude mice. Acta Trop 42:353-63.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Tropica 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of *Brugia pahangi* in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

von Lichtenberg, F. 1957. The early phase of endemic bancroftian filariasis in the male, Pathological study, J Mt Sinai Hosp 24:983-1000.

Wetterwald, A., W. Hofstetter, M. Cecchini, B. Lanske, C. Wagner, H. Fleisch, M. Atkinson. 1996. Characterization and cloning of the E11 antigen, a marker expressed by rat osteoblasts and osteocytes. Bone 18:125-32.

4.7 Figures and Tables

Table 4.1. In virio cen culture conditions for EC prometation experiments					
Cell type	Media used for 72 hour	Cell No. (range)	Serum (range)	Starvation time in MCDB131	
	stimulation			(serum-free)	
BOVEC	EBM131 or MCDB131	$4x10^{3}-2x10^{4}$	0 or 15% FBS	24 hours	
HMEC	EBM131 or MCDB131	$4x10^{3}-2x10^{4}$	0 or 15% FBS	No starvation; 4 or 24 hour starvation	
hTERT-HDLEC	EBM131 + EndoGro	1×10^{4}	15% FBS	No starvation	
LEC	MCDB131 or EGM-2MV	2x10 ³ -5x10 ⁴	1.25-10% and 15% FBS 1.25-10% NHS	No starvation; 4 or 24 hour starvation	

Table 4.1. *In vitro* cell culture conditions for EC proliferation experiments

Figure 4.1. Proliferation of LECs in response to filarial ES products. 5x10⁴ LECs were plated in a 96 well plate in EBM-2MV and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. Cells were starved for 24 hours in MCBD media and then stimulated with or without VEGF (10 ng/mL) or a dilution series of filarial ES products from 1:10 to 1:100 in MCDB media containing 5% NHS for 72 hours. Thymidine incorporation was measured. Data seen here is one representative LEC proliferation experiment. Various cell lines, cell numbers, starvation conditions, media types and serum types were utilized for optimization of this assay but we never detected reproducible proliferation rates in response to ES products.

Figure 4.1



Figure 4.2. Cytokine production by LECs in response to filarial ES products. $3x10^5$ LECs were plated in EGM-2MV media and allowed to come to confluence. Cells were then stimulated in EGM-2MV media with or without ES (1:10), LPS (100 ng/mL) or TNF α (10 ng/mL) for 72 hrs and supernatants were harvested and assessed for cytokine production including IL-1 β (A), TNF α (B), IL-8 (C), IL-6 (D) and IFN γ (E) by luminex bead technology. Experiments were completed in triplicate and this figure includes representative data from one experiment.





Figure 4.3. Growth factor production by LECs in response to filarial ES products. $2x10^4$ LECs were plated in EGM-2MV media and allowed to adhere for 24 hours. Cells were then starved for 24 hours in MCDB-131 media prior to stimulation for 24 hours in EGM-2MV media with or without ES (1:10) or TNF α (10 ng/mL). Supernatants were harvested and assessed for growth factor production including VEGF-C (A) and VEGF-D (B) by ELISA. Experiments were completed in triplicate and this figure includes representative data from one experiment.

Figure 4.3



Figure 4.4. Surface expression of adhesion molecules in response to worm ES products. LECs were grown to confluence in EGM-2MV media then cells were stimulated for 24 hours in EGM-2MV media with or without ES (1:10) or TNF α (10 ng/mL). LECs were harvested and subjected to flow cytometry analysis for the expression of ICAM-1 or VCAM-1. This figure includes representative data from one experiment.





LEC surface molecule	Description & function
LYVE-1	lymphatic endothelial receptor for the ECM/lymphatic fluid glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (Banerji et al., 1999, Nisato et al., 2004)
Podoplanin	glomerular podocyte transmembrane mucoprotein playing a role in LEC migration, adhesion and tube formation (Wetterwald et al., 1996, Breiteneder-Geleff et al., 1999, Kriehuber et al., 2001, Petrova et al., 2002, Hirakawa et al., 2003, Schacht et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2004, Nisato et al., 2004)
VEGFR-3	transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor for VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Kaipainen et al., 1995, Nisato et al., 2004); murine mutation embryonically lethal, but skin-specific overexpression of VEGFR-3 in transgenic mice is sufficient to promote lymphangiogenesis or the development of new lymph vessels (Veikkola et al., 2001)
CD106 (VCAM-1)	adhesion molecule that binds the integrin VLA-4
CD54 (ICAM-1)	adhesion molecule that binds the integrin LFA-1
CD62E (E-selectin)	adhesion molecule that binds sialyated Lewis X and related glycans on glycoproteins

 Table 4.2. Summary of lymphatic endothelial cell surface molecules
Activation Event	Measurement	Cell Type
Proliferation	Thymidine incorporation	HMEC, hTERT-hdLEC ^c , BOVEC or LEC
Cell signaling	Western blot for: MAPK ERK1/2, Akt, NFKB	HMEC, HUVEC, LEC ^d
Cell surface molecule expression ^{a,b}	Flow cytometry for: ICAM-1, VCAM-1, E- selectin, VEGFR-3, LYVE-1, podoplanin or Prox-1	HMEC, HUVEC (VCAM-1 only) or LEC
Growth factor production ^{a,b}	ELISA for: VEGF (VEGF-A), VEGF-C or VEGF-D	HMEC or LEC
Cytokine production ^{a,b}	Bioplex for: IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL- 8, IL-10, IL-12p, IL-13, IFNγ, TNFα	LEC

Table 4.3. Incubation of LECs with *Brugia* ES fails to induce cellular activation as measured by a variety of parameters.

^aLPS (100 ng/ml) used as a positive control; ^bTNF α (10 ng/mL) used as a positive control; ^chTERT-hdLEC (Nisato et al., 2004); ^dPhosphorylation of MAPK observed in LECs but not other cell types.

CHAPTER 5

MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS¹

¹Weinkopff, T., R. Eversole, C. Mackenzie, P. Lammie. 2010. To be submitted to *The American Journal of Pathology*.

5.1 Abstract

Lymphatic filariasis is caused by the parasitic nematodes Wuchereria bancrofti and Brugia malayi which infect over 120 million people worldwide. Most microfilariapositive (Mf+) individuals appear asymptomatic, but exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia. We hypothesized that the excretory-secretory products (ES) of the worms activate the lymphatic endothelium, but initial experiments suggested that the ES did not directly activate lymphatic endothelial cells (LEC). Monocytes have been shown to play a role in lymphangiogenesis by secreting soluble factors; so we hypothesized that monocytes were involved in filarial lymphatic pathology. We analyzed the production of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from naïve donors following stimulation with filarial ES as these factors can support endothelial proliferation and function. ES-stimulated PBMCs produced significantly increased levels of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A compared to cells cultured in medium alone. CD14+ monocytes appear to be the primary producers of IL-8 and VEGF-A, but not IL-6. Furthermore, IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A induced in vitro tubule formation in LEC Matrigel cultures. Matrigel plugs that incorporated IL-8, IL-6 or VEGF-A were implanted *in vivo* and stimulated lymphangiogenesis. Collectively, these data support the hypothesis that monocytes may modulate lymphatic function through the secretion of soluble factors to encourage vessel growth and when exposed to ES products may contribute to the pathogenesis of filarial disease.

5.2 Introduction

The lymphatic system consists of a series of vessels that are lined by endothelial cells and transport fluids. The lymphatics serve several functions including immune

surveillance and fat absorption, but their primary function is to drain excess interstitial fluids to prevent tissue swelling. Blood flows through capillaries and into adjacent tissues and then exits through veins; however, about 10% of the fluid filtered by the capillaries gets caught in the tissues. About 3 liters of fluid per day remain in the tissues and without proper drainage and transport to the circulatory system by the lymphatic system, this fluid accumulation could be life-threatening (Tortora and Grabowski, 2003).

Lymphangiectasia is a condition in which lymphatic vessels are dilated and this pathology is often associated with the development of lymphedema. As lymphatic vessels become dilated, lymphatic fluid becomes stagnant and leaks back into the surrounding interstitium. Lymphatic dilation may result from a variety of causes including genetic mutations in FOXC2 or VEGFR-3, trauma and cancer-related treatments such as lymphadenectomy, but most of the lymphatic pathology seen worldwide is associated with the filarial worm parasites, *Wuchereria bancrofti* and *Brugia malayi*.

An estimated 120 million people worldwide are infected by filarial parasites (Ottesen et al., 1997). The adult worms reside in lymphatic vessels of the human host where they release a smaller microfilariae stage that is transmitted to mosquitoes. Lymphatic filariasis is an infection with varying degrees of clinical pathology. Individuals can exhibit overt clinical symptoms such as lymphedema and hydrocele or asymptomatic microfilaremia. Asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals do not appear to display any clinical manifestations, but they do present with hidden subclinical complications (Ottesen et al., 1997, Nutman and Kumaraswami, 2001) such as dilated and tortuous lymphatics (Freedman et al., 1994, 1995) and scrotal lymphangiectasia in

men (Noroes et al., 1996a, 1996b). Ultrasonographic examination of the scrotal region of 14 asymptomatic Brazilians revealed that 50% of microfilaremic individuals demonstrated lymphatic dilation and tortuosity (Amaral et al., 1994). In microfilaremic individuals, abnormal lymphatics are present in 69% of limbs by static lymphoscintigraphy and in 100% of limbs by dynamic flow lymphoscintigraphy, which are sensitive indicators of lymphatic dysfunction (Freedman et al., 1994, 1995; Dissanayake et al., 1995). In addition, studies on superficial skin punch biopsies have revealed that 78% and 68% of limbs from patients with clinical pathology and asymptomatic microfilaremia, respectively, contained lymphatic vessels that were abnormally dilated (Freedman et al., 1995, 1998). More recently, it was also demonstrated that children as young as three years of age can present with lymphangiectasia as measured by lymphoscintigraphy suggesting subclinical pathology can occur at a very early age (Shenoy et al., 2008).

The causes for the lymphatic dilation in filarial-infected individuals remain unknown but lymphangiectasia is seen in SCID mice infected with *Brugia* suggesting that the worm and/or innate mechanisms, and not the host's adaptive immune system, are involved in the development of lymphatic dilation (Vincent et al., 1984, Nelson et al., 1991). Furthermore, the dilation can be reversed in nude mice by removing or killing the adult worms (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991). Importantly, in children, Shenoy et al. showed a reduction in lymphatic dilation occurred after worm death induced by DEC treatment (Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). Lymphangiectasia is not restricted to the site of the worm nest, but is found along the length of the infected vessel (Amaral et al., 1994) arguing that a soluble factor secreted by the worm, that can travel the length of the vessel, is

responsible for the altered lymphatic pathology. Microscopy of dilated lymphatics of *B*. *malayi*-infected ferrets showed that dilation was greatest near the worm nests (Case et al., 1991) supporting the conclusion that the presence of living adult worms and their ES products is associated with the alteration of the lymphatic vasculature.

The molecular mechanisms associated with the induction of lymphatic disease are being characterized. The molecules involved in the proliferation and maintenance of endothelial cells (EC) are a family of growth factors known as the vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) as well as cytokines such as IL-3, IL-6, IL-7 and IL-8 (Koch et al., 1992, Brizzi et al., 1993, Holzinger et al., 1993, Al-Rawi et al., 2005, Dentelli et al., 1999, Li et al., 2003, Yao et al., 2006, Adams and Alitalo, 2007). Molecules such as VEGF-A, VEGF-C and VEGF-D and their VEGF receptors, like VEGFR-3 which binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D and VEGFR-2 which can bind VEGF-A, VEGF-C and VEGF-D, have all been shown to support LEC proliferation, migration, survival and tubule formation; therefore, these molecules are potent regulators of lymphangiogenesis (Joukov et al., 1996, 1997, Lee et al., 1996, Jeltsch et al., 1997, Oh et al., 1997, Achen et al., 1998, Enholm et al., 2001, Makinen et al., 2001a, 2001b, Veikkola et al., 2001, Byzova et al., 2002, Kubo et al., 2002, Nagy et al., 2002, Podgrabinska et al., 2002, Rissanen et al., 2003, Nisato et al., 2004, Hirakawa et al., 2005, Wuest and Carr, 2010). Debrah et al. showed that plasma levels of the lymphangiogenic factor VEGF-C are significantly elevated in infected individuals as well as individuals with filarial lymphedema (2006). Elevated plasma levels of VEGF-A were also seen in individuals with hydrocele (Debrah et al., 2007).

Furthermore, human infection with the filarid, *Onchocerca volvulus*, induced lymphangiogenesis and this neovascularization of the nodule was associated with the expression of lymphangiogenic molecules such as VEGF-C (Attout et al., 2009).

Monocytes/macrophages appear to be the predominant producers of the VEGFs and the presence of monocytes/macrophages has been correlated with lymphangiogenesis (Cursiefen et al., 2004, Maruyama et al., 2005). These cells can play two major roles in the formation of new lymphatic vessels: they can produce lymphangiogenic molecules which support the expansion of the lymphatic vasculature or they can transdifferentiate into LEC themselves and integrate into the lymphatic network (Maruyama et al., 2005). In human onchocerca nodules, some mononuclear cells expressed both the macrophage marker, MAC-1, and the lymphatic-specific marker, LYVE-1, and these double-positive cells were integrated into the lymphatic endothelium (Attout et al., 2009).

Given the potential role of VEGFs and cytokines in the lymphangiectasia seen in filarial-infected individuals, we wanted to determine the ability of the worm ES products to induce the production of such lymphangiogenic molecules by host peripheral blood cells. We also wanted to identify the cell type responsible for the production of these lymphangiogenic molecules. Our results indicate that worm ES products can induce the production of VEGF-A as well as IL-8 and IL-6 and that CD14+ monocytes are the primary producers of both VEGF-A and IL-8. In addition, LEC tubule formation *in vitro* and *in vivo* was stimulated by VEGF-A, IL-6 and IL-8 compared to media alone. These data suggest that worm ES products are able to induce the production of lymphangiogenic molecules and that these molecules can influence the characteristics and behavior of LEC.

5.3 Materials and Methods

5.3.1 Parasite Materials and Collection of ES Products

Brugia malayi adult female worms were collected from the peritoneal cavity of infected jirds, Meriones unguiculatus, that were obtained from the NIAID Filariasis Repository at the University of Georgia (Athens, GA). For the collection of ES products, 50 live adult female worms were cultured *in vitro* for 7 days at 37 C in 10mL serum-free RPMI 1640 media (GIBCO) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin). Supernatants were collected and fresh medium added daily. The microfilariae were resuspended in PBS and counted to ensure worm viability. Supernatants containing the ES products were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 min to remove the microfilariae and then concentrated with a Centricon filter (Millipore, Bedford, MA) to a volume of $\sim 300 \,\mu$ L. This process resulted in $\sim 670 \,\text{ng/mL}$ or 201ng of worm protein. ES products were stored at 4 C until further use. Male worms were not used because they do not secrete the same quantity of protein material as females. Prior to cell stimulations with ES products, ES products were filtered using 0.45 μm Millex-HA syringe filters (Millipore, Carrigtwohill, Co. Cork, Ireland) and used in a dose-dependent (diluted at 1:10, 1:50) manner across various replicates and batches. A batch is defined as a specimen containing the concentrated ES products from 50 female worms over one week pooled together. All batches of ES products were tested for endotoxin activity using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate QCL-1000 assay (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) and ES products were only used at concentrations ≤ 0.1 eu/mL for cell stimulations.

5.3.2 Isolation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells

Human PBMCs were isolated using lymphocyte separation media (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH) as directed by the manufacturer. In brief, blood was collected from normal healthy donors by venipuncture in 10mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) Vacutainer tubes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ), centrifuged for 10 min at 1000 x g at 4 C and the buffy coat was removed, resuspended in 2 mL RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% FBS (Atlas Biologicals, Fort Collins, CO), 2 mM Lglutamine and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin) and layered over 3 mL lymphocyte separation media. Cells were centrifuged for 30 min at 1000 x g at 4 C, the buffy coat was removed, washed and cells were counted using a hemacytometer.

5.3.3 Isolation of CD14+ Monocytes

Human CD14+ monocytes were enriched from PBMCs using CD14+ MACS technology (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, CA) as directed by manufacturer. Briefly, PBMCs were resuspended in MACS column buffer, CD14+ MicroBeads were added and incubated with the cells for 15 min on ice. Cells were washed twice in column buffer and loaded onto the MACS MS separation column for positive selection. Trapped CD14+ cells were eluted from the column and the CD14+ monocyte isolation was confirmed by flow cytometry using mouse anti-human CD14+ PE (BD Pharmingen, San Jose, CA) and CD14+ cells were routinely enriched >94-98%.

5.3.4 Culture of LECs

Human dermal lymphatic microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC-dLy) were purchased from Clonetics (Lonza) and maintained in EBM-2 basal media supplemented with EGM-2 MV SingleQuots (Lonza) according to manufacturer's instructions. Cells were used from passage 4-8.

5.3.5 Production of Lymphangiogenic Factors by PBMCs and CD14+ Monocytes

Cells were plated at 1×10^6 PBMCs or 5×10^5 CD14+ cells in 500 µL RPMI 1640 media (GIBCO) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics and stimulated with or without 100ng/mL LPS or ES diluted at 1:10, 1:50 for 72hrs. Cell culture supernatants were collected and analyzed for IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8 and VEGF-A by luminex technology using the Bio-Plex Pro multiplex suspension array system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In short, cell culture supernatants were incubated with fluorescently-labeled coupled magnetic beads for 30 min at room temperature (RT) on a shaker in a 96 well filter plate. Magnetic beads were washed 3 times and incubated with a multiplex mixture of the detection antibodies for 30 min at RT on a shaker. The beads were washed 3 times and incubated with streptavidin-PE for 10 min at RT on a shaker. The beads were washed 3 more times, resuspended in 125 μ L of assay buffer, shaken and the plate was read using low PMT voltage settings. Data were analyzed by the Bio-Plex Manager software version 4.1.1 and concentrations were calculated based on a standard curve derived from a recombinant cytokine standard. If the cytokine level in the sample was higher than the highest value on the standard curve, which occurred in many of the LPS stimulations, the highest value of the standard curve was reported for that data point. All samples were stimulated in parallel with ES

products diluted at 1:10 and 1:50, but only results from the ES concentration which generated optimal stimulation were reported. VEGF-C and VEGF-D production were analyzed by the Quantikine Immunoassay kits (R&D) as directed by the manufacturer.

5.3.6 Flow Cytometry of PBMCs and CD14+ Cells for Lymphatic-specific Surface Molecules

Cells were plated at 1x10⁶ PBMCs or 5x10⁵ CD14+ cells in 500 µL RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics and stimulated with or without 100ng/mL LPS or ES (diluted at 1:10 and 1:50) for 72 hrs. Cells were stained for 30 min on ice in the dark according to manufacturers' direction using unconjugated rabbit anti-human VEGFR-3 (cat. 102-PA18AG; ReliaTech, Braunschweig, Germany), rabbit anti-human VEGR-2 (cat. 102-PA22AG; ReliaTech), mouse anti-human podoplanin (cat. 101-M40; ReliaTech) and rabbit anti-human LYVE-1 (cat. 102-PA50S; ReliaTech) primary antibodies and followed by secondary staining using FITC-labeled goat anti-rabbit (cat. 554020; BD Pharmingen) and PE-labeled goat anti-mouse (cat. 550589; BD Pharmingen). Cell events were acquired on a BD FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and analyzed with FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, Oregon). Cells stained with only the secondary antibody determined the thresholds for non-specific staining.

For the expression of VEGFR-3 on CD14+ cells isolated by MACS technology, cells were stained with primary antibodies rabbit anti-human VEGFR-3 (ReliaTech) and mouse anti-human CD14+ PE (BD Pharmingen) and followed by secondary staining with FITC-labeled goat anti-rabbit (BD Pharmingen). For the analysis we gated on the VEGFR-3+ cells in the CD14+^{hi} population.

5.3.7 In vitro Matrigel Tubule Formation by LEC

LEC were released from the flask by gentle trypsinization (Lonza), washed, counted and 1×10^5 LEC were stimulated in 200 µL EGM-2 MV SingleQuot media devoid of VEGF and spiked with 10 ng/mL IL-6 (R&D, Minneapolis, MN), 10 ng/mL IL-8 (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) or 1 ng/mL VEGF-A (R&D) for 10 min at 37 C before seeding. Cells were plated onto 100 µL Growth Factor-reduced Matrigel Matrix (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA) which was used to coat a 24 well plate using the thin gel method in the manufacturer's instructions. After 24 hours, 5 randomized fields per well were photographed at 5x magnification on a Zeiss AxioVert 200M microscope (Carl Zeiss, Thornwood, NY). The images were opened and analyzed in AxioVision release 4.7.2. At a scaling ratio of 1:1 image analysis was performed; the total number of tubules was counted and the length of each tubule measured. Experiments were carried out in triplicate and representative data from one of four experiments is presented.

5.3.8 In vivo Matrigel Tubule Formation Assay

Rat carrier-free recombinant proteins including IL-8 (cat. 515-CN/CF), IL-6 (506-RL/CF), VEGF164 (564-RV/CF) were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MI). Growth factor reduced Matrigel (cat 354230; BD Biosciences) was injected into August rats with or without 10ng/mL IL-8, 10ng/mL IL-6 or 10ng/mL VEGF-A as directed by the manufacturer. For the injections of the recombinant proteins, 3024 μ L of liquid Matrigel was mixed with 576 μ L of the recombinant rat lymphangiogenic proteins yielding a final concentration of 10 ng/mL for each protein; therefore, each animal received 80 μ L of the recombinant rat lymphangiogenic factor in a 0.5 mL injection. In addition, we collected supernatants from PBMCs stimulated with or without worm ES

products (1:10) as previously mentioned. Supernatants from 5 different individuals were pooled and 576 μ L of the pooled supernatants was mixed with 3024 μ L of liquid Matrigel and 0.5 mL of this mix was injected into each rat (Carmi et al., 2009). These supernatants were analyzed by luminex bead technology using the Bio-Plex 8-plex kit (IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, GM-CSF, IFN γ , TNF α) as well as IL-5, IL-13 and VEGF (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions as described above. There were 6 rats per group and each rat was injected s.c. into the dorsal intrascapular space of the animal. Regardless of Matrigel dilution with either recombinant proteins or PBMC supernatants, the Matrigel concentration was kept constant across all parameters and animals at 6.64 mg/mL. The Matrigel plugs were excised on day 10.

5.3.9 Immunohistochemistry

Specimens were processed, embedded in paraffin and sectioned on a rotary microtome at 4-5 µm. Sections were placed on slides coated with 2% 3aminopropyltriethoxysilane and dried at 56 C overnight. The slides were subsequently deparaffinized in xylene and hydrated through descending grades of ethyl alcohol to distilled water. Slides were placed in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) pH 7.4 (Scytek Labs, Logan, UT) for 5 minutes for pH adjustment. Following TBS, podoplanin and IgG control slides underwent heat-induced epitope retrieval utilizing citrate buffer pH 6.0 (Scytek) in a vegetable steamer for 30 minutes at 100°C, allowed to cool on the counter at RT for 10 min and rinsed in several changes of distilled water. Von Willebrand (VWFactor) VIII slides underwent enzyme-induced epitope retrieval utilizing 0.03% Pronase E in TBS for 10 min at 37 C followed by running tap and distilled water rinses. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked utilizing 3% hydrogen peroxide and placed in a

methanol bath for 30 min followed by running tap and distilled water rinses. Following pretreatment, standard avidin-biotin complex staining steps were performed at RT on the Dako Autostainer (Dako North America, Inc., Carpinteria, CA). All staining steps were followed by two rinses in TBS + Tween 20 (Scytek). After blocking for non-specific protein respectively with normal horse serum or normal goat serum (Vector Labs, Burlingame, CA) for 30 minutes, sections were incubated with Avidin/Biotin blocking system for 15 minutes each (Avidin D, Vector Labs/d-Biotin, St. Louis, MO). Primary antibody slides were incubated for 60 min with the monoclonal mouse anti-rat podoplanin (cat. 104-M40; Relia Tech) diluted 1:400, the polyclonal rabbit anti-VWFactor VIII (cat. A0082; Dako) diluted 1:400, or the biotin-conjugated polyclonal rabbit anti-rat IgG (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO) diluted 1:100 in normal antibody diluent (NAD) (Scytek). Biotinylated horse anti-mouse rat absorbed IgG (H + L) (Vector) prepared at 10.0 µg/mL in NAD or goat anti-rabbit IgG (H+L) (Vector) at 11.0 µg/mL in NAD incubated for 30 min, followed by R.T.U. Vectastain Elite ABC Reagent incubation for 30 min (Vector). Reaction development utilized Vector Nova Red peroxidase chromogen incubation of 15 minutes and counterstain in Gill 2 Hematoxylin (Thermo Fisher, Kalamazoo, MI) for 15 seconds (podoplanin and VWFactor VII) or 90 seconds (rat IgG control), differentiation, and dehydration, clearing and mounting with synthetic mounting media. In addition, all slides underwent hematoxylin and eosin staining.

5.3.10 Statistics

The Signed Rank Test was used in the Statistical Analysis Software (SAS) version 9.1 to compare median cytokine and growth factor production by PBMCs in stimulated and control supernatants. The Signed Rank Test was also used to compare the

production of these factors by CD14+ monocytes compared to non-CD14 cells.

GraphPad Prism 5 software (San Diego, CA) was used to carry out additional statistical analyses to compare the number of tubules per microscopic field in response to stimuli.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Filarial ES Products Induce the Production of Lymphangiogenic Factors in PBMCs

We evaluated the ability of *Brugia* ES products to induce the secretion of molecules shown to exhibit lymphangiogenic potential in other systems. Human PBMCs were isolated from healthy volunteers and cultured with or without filarial ES products for 72 hours. The supernatant fluids were collected and analyzed for the production of the potentially lymphangiogenic molecules IL-3, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8 and VEGF-A by luminex technology. Cells cultured with filarial ES products secreted significantly higher levels of IL-8 (p<0.001), IL-6 (p<0.004) and VEGF-A (p<0.002) compared to cells cultured in media alone (Fig. 5.1). We did not detect IL-3 or IL-7 in any of our supernatants. We also attempted to measure VEGF-C and VEGF-D by ELISA, but these were below the limit of detection. These data suggest that *Brugia* ES products are capable of inducing the secretion of lymphangiogenic molecules by circulating PBMCs.

5.4.2 CD14+ Monocytes Are the Primary Producers of the Lymphangiogenic

Molecules

Monocytes/macrophages have been shown to play an important role in the production of VEGFs in tumors and inflammation, so we hypothesized monocytes could be the PBMC in the periphery contributing to the production of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A seen in response to worm ES products. We carried out CD14 fractionation experiments

using CD14 MACS technology to isolate CD14+ monocytes from total PBMCs. As seen in Fig. 5.2A and 5.2B CD14+ monocytes secreted significantly higher amounts of IL-8 (p<0.0005) and VEGF-A (p<0.02) compared to CD14-depleted cells in response to filarial ES products. However, CD14-enriched and depleted cell populations produced similar levels of IL-6 (Fig. 5.2B). CD14+ monocytes produced significantly more IL-8 (p < 0.02) and VEGF-A (p < 0.02) spontaneously compared to CD14-depleted cells (Fig. 5.2A and 5.2C). CD14+ monocytes stimulated with *Brugia* ES products also secreted significantly higher levels of IL-8 (p<0.02) and IL-6 (p<0.04) compared to CD14+ cells cultured in media alone. LPS was used as a positive control for the production of IL-8 and IL-6; robust IL-8 and IL-6 responses were seen following LPS-stimulation compared to the lower responses to worm ES products, arguing that endotoxin contamination of ES batches is below levels associated with a detectable response. Taken together, these data suggest that CD14+ monocytes are the primary producers of the lymphangiogenic molecules IL-8 and VEGF-A in response to worm ES products, but CD14+ monocytes are not the major cell type contributing to the production of IL-6 in response to worm ES products.

5.4.3 Lymphatic-specific Surface Molecules on Circulating PBMCs and CD14+ Monocytes

In addition to the production of lymphangiogenic molecules, circulating cells have also been shown to support the development of lymphatic vasculature by differentiating into LECs; therefore, we examined the ability of *Brugia* ES products to promote the expression of lymphatic-specific surface molecules on PBMCs. As seen in Fig. 5.3 PBMCs stimulated for 72 hours with filarial ES products did not alter the expression of VEGRF-3, LYVE-1, podoplanin or VEGFR-2. Additionally, LPS was not able to up-regulate these lymphatic-specific molecules on the surface of PBMCs. We were concerned the effects of the worm ES products might be specific for monocytes and would be masked in analyses of total PBMCs, so we isolated and stimulated CD14+ monocytes with *Brugia* ES products and examined the expression of VEGFR-3 on monocytes alone after 72 hours of incubation. Filarial ES products did not alter the expression of VEGFR-3 on CD14+ monocytes (Fig. 5.4). LPS-stimulation appeared to increase the expression of VEGFR-3 on monocytes but this finding was not statistically significant (Fig 5.4). Altogether, these findings suggest that exposure to worm ES products does not induce the expression of lymphatic markers or the differentiation of circulating cells to a lymphatic-like phenotype.

5.4.4 ES-induced Lymphangiogenic Mediators Stimulate LECs to Form Tubules *in vitro*

Since we were able to demonstrate the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by PBMCs in response to *Brugia* ES products, we examined the ability of these mediators detected following ES stimulation to alter LEC function as measured by tubule formation. LECs were layered on Matrigel cultures and stimulated with concentrations of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A comparable to the amounts detected in supernatants of ESstimulated PBMCs. After 24 hours, LECs cultured in the presence of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A formed a more elaborate tubule network compared to cells cultured in media alone (Fig. 5.5A). Using image analysis software used to quantify tubule formation, cells cultured in the presence of IL-8, IL-6 or VEGF-A formed a greater number of tubules per microscopic field compared to LECs cultured without stimulus (Fig. 5.5B).

5.4.5 *In vivo* Vascularization of Matrigel Plugs by ES-induced Lymphangiogenic Molecules

Once we confirmed that the mediators we detected in ES-induced supernatants altered lymphatic function using an *in vitro* tubule formation assay, we wanted to establish the effects in vivo. To do so we injected rats with Matrigel containing IL-8, IL-6 or VEGF-A. We also collected PBMC-supernatants from PBMCs of 5 different individuals that were stimulated with ES products or cultured in media alone; these supernatant fluids were then pooled and tested for their ability to induce vessel formation in vivo. Characterization of the pooled PBMC supernatants which included measurable concentrations of IL-2, IL-6, IL-8 and VEGF is seen in Table 5.1. After 10 days, the plugs were excised and subjected to gross inspection to immediately identify vessel infiltration within the plugs (Fig. 5.6A and 5.6B). The plugs were then sectioned and hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining was carried out to examine cellular infiltration into the plugs. Compared to Matrigel alone injections, H&E staining revealed a dramatic cellular infiltration in Matrigel plugs that had been supplemented with IL-6, VEGF-A and supernatants from PBMCs stimulated with filarial ES products and to a lesser extent in Matrigels containing IL-8 or supernatants from PBMCs cultured in media alone (Fig. 5.6B). The Matrigel plugs were then subjected to immunohistochemical staining for the presence of von Willebrand Factor VIII (vWF) and podoplanin to identify blood and lymphatic vessels, respectively. Figure 5.6C shows positive staining for both vWF as well as podoplanin in plugs containing VEGF-A or supernatants from PBMCs stimulated to filarial ES products, indicating the presence of both blood and lymphatic vessels deep in the internal regions of the Matrigel plug.

5.5 Discussion

Lymphangiectasia, or the dilation of LVs, and lymphangiogenesis are subclinical features of filarial infection. Lymphatic vessels containing adult worms from infected individuals are characterized as distended, dilated, tortuous and highly indented (Vickery et al., 1985, Case et al., 1991, Rao et al., 1996, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). In dilated lymphatics, flow is impaired leading to improper drainage of interstitial fluids. The progression of mild lymphangiectasia to clinical lymphedema may be due to the accumulation of lymphatic fluid in the tissues over time following damage to the LVs. Defining the molecular mechanisms responsible for the development of lymphangiectasia may identify pathways that can be targeted to prevent lymphatic dysfunction and progression to lymphedema.

The specific factors responsible for the development of lymphangiectasia remain undefined, but our data suggest that parasite products are important in this process. Previously, it has been reported that lymphangiectasia was greatest near the worm nest and the removal or killing of worms could reduce lymphatic dilation arguing the importance of the parasite in the altering lymphatic pathology (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991, Case et al., 1991, Shenoy et al., 2009). Moreover, lymphangiectasia can be seen along the length of the infected vessel arguing that a soluble product secreted by the worm is responsible for the lymphatic pathology. We focused on the ES products released by the adult worms. Initially, we attempted to characterize the direct effects of ES products on LECs, but no measurable events were detected in our system. Subsequently, we hypothesized that ES products activate the lymphatic endothelium indirectly through an accessory cell. We have demonstrated that *Brugia* ES products stimulate host cells to

produce lymphangiogenic mediator; and that in pure form the same mediators alter LEC phenotype. *Brugia* ES products induce host PBMCs to secrete lymphangiogenic molecules IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A, and that when we used IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A, we induced LEC tubule formation at concentrations equivalent to those produced by ES-stimulated PBMCs. The production of these molecules could contribute to the development of lymphangiectasia in filarial-infected individuals.

Other studies have supported the role of parasite molecules in lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiectasia. Bennuru et al. showed filarial products can directly stimulate LEC proliferation and alter LEC junction adherence pathways which could contribute to lymphatic dilation (2009); however, the authors suggested that the microfilarial stage is responsible for LEC proliferation and differentiation. The microfilarial stage may contribute to the development of lymphatic disease, but since the microfilariae circulate in the blood vessels, which are not dilated in filarial-infected individuals, it is unlikely that microfilariae are the primary candidates responsible for the lymphangiectasia. Upon release from adult females, the microfilariae are found in the LVs for only a brief period of time before being removed by lymphatic flow, so it is not obvious that they are present in the LVs long enough to induce lymphatic dilation. Future studies to address the role of microfilariae will be required to define their role in altering lymphatic architecture.

Even though the expression of lymphangiogenic mediators is generally perceived to be beneficial for the formation of new LVs and to alleviate malfunctioning LVs (Karkkainen et al., 2001, Szuba et al., 2002, Yoon et al., 2003), the over-expression of lymphangiogenic molecules over an extended period of time has been shown to be detrimental and to impair lymphatic function. A massive expansion of the lymphatic

network can lead to defective LVs and thus decreased drainage and lymphedema. For example, VEGF-A and VEGF-C over-expression results in structurally and functionally abnormal and dilated lymphatics (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Nagy et al., 2002, Angeli et al., 2006).

Extending this argument, ES-induced host cells such as those found in PBMC preparations may compromise lymphatic function by secreting lymphangiogenic factors over many years throughout the duration of worm infection. The cumulative amounts/effects of these soluble mediators may parallel the over-expression model systems and lead to defective lymphatics. For instance, elevated plasma levels of lymphangiogenic factors such as VEGF-C have been found in microfilaremic individuals compared to endemic normal individuals (Debrah et al., 2006) suggesting the same VEGF and cytokine molecules involved in lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiectasia in other models are also present in filarial infection. Here, we detected the production of the lymphangiogenic molecules IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A in response to worm products. Given that adult worms can establish chronic infections and live for five to ten years, the production of these lymphangiogenic molecules over time in response to worm products may result in lymphatic damage as in other experimental model systems. Worms may initially induce the production of lymphangiogenic molecules to support their biological niche, but the continued production of these lymphangiogenic molecules over years of infection may result in dysfunctional LVs.

Even though we did see the production of VEGF-A by PBMCs in response to worm ES, we did not see the production of VEGF-C that was previously shown to be elevated in filarial-infected individuals (Debrah et al., 2006, Attout et al., 2009). We also

did not detect elevated levels of VEGF-D or lymphangiogenic cytokines IL-3 or IL-7. The lack of detection of VEGF-C, VEGF-D, IL-3 or IL-7 may be because we were examining the production of these molecules by PBMCs which may be the wrong cell source and these molecules may be produced by a cell found focally at the infection site. VEGF-C and VEGF-D signaling through VEGFR-3 is the primary and most wellcharacterized mechanism contributing to lymphangiogenesis, but there is an emerging role for VEGF-A in lymphangiogenesis (Nagy et al., 2002, Hong et al., 2004, Hirakawa et al., 2005, Wuest and Carr, 2010), so it is possible that this molecule may be playing an important role in filarial-induced lymphatic pathologies.

Monocytes and macrophages have been shown to play two major roles in supporting lymphangiogenesis. They can produce lymphangiogenic factors such as VEGFs and cytokines which induce LEC proliferation, survival, migration and tubule formation (Cursiefen et al., 2004, Maruyama et al., 2005). In this study we found that monocytes were primarily responsible for the production of IL-8 and VEGF-A in response to *Brugia* ES products; however we did not identify the cell type responsible for the production of IL-6, so future experiments need to be carried out to identify the source of IL-6 by PBMCs seen in response to worm ES products. In an alternative role, monocytes and macrophages can also transdifferentiate into LECs and incorporate into existing LVs (Maruyama et al., 2005). To address this alternative role of monocytes/macrophages in lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis, we examined the expression of lymphatic-specific molecules on PBMCs in response to *Brugia* ES products, but we did not detect an up-regulation of any of these molecules. We carried out additional experiments looking at the expression of the lymphatic-specific molecule VEGFR-3 on CD14+ monocytes isolated from PBMCs, but VEGFR-3 was not upregulated on CD14+ cells. Taken together, these data suggest circulating cells do not adopt a LEC-like phenotype upon exposure to filarial ES products in our system. This could be a limitation of our use of only 72 hours of *in vitro* culture compared to years of *in vivo* worm exposure. Future experiments will be necessary to examine the expression of lymphatic-specific molecules on circulating cells from filarial-infected individuals.

Monocytes and macrophages may play a role in the lymphatic pathology associated with filarial infection. Typically, lymphatic vessels from infected individuals are thought to be devoid of an inflammatory response (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002); however, some have noted small lymph thrombi composed of small mononuclear cells and multinucleated giant cells within the lumen (Vickery et al., 1985). Here, we defined CD14+ cells as the primary producer of IL-8 and VEGF-A in response to *Brugia* ES products but others have also reported the presence of monocytes/macrophages in regions of lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis in infection with the filarid, O. volvulus. (Attout et al., 2009, Mackenzie et al., 2010). In nodules isolated from humans infected with O. volvulus, the predominant cell type associated with the worms was the macrophage and many of these cells stained positive for the lymphatic-specific marker LYVE-1 (Mackenzie et al., 2010). Attout et al. elegantly demonstrated macrophages from these nodules were positive for LYVE-1 and some were integrating into the lymphatic endothelium (2009). Taken together, these data suggest that monocytes/macrophages are important in lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis in filarial infections and future research is needed to define the role of these cells in LF.

One could speculate the worm induces lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiectasia for many reasons. The worm may increase the vessel diameter for space; increasing the diameter of the vessel also slows lymphatic flow and increases the availability of nutrients and resources. The worm may stimulate expansion of the lymphatic network by inducing host production of VEGFs and cytokines to increase LEC proliferation and differentiation as a mechanism of LV dilation. We also demonstrated tubule formation in response to ES-stimulated mediators. Filarial worms may induce the formation of new lymphatic vessels to expand their biological niche for space and resources as well as an effort to maintain lymphatic flow through a collateral network. With the increased numbers of LVs, worms may also be guaranteeing their microfilariae reach the periphery to continue transmission and providing a transport network for many of the immunomodulatory molecules found within the ES.

In this study we have begun to dissect out the molecular mechanisms involved in the development of lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis; however, similar studies must be carried out in cells isolated from endemic populations to confirm that the same the same molecules and cell types occur in filarial-infected individuals. Given that parasite products can induce the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by host cells and that infected persons exhibit lymphangiectasia, we hypothesize that these molecules are elevated in infected individuals. We are currently examining the production of VEGFs and cytokines by microfilaremic individuals and endemic normals as well as those with lymphedema in response to *Brugia* ES products. Since infected individuals exhibit lymphangiectasia, which may progress to a disabling lymphedema, we need to define the initial molecular mechanisms responsible for the development of disease.

Understanding the pathogenesis of LF may identify potential molecular targets for

preventing disease progression as well as a greater understanding of the molecular

mechanisms associated with lymphatic pathologies from cancer and inflammation.

5.6 References

Achen, M.G., M. Jeltsch, E. Kukk, T. Makinen, A. Vitali, A.F. Wilks, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (FLT-4). PNAS 95:548-53.

Adams, R., and K. Alitalo. 2007. Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Nature Reviews Mol Cell Bio 8:464-78.

Al-Rawi, M.A., G. Watkins, R.E. Mansel, W.G. Jiang. 2005. The effects of interkeukin-7 on the lymphangiogenic properties of human endothelial cells. Int J Oncol 27:721-30.

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Angeli, V., and G.J. Randolph. 2006. Inflammation, lymphatic function and dendritic cell migration. Lymphatic Res and Biol 4:217-28.

Attout, T., A. Hoerauf, G. Denece, A.Y. Debrah, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, M. Boussinesq, S. Wanji, V. Martinez, S. Mand, O. Adjei, O. Bain, S. Specht, C. Martin. 2009. Lymphatic vascularization and involvement of LYVE-1+ macrophages in the human onchocerca nodule. PLoS One 4:e8234.

Bennuru, S., and T.B. Nutman. 2009. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic remodeling induced by filarial parasites: implications for pathogenesis. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000688.

Brizzi, M.F., G. Garbarino, P.R. Rossi, G.L. Pagliardi, C. Arduino, G.C. Avanzi, L. Pegoraro. 1993. Interleukin 3 stimulates proliferation and triggers endothelial-leukocyte adhesion molecule 1 gene activation of human endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 91:2887-92.

Byzova, T.V., C.K. Goldman, J. Jankau, J. Chen, G. Cabrera, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K.A. Carnevale, M. Siemionow, S.R. Deitcher, P.E. DiCorleto. 2002. Adenovirus encoding vascular endothelial growth factor-D induces tissue-specific vascular patterns *in vivo*. Blood 99:4434-42.

Case, T., B. Leis, M. Witte, D. Way, M. Bernas, P. Borgs, C. Crandall, R. Crandall, R. Nagle, S. Jamal. 1991. Vascular abnormalities in experimental and human lymphatic filariasis. Lymphology 24:174-83.

Cursiefen, C., L. Chen, L.P. Borges, D. Jackson, J. Cao, C. Radziejewski, P.A. D'Amore, M.R. Dana, S.J. Wiegand, J.W. Streilein. 2004. VEGF-A stimulates lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis in inflammatory neovascularization via macrophage recruitment. J Clin Invest 113:1040-50.

Debrah, A., S. Mand, S. Specht, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, L. Batsa, K. Pfarr, J. Larbi, B. Lawson, M. Taylor, O. Adjei, A. Hoerauf. 2006. Doxycycline reduces plasma VEGF-C/sVEGFR-3 and improves pathology in lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Pathog 2:e92.

Debrah, A., S. Mand, M.R. Toliat, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, L. Batsa, P. Nurnberg, B. Lawson, O. Adjei, A. Hoerauf, K. Pfarr. 2007. Plasma vascular endothelial growth factor-A (VEGF-A) and VEGF-A gene polymorphism is associated with hydrocele development in lymphatic filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 77:601-8.

Dentelli, P., L. del Sorbo, A. Rosso, A. Molinar, G. Garbarino, G. Camussi, L. Pegoraro, M.F. Brizzi. 1999. Human IL-3 stimulates endothelial cell motility and promotes *in vivo* new vessel formation. J Immunol 163:2151-59.

Dissanayake, S., L. Watawana, W.F. Piessens. 1995. Lymphatic pathology in *Wuchereria bancrofti* microfilaraemic infections. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 89:517-21.

Enholm, B., T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, H. Kubo, F. Stenback, R. Prevo, D.G. Jackson, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2001. Adenoviral expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C induces lymphangiogenesis in skin. Circ Res 88:623-9.

Freedman, D. 1998. Immune dynamics in the pathogenesis of human lymphatic filariasis. Parasitol Today 14:229-34.

Figueredo-Silva, J., J. Noroes, A. Cedenho, G. Dreyer. 2002. The histopathology of bancroftian filariasis revisited: the role of the adult worm in the lymphatic-vessel disease. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 96:531-41.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh, C.M. Maia e Silva, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1994. Lymphoscintigraphic analysis of lymphatic abnormalities in symptomatic and asymptomatic human filariasis. J Infect Dis 170:927-33.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh. 1995. Abnormal lymphatic function in presymptomatic bancroftian filariasis. J Infect Dis 171:997-1001.

Hirakawa, S., S. Kodama, R. Kunstfeld, K. Kajiya, L.F. Brown, M. Detmar. 2005. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201:1089-99.

Holzinger, C., E. Weissinger, A. Zuckermann, M. Imhof, F. Kink, A. Schöllhammer, C. Kopp, E. Wolner. 1993. Effects of interleukin-1, -2, -4, -6, interferon-gamma and granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor on human vascular endothelial cells. Immunol Lett 35:109-17.

Hong, Y., J. Shin, M. Detmar. 2004. Development of the lymphatic vascular system: a mystery unravels. Developmental Dynamics 231:462-73.

Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, K. Alitalo. 1997. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276:1423-5.

Joukov, V., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, D. Chilov, I. Lahtinen, E. Kukk, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1996. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt-4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J 15:290-8.

Joukov, V., T. Sorsa, V. Kumar, M. Jeltsch, L. Claesson-Welsh, C. Yihai, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1997. Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. EMBO J 16:3898-911.

Karkkainen, M.J., A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, K.A. Karila, E.C. Lawrence, K. Pjusola, H. Bueler, A. Eichmann, R. Kauppinen, M.I. Kettunen, S. Yla-Herttuala, D.N. Finegold, R.E. Ferrell, K. Alitalo. 2001. A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. PNAS 98:12677-82.

Koch, A.E., P.J. Polverini, S.L. Kunkel, L.A. Harlow, L.A. DiPietro, V.M. Elner, S.G. Elner, R.M. Strieter. 1992. Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. Science 258:1798-801.

Kubo, H., R. Cao, E. Bräkenhielm, T. Mäkinen, Y. Cao, and K. Alitalo. 2002. Blockade of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 signaling inhibits fibroblast growth factor-2-induced lymphangiogenesis in mouse cornea. PNAS 99:8868-73.

Lee, J.A., J. Yuan, S.M. Luoh, H. Avraham, W.I. Wood. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor-related protein: a ligand and specific activator of the tyrosine kinase receptor Flt-4. PNAS 93:1988-92.

Li, A., D. Seema, M. Varney, B. Dave, R. Singh. 2003. IL-8 directly enhanced endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and matrix metalloproteinases production and regulated angiogenesis. J Immunol 170:3369-76.

Mackenzie, C., M.K. Huntington, S.J. Wanji, R.V. Lovato, R.R. Eversole, T.G. Geary. 2009. The association of adult *Onchocerca volvulus* with lymphatic vessels. J Parasitol 5:1.

Makinen, T., T. Veikkola, S. Mustjoki, T. Karpanen, B. Catimel, E.C. Nice, L. Wise, A. Mercer, H. Kowalski, D. Kerjashki, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, K. Alitalo. 2001. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. EMBO J 20:4762-73.

Makinen, T., L. Jussila, T. Veikkola, T. Karpanen, M.I. Kettunen, K.J. Pulkkanen, R. Kauppinen, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, S. Nishikawa, S. Yla-Herttuala, K. Alitalo. 2001. Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. Nature Med 7:199-205.

Maruyama, K., M. Ii, C. Cursiefen, D.G. Jackson, H. Keino, M. Tomita, N. van Rooijen, H. Takenaka, P.A. D'Amore, J. Stein-Streilein, D.W. Lorsodo, J.W. Streilein. 2005. Inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis in the cornea arises from CD11b-positive macrophages. J Clin Invest 115:2363-72.

Nagy, J.A., E. Vasile, D. Feng, C. Sundberg, L.F. Brown, M.J. Detmar, J.A. Lawitts L. Benjamin, X. Tan, E.J. Manseau, A.M. Dvorak, H.F. Dvorak. 2002. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. J Exp Med 196:1497-506.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Nisato, R., J. Harrison, R. Buser, L. Orci, C. Rinsch, R. Montesano, P. Dupraz, M. Pepper. 2004. Generation and characterization of telomerase-transfected human lymphatic endothelial cells with an extended life span. Am J Pathol 165:11-24.

Noroes, J., D. Addiss, F. Amaral, A. Coutinho, Z. Medeiros, G. Dreyer. 1996. Occurrence of living adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* in the scrotal area of men with microfilaraemia. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 90:55-6.

Noroes, J., D. Addiss, A. Santos, Z. Medeiros, A. Coutinho, G. Dreyer. 1996. Ultrasonographic evidence of abnormal lymphatic vessels in young men with adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* infection in the scrotal area. J Urol 156:409-12.

Nutman, T., and V. Kumaraswami. 2001. Regulation of the immune response in lymphatic filariasis: perspectives on acute and chronic infection with *Wuchereria bancrofti* in South India. Parasite Immunol 23:389-99.

Oh, S., M. Jeltsch, R. Birkenhager, J.E. McCarthy, H.A. Weich, B. Christ, K. Alitalo, J. Wilting. 1997. VEGF and VEGF-C: Specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. Dev Bio 188:96-109.

Ottesen, E., B.O. Duke, M. Karam, K. Behbehani. 1997. Strategies and tools for the

control/elimination of lymphatic filariasis. Bull World Health Organ 75:491-503.

Podgrabinska, S., P. Braun, P. Velasco, B. Kloos, M. Pepper, D. Jackson, M. Skobe. 2002. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. PNAS 99:16069-74.

Rao, U., C.S. Zometa, A.C. Vickery, B.H. Kwa, J.K. Nayar, E.T. Sutton. 1996. Effect of *Brugia malayi* on the growth and proliferation of endothelial cells *in vitro*. J Parasitol 82:550-6.

Rissanen, T.T., J.E. Markkanen, M. Gruchala, T. Heikura, A. Puranen, M.I. Kettunen, I. Kholová, R.A. Kauppinen, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K. Alitalo, S. Ylä-Herttuala. 2003. VEGF-D is the strongest angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effector among VEGFs delivered into skeletal muscle via adenoviruses. *Circ Res* 92:1098-106.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals of Trop Med and Parsitol 103:235-47.

Szuba, A., M. Skobe, M.J. Karkkainen, W.S. Shin, D.P. Beynet, N.B. Rockson, N. Dakhil, S. Spilman, M.L. Goris, H.W. Strauss, T. Quertermous, K. Alitalo, S.G. Rockson. 2002. Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis with human recombinant VEGF-C. FASEB J 16:1985-7.

Tortora, G.J., and S.R. Grabowski. Principles of Anatomy and Physiology. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 2003, p. 764-74.

Veikkola, T., L. Jussila, T. Makinen, T. Karpanen, M. Jeltsch, T.V. Petrova, H. Kubo, G. Thurston, D.M. McDonald, M.G. Achen, S.A. Stacker, K. Alitalo. 2001. Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. EMBO J 20:1223-31.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., J.K. Nayar, K.H. Albertine. 1985. Differential pathogenicity of *Brugia malayi*, *B. patei* and *B. pahangi* in immunodeficient nude mice. Acta Trop 42:353-63.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Trop 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of

Brugia pahangi in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

Wuest, T.R., and D.J.J. Carr. 2010. VEGF-A expression by HSV-1-infected cells drives corneal lymphangiogenesis. J Exp Med 207:101-15.

Yao, J.S., W. Zhai, W.L. Young, G.Y. Yang. 2006. Interleukin-6 triggers human cerebral endothelial cells proliferation and migration: the role for KDR and MMP-9. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342:1396-404.

Yoon, Y., T. Murayama, E. Gravereaux, T. Tkebuchava, M. Silver, C. Curry, A. Wecker, R. Kurchmair, C. Hu, M. Kearney, A. Ashare, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, J. Isner, D.W. Losordo. 2003. VEGF-C gene therapy augments postnatal lymphangiogenesis and ameliorates secondary lymphedema. J Clin Invest 111:717-25.

5.7 Figures and Tables

Figure 5.1. *Brugia* ES products induce the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by human PBMCs. PBMCs were isolated from healthy human volunteers and 1×10^6 cells were seeded into tubes and stimulated with or without ES for 72 hrs. Cell supernatants were assessed for the presence of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by luminex bead analysis. *Brugia* ES products induced the production of (A) IL-8 (n=15), (B) IL-6 (n=10) and (C) VEGF-A (n=15) by PBMCs compared to cells in media alone as assessed by the Signed Rank test. Medians are presented as bars.

Figure 5.1



Figure 5.2. *Brugia* ES products induce the production of IL-8 and VEGF-A by human CD14+ monocytes. In order to define the circulating cell type responsible for production of lymphangiogenic molecules by PBMCs in response to *Brugia* ES, human CD14+ monocytes were isolated by magnetic bead separation and compared to CD14-depleted cells for IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A production in response to worm ES products or LPS. Cell supernatants were assessed for the presence of (A) IL-8 (n=12), (B) IL-6 (n=7) and (C) VEGF-A (n=7) by luminex bead analysis after 72 hours of stimulation. Data presented represents the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) and comparisons were made using the Signed Rank test. LPS was used as a positive control and stimulated the production of IL-8 (p<0.003) and IL-6 (p<0.02) compared to cells cultured in media alone.

Figure 5.2



Figure 5.3. Expression of lymphatic-specific markers on human PBMCs. Since PBMCs have been reported to transdifferentiate into a lymphatic-like phenotype, we measured the expression of lymphatic-specific surface molecules by flow cytometry on PBMCs (n>3) stimulated with *Brugia* ES products or LPS for 72 hours. Medians are presented as bars. Lymphatic-specific markers were not up-regulated following stimulation with ES products or LPS, compared to media alone.

Figure 5.3


Figure 5.4. Expression of VEGFR-3 on CD14+ monocytes. Given the lack of changes in expression in lymphatic-specific molecules on the total PBMC population stimulated with worm ES products, we measured the expression of the lymphatic-specific molecule VEGFR-3 on CD14+ monocytes (n=17) by flow cytometry in response to *Brugia* ES products or LPS for 72 hours. Medians are presented as bars.

Figure 5.4



Figure 5.5. Filarial ES-induced lymphangiogenic mediators induce LEC tubule formation *in vitro*. Lymphangiogenic mediators found in ES-stimulated PBMC supernatants were tested for their ability to induce LEC tubule formation during *in vitro* Matrigel culture. LECs were grown on Matrigels in the presence or absence of IL-8, IL-6 or VEGF-A and lymphatic networks were photographed (A). (B) The number of tubules was quantified using image analysis software. The experiments (n=4) were performed in triplicate and the data presented are the medians of one representative experiment.

Figure 5.5

Α





	0	
	Unstimulated	ES-stimulated
	supernatants	supernatants
IL-2	3.07	4.41
IL-4	Undetectable	Undetectable
IL-5	Undetectable	Undetectable
IL-6	18.58	68.8
IL-8	5061.76	30898.94
IL-10	Undetectable	Undetectable
IL-13	Undetectable	Undetectable
GM-CSF	Undetectable	Undetectable
IFNγ	Undetectable	Undetectable
TNFα	Undetectable	Undetectable
VEGF	46.04	115.65

Table 5.1. Cytokine and growth factor levels (pg/mL) in PBMC supernatants^a

^a1x10⁶ PBMCs were stimulated with worm ES or cultured in media alone for 72 hours. Supernatants from 5 different individuals were pooled and cytokines and growth factors were analyzed by luminex bead technology. Matrigel plugs were supplemented with 80 μ L of the pooled supernatants and used for rat *in vivo* vessel formation experiments.

Figure 5.6. Filarial ES-induced lymphangiogenic mediators stimulate vessel formation in rats. Matrigel with or without IL-8, IL-6, VEGF-A, supernatants collected from PBMCs stimulated with filarial ES products or supernatants collected from PBMCs cultured in media alone, was injected into August rats (6 rats per stimulus) and after 10 days Matrigel plugs were excised. (A) A representative example of a plug that had not been vascularized compared to a plug that had been vascularized upon initial examination of the plug in the subcutaneous layer. (B) Each plug was excised and sectioned for H&E staining and representative plugs from each stimulus after excision are shown. Representative H&E images for each stimulus are also seen here demonstrating a dramatic cellular infiltrate in the stimulated Matrigel plugs compared to Matrigel alone. (C) Immunohistochemical analysis on sections from Matrigel plugs that demonstrated a cellular infiltration based on their H&E staining including Matrigel plugs supplemented with VEGF-A or supernatants from PBMCs stimulated with worm ES products. Matrigel sections were examined for the presence of blood and lymphatic vessels based on their staining of von Willebrand Factor VIII or podoplanin, respectively. Sections were also stained with anti-rat IgG as a staining control.

Figure 5.6





CHAPTER 6

EVALUATING LYMPHANGIOGENIC FACTORS AND CELLS IN FILARIAL-ENDEMIC POPULATIONS¹

¹Weinkopff, T., and P. Lammie. 2010. To be submitted to *PLoS NTDs*.

6.1 Abstract

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is caused by the parasitic nematodes Wuchereria bancrofti and Brugia malavi which infect over 120 million people worldwide. Most microfilaria-positive (Mf+) individuals appear asymptomatic, but exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia or the dilation of lymphatic vessels. We hypothesized that the excretory-secretory products (ES) of the worms activate the lymphatic endothelium and have demonstrated a role for monocyte-derived lymphangiogenic mediators produced by healthy naïve volunteers in response to filarial ES products in altering lymphatic endothelial cell differentiation. However, it is unclear if the same lymphangiogenic mediators are produced by individuals living in endemic regions of LF. Therefore, we evaluated the production of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by PBMCs from Mf+ persons as well those with clinical lymphedema (Le) and endemic normal (EN) controls. All groups (Mf+, EN, Le) produced significant levels of IL-8 and IL-6 in response to filarial ES products and Mf+ persons produced higher levels of antigen-induced VEGF-A compared to ENs. Mf+ individuals also exhibited a higher frequency of CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6 than EN. Phenotypic analysis of these cells CD14+ IL-8+ and CD14+ IL-6+ cells revealed concurrent expression of CD68, CD163, CD206, HLA-DR and TNFα that suggesting these cells have characteristics of both alternatively and classically activated macrophages. Collectively, these data suggest that filarial-endemic populations do produce lymphangiogenic factors in response to worm ES products and that monocytes and their secreted products may be contributing to the lymphangiectasia seen *in vivo* and thus the development of lymphedema.

6.2 Introduction

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is caused by the parasitic nematodes Wuchereria bancrofti, Brugia malavi and Brugia timori which infect over 120 million people worldwide and cause severe morbidity in an additional 40 million individuals (Ottesen et al., 1997, 2008). LF is characterized by a wide spectrum of disease manifestations including asymptomatic microfilaremic individuals with active infection as well as individuals with the overt clinical manifestations of the disease like lymphedema and hydrocele (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). Even though microfilaremic individuals appear asymptomatic, they exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia or the dilation of the lymphatic vessels (LV) (Amaral et al., 1994, Freedman et al., 1994, 1995, Noroes et al., 1996a, 1996b, Dreyer et al., 2000, 2002, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002, Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). For instance, ultrasonography revealed 50% of microfilaremic males exhibited dilated and tortuous lymphatics and all men with detectable worms have dilated lymphatics even though they appear asymptomatic (Amaral et al., 1994, Noroes et al., 1996b). Removal or killing of worms by drug treatment reverses the lymphatic dilation suggesting the parasite is responsible for the dilation seen in vivo (Vickery et al., 1983, 1991). In addition, lymphangiectasia is seen in SCID mice arguing that the adaptive immune response is not involved in the modulation of the lymphatic tissue (Vincent et al., 1984, Nelson et al., 1991). Furthermore, histopathologic examinations of LVs harboring living adult worms demonstrated the lack of an inflammatory response (Amaral et al., 1994, 2000, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002).

Interestingly, the lymphatic dilation is not restricted to the site of the worm nest, but found throughout the length of the infected vessel, suggesting a soluble factor secreted by the parasite could be responsible for the dilation seen *in vivo* (Amaral et al., 1994, Dreyer et al., 2000, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002).

The mechanisms responsible for the lymphatic dilation seen in infected vessels remain elusive, but this early lymphangiectasia may serve as the initiation event for the development of lymphedema. Therefore, we wanted to define the molecular mechanisms contributing to the lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis associated with filarial infection. Previous findings from our lab have suggested that filarial ES products do not induce a direct activation of LECs (Chapter 3); however, worm ES products indirectly activate LECs through the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from healthy naïve volunteers and monocytes are the primary cell source for these lymphangiogenic factors (Chapter 4). Lymphangiogenic molecules such as the cytokines IL-8, IL-6 and members of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family are produced by human PBMCs in response to filarial ES products and are known to support LEC proliferation, survival, migration and tubule formation (Koch et al., 1992, Holzinger et al., 1993, Joukov et al., 1996, 1997, Lee et al., 1996, Achen et al., 1998, Makinen et al., 2001, Nagy et al., 2002, Podgrabinska et al., 2002, Li et al., 2003, Hirakawa et al., 2005, Yao et al., 2006, Adams and Alitalo, 2007, Wuest and Carr, 2010, Chapter 4).

Given our previous findings and studies by Debrah et al. suggesting that microfilaremic individuals exhibit higher levels of lymphangiogenic factors in their plasma compared to endemic normals, we wanted to determine if circulating cells from filarial-infected individuals also exhibited the ability to produce lymphangiogenic molecules in response to worm ES products (2006). Here, we show the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by PBMCs from microfilaremics as well as endemic normals and those with clinical lymphedema in response to filarial ES products. Microfilaremic individuals exhibit higher frequencies of IL-8- and IL-6-producing monocytes and phenotypic analysis of these cells demonstrates characteristics of both classically and alternatively activated macrophages.

6.3 Materials and Methods

6.3.1 Parasite Materials and Collection of ES Products

Brugia malayi adult female worms were collected from the peritoneal cavity of infected jirds, *Meriones unguiculatus*, that were obtained from the NIAID Filariasis Repository at the University of Georgia (Athens, GA). ES products were collected as previously reported (Chapter 4) and stored at 4 C until further use. Prior to cell stimulations with ES products, ES products were filtered using 0.45 μ m Millex-HA syringe filters (Millipore, Carrigtwohill, Co. Cork, Ireland) and used in a dose-dependent (diluted at 1:10, 1:50) manner across various replicates and batches to maintain reproducibility. All batches of ES products were tested for endotoxin activity using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate QCL-1000 assay (Lonza, Walkersville, MD) and ES products were only used at concentrations ≤ 0.1 eu/mL for cell stimulations.

6.3.2 Isolation of Peripheral Blood Mononuclear cells

Human PBMCs were collected from clinically- and parasitologicallycharacterized samples isolated from several groups of patients as part of previous IRBapproved studies in Haiti (Lammie et al., 1993, Dimock et al., 1994, 1996). PBMCs were collected from microfilariae-positive (Mf+) persons, those with lymphedema (Le), and residents who live in filarial-endemic areas of Haiti, but are not infected. The latter individuals are termed endemic normals (EN).

For isolation of the Haitian PBMCs, lymphocyte separation media (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH) was used as directed by the manufacturer. In brief, blood was collected from donors by venipuncture in 10mL ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) Vacutainer tubes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ), centrifuged for 10 min at 1000 x g at 4 C and the buffy coat was removed, resuspended in 2 mL RPMI 1640 media and antibiotics (100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin) and layered over 3 mL lymphocyte separation media. Cells were centrifuged for 30 min at 1000 x g at 4 C, the buffy coat was removed, washed and cryopreserved.

6.3.3 Production of Lymphangiogenic Factors by PBMCs

Cells were plated at 1×10^6 PBMCs in 500 µL RPMI 1640 media (GIBCO) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics and cultured with or without 100ng/mL LPS or ES diluted at 1:10, 1:50 for 72hrs. Cell culture supernatants were collected and analyzed for IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by luminex technology using the Bio-Plex Pro multiplex suspension array system (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In short, cell culture supernatant fluids were incubated with fluorescently-labeled coupled magnetic beads for 30 min at room temperature (RT) on a shaker in a 96 well filter plate. Magnetic beads were washed 3 times and incubated with a multiplex mixture of the detection antibodies for 30 min at RT on a shaker. The beads were washed 3 times and incubated with streptavidin-PE for 10 min at RT on a shaker. The beads were washed 3 more times, resuspended in 125 μ L of assay buffer, shaken and the plate was read using low PMT settings. Data were analyzed by the Bio-Plex Manager software version 4.1.1 and concentrations were calculated based on a standard curve derived from a recombinant cytokine standard. If the cytokine level in the sample was higher than the highest value on the standard curve, which occurred in many of the LPS stimulations, the highest value of the standard curve was reported for that data point. All samples were stimulated in parallel with ES products diluted at 1:10 and 1:50, but only the optimal ES stimulation was reported.

6.3.4 Flow Cytometry of PBMCs for Intracellular IL-6 and IL-8

Cells were plated at 5×10^5 PBMCs in 200 µL RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine and antibiotics and cultured with or without ES (1:10) for 22 hrs and 48 hrs for IL-8 and IL-6 production, respectively. During the last 4 hrs of stimulation, cells were cultured in the presence of GolgiStop (BD Biosciences, San Diego, CA). To compare the levels of intracellular IL-6 and IL-8 between PBMCs from Mf+ and EN persons, cells were stained for 30 min on ice in the dark according to manufacturer's direction with FITC-labeled mouse anti-human CD14 (cat. 555397; BD Pharmingen). After washing, cells were fixed and permeabilized using the BD Cytofix/Cytoperm Fixation/Permeabilization Kit (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) according the manufacturer's instructions. Cells were then stained with PE-labeled rat anti-human IL-6 (cat. 559331; BD Pharmingen) or PE-labeled mouse anti-human IL-8

(cat. 554720; BD Pharmingen). For phenotypic characterization of CD14+ cells, cells were stained with PECy5-labeled mouse anti-human CD14 (cat. Ab25395; Abcam), FITC-labeled mouse anti-human CD68 (cat. 11068973; eBioscience), FITC-labeled mouse anti-human CD163 (cat. T1062; BMA Biomedicals), FITC-labeled mouse antihuman CD206 (cat. 551135; BD Pharmingen), FITC-labeled mouse anti-human HLA-DR (cat. 560944; BD Pharmingen) and/or FITC-labeled mouse anti-human TNF α (cat. 11-7349; eBioscience). PBMCs were then washed, fixed and permeabilized for intracellular staining for IL-6 and IL-8 as previously described. Cell events were acquired on a BD FACScan flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and analyzed with FlowJo (Tree Star, Ashland, Oregon). For the analysis we gated on the CD14+^{hi} population since some individuals possessed a CD14 intermediate population.

6.3.5 Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software (San Diego, CA). The Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used to compare median cytokine and growth factor production by PBMCs in stimulated and control supernatants. The Mann Whitney test was to compare cytokine and growth factor production as well as the number of CD14+ IL-8+ and CD14+ IL-6+ cells between different groups (Mf+, EN, Le).

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Filarial ES Products Induce the Production of Lymphangiogenic Factors in PBMCs

In order to evaluate the response to ES products in human filarial infection, human PBMCs from patients living in a filarial-endemic region of Haiti were cultured with or without ES products for 72 hours. Cells were isolated from three different patient

groups including Mf+ individuals, those with clinical lymphedema (Le) and EN controls. Given the production of lymphangiogenic molecules IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by naïve PBMCs from healthy volunteers in response to filarial ES products (Chapter 4), we examined the supernatant fluids of ES-stimulated Haitian PBMCs for the presence of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A by luminex technology. Cells from ENs, Mf+ individuals and patients with lymphedema all produced significantly elevated levels of IL-8 in response to ES products (ENs p<0.05, Mf+ p<0.05, LE p<0.05) compared to unstimulated cells (Fig. 6.1A). Similarly, IL-6 production by PBMCs in response to filarial ES products was also elevated in each of the three groups (ENs p < 0.0005, Mf+ p < 0.009, LE p < 0.05) compared to cells cultured in media alone (Fig. 6.1B). However, the same trend was not detected in cells stimulated with worm ES products for VEGF-A production, but PBMCs from Mf+ individuals did produce significantly greater levels of antigen-induced VEGF-A (p<0.04) compared to ENs (Fig. 6.1C). For all groups, LPS (10 ng/mL) was used as a positive control for the induction of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A. Stimulation with LPS induced production of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A at significantly increased amounts compared to cells cultured in media alone (Fig. 6.1A, 6.1B and 6.1C).

6.4.2 Frequencies of Monocytes Producing Lymphangiogenic Factors

Monocytes have been shown to play important roles in lymphangiogenesis in tumors, wound healing models and in other inflammatory settings. We have also shown CD14+ monocytes from naïve healthy volunteers are the primary producers of the lymphangiogenic molecules in response filarial ES products (Chapter 4). As a result, we compared the frequencies of CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6 between Mf+ and EN individuals. PBMCs were cultured with or without filarial ES products; intracellular cytokine staining followed by flow cytometric analysis was carried out to identify CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6. PBMCs were cultured in the presence and absence of filarial ES products, but we did not see an increase in the number of cells double-positive for CD14 and IL-8 or CD14 and IL-6 in response to ES products (data not shown) so the data reported here display the frequency of CD14+ monocytes spontaneously producing each lymphangiogenic molecule. We detected a population of CD14+ IL-8+ cells at greater frequencies in Mf+ compared to EN individuals (Fig. 6.2A and 6.2B). Figure 6.2A shows representative flow cytometric data from one Mf+ individual and one EN, but if we compare groups, Mf+ persons have significantly elevated numbers of CD14+ IL-8+ cells (p<0.04) compared to ENs (Fig. 6.2B). Similar experiments were carried out for the detection of monocytes producing IL-6 and Figure 6.2C shows representative data for from one Mf+ and one EN person. Mf+ persons appear to have more PBMCs staining double-positive for CD14 and IL-6 compared to ENs, but this difference was not significant (Fig. 6.2D).

6.4.3 Phenotypic Characterization of CD14+ Monocytes Producing IL-8 and IL-6

The monocytes involved in vessel formation in tumor and wound healing models have been characterized as possessing anti-inflammatory and proangiogenic properties and have been termed M2 monocytes/macrophages (Mantovani et al., 2002, 2007). These M2 monocytes also exhibit an alternatively activated phenotype (Mantovani et al., 2002, 2007). Monocytes characterized by an alternatively activated phenotype have also been demonstrated in filarial infections in humans and animals (Loke et al., 2000, 2002, Nair et al., 2003, Babu et al., 2009). Therefore, we wanted to phenotypically characterize the CD14+ monocytes identified in Mf+ and ENs based on their expression of M2-

associated molecules such as CD163, a scavenger receptor, and CD206, a mannose receptor (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003). Following our gating strategy (Fig. 6.3A), CD14+ IL-8+ cells expressed both CD163 and CD206 (Fig. 6.3B) and neither CD163 nor CD206 was up-regulated in response to filarial ES products (6.3C and Table 6.1). In addition, there were no significant differences in CD163 or CD206 expression levels on CD14+ IL-8+ monocytes between Mf+ and EN persons (6.3B and Table 6.1). Using a similar gating strategy (Fig. 6.3D) for CD14+ IL-6+ monocytes, both CD163 and CD206 were expressed on these cells (Fig. 6.3E) but CD163 and CD206 were not upregulated in response to worm ES products (Fig. 6.3F and Table 6.2); moreover, there were no differences in the expression levels of CD163 or CD206 on CD14+ IL-6+ monocytes between Mf+ and EN individuals (Fig. 6.3E and Table 6.2). We also evaluated the production of TNF α , a typical classically activated M1 molecule and found that the CD14+ IL-8+ and CD14+ IL-6+ monocytes from both Mf+ and ENs were producing TNF α (Fig. 6.3B and 6.3E).

Additionally, we also examined the maturation state of the IL-8- and IL-6producing CD14+ from filarial-endemic populations based on their CD68 expression, a known macrophage maturation marker (Pulford et al., 1990). The CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 expressed CD68 (Fig. 6.3B) confirming their monocye/macrophage lineage but they did not up-regulate CD68 in response to filarial ES products (Fig. 6.3C) and there were no differences in CD68 expression levels between groups (Fig. 6.3B and Table 6.1).

IL-6-producing CD14+ monocytes also expressed CD68 (Fig. 6.3E); stimulation with worm ES products did not up-regulate CD68 on IL-6-producing monocytes (Fig. 6.3F) and there was no difference in CD68 expression levels between Mf+ and ENs (Fig. 6.3E and Table 6.2).

CD14+ IL-8+ and CD14+ IL-6+ monocytes also expressed HLA-DR on their surface (Fig. 6.3B and 6.3E); however there were no significant differences in HLA-DR expression levels between groups (Table 6.1 and 6.2).

6.5 Discussion

Lymphangiectasia or the dilation of LVs is a hallmark of filarial infection. Microfilaremic individuals appear asymptomatic but they exhibit subclinical lymphangiectasia; in contrast, individuals with lymphedema are typically antigennegative. It has been hypothesized that the parasite is responsible for modulating the LECs lining the infected vessels to induce lymphangiectasia and that the early dilation seen in filarial-infected individuals will lead to clinical lymphedema. However, the molecular mechanisms responsible for the LV dilation seen in LF remain undefined. Previous findings have not clarified the role of parasite molecules in the direct activation of LECs. For example, endothelial cell proliferation was not detected in HUVECs stimulated with worm extract *in vitro* (Rao et al., 1996); however, Bennuru and Nutman have shown LEC proliferation and differentiation as measured by tubule formation in response to *Brugia* parasite extract *in vitro* (2009).

These studies have provided a foundation for our understanding of filarial pathology, but they both utilized parasite extracts in their experimental design and LV dilation is associated with living adult worms and found along the length of the infected vessels; therefore, we examined the ability of ES products secreted by the adult worms to induce LEC activation.

Similarly to Rao et al., experiments in our lab have not revealed a direct activation event such as proliferation by LECs in response to filarial ES products, but we have detected the production of lymphangiogenic mediators by PBMCs from healthy naïve donors in response to worm ES products (1996, Chapter 3 and Chapter 4). Consequently, we hypothesized that the same lymphangiogenic molecules would be generated in response to worm ES products in filarial-infected individuals. Here, we demonstrate the production of IL-8 and IL-6 in response to worm ES products by PBMCs from all 3 groups including Mf+, Le and ENs (Fig. 6.1). This is consistent with previous findings where LEC proliferation was seen in response to serum from Mf+ persons suggesting host-derived factors can induce LEC proliferation which may provide the underlying mechanism for lymphangiectasia (Bennuru and Nutman 2009).

Our findings did not suggest differential production of lymphangiogenic mediators between groups; PBMCs from most individuals, irrespective of their infection or disease status, responded to stimulation with ES products. Even though all PBMCs produced lymphangiogenic molecules in response to worm ES products, modulation of the lymphatics will be restricted to the Mf+ patient group since they are harboring the adult worms and are being continuously exposed to ES products. The sustained production of lymphangiogenic mediators in response to parasite molecules over the

course of a filarial infection, sometimes years, may lead to impaired lymphatic function. Lymphangiogenic molecules and lymphangiogenesis have been considered beneficial for acute inflammatory responses, wound healing and for the improvement of lymphatic dysfunction associated with secondary lymphedema; but, lymphangiogenesis can also be detrimental, especially under chronic inflammatory conditions, and result in dysfunctional LVs (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Nagy et al., 2002, Yoon et al., 2003, Hong et al., 2004, Angeli and Randolph, 2006, Kataru et al., 2009). Further, over-expression of VEGF-A and VEGF-C results in structurally and functionally abnormal and enlarged lymphatics containing incompetent valves with a reduced flow and delayed lymph clearance (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Nagy et al., 2002, Angeli and Randolph, 2006). In patients with chronic inflammatory conditions such as psoriasis, rheumatoid arthritis and Crohn's disease, VEGF-A is up-regulated in inflamed tissue and associated with abnormally large lymphatics (Braverman and Yen, 1974, Detmar et al., 1994, Koch et al., 1994, Kanazawa et al., 2001, Xu et al., 2003, Pedica et al., 2008). In addition, tumors over-expressing VEGF-C induce the growth of immature and malfunctional lymphatics in the periphery (Isaka et al., 2004). Taken together, these studies suggest lymphangiogenesis is beneficial in many settings, but once the balance has been shifted and lymphangiogenic factors are elevated or present for prolonged periods of time, there is a negative impact on lymphatic function. Given the chronicity of filarial infection, the lymphatic dilation seen in LF may be a result of increased or prolonged production of lymphangiogenic molecules.

Monocytes/macrophages have been implicated in lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiectasia in a variety of inflammatory conditions such as tumors and wound healing (Kerjaschki, 2005, Maruyama et al., 2007, Xing et al., 2009). Monocytes/macrophages are important in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis because they produce lymphangiogenic mediators such as cytokines and VEGFs in response to stimuli,

they are present within and around LVs of inflamed tissue and the depletion of macrophages by clondronate liposomes reduces lymphangiogenesis (Cursiefen et al., 2004, Kerjaschki, 2005, Maruyama et al., 2005, Kataru et al., 2009). Interestingly, monocytes/macrophages can also transdifferentiate into LECs themselves (Maruyama et al., 2005). Given their established role in lymphangiogenesis and previous findings in our lab suggesting monocytes are the primary producers of lymphangiogenic molecules in response to filarial ES products, we evaluated the presence of CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6 in filarial-infected individuals (Chapter 4). Microfilaremic individuals exhibited a higher frequency of CD14+ monocytes making IL-8 and IL-6 compared to ENs (Fig. 6.2). Elevated numbers of cells with lymphangiogenic potential in Mf+ persons may be contributing to the lymphangiectasia seen in this patient population.

We carried out a phenotypic characterization of the CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6 from filarial-infected individuals and found these cells expressed CD68, CD163 and CD206 (Fig. 6.3 and Fig. 6.4). Their CD68 expression in addition to their CD14 positivity confirms their monocyte/macrophage lineage. These cells also expressed HLA-DR suggesting they have the characteristics of antigen presenting cells. The cells were positive for CD163, a cysteine-rich group B scavenger receptor, and

CD206, a mannose receptor, which have been shown to be markers of M2-polarized monocytes/macrophages, also termed alternatively activated monocytes/macrophages (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003). The M1/M2 classification system in monocytes defines the distinct functional subsets of monocytes and parallels the Th1/Th2 paradigm described for T cells. M1 monocytes are characterized by the production of proinflammatory molecules like IL-12, IFN γ and TNF α in response to microbial agents and cytokines, where M2 monocytes exhibit anti-inflammatory properties and proangiogenic potential (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003). M2-polarized cells are not simply dampened M1 cells but they exhibit a distinct activation program when stimulated by variety of molecules including IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, glucocorticoid hormones and vitamin D3 to produce immunomodulatory cytokines like IL-10 (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003). Furthermore, alternatively activated M2 monocytes/macrophages are present in settings undergoing vascularization including tumors, endometriosis and wound healing (Kodelja et al., 1997, Mantovani et al., 2002, Sica et al., 2007, Bacci et al., 2009). The expression of CD163 and CD206 on Mf+ CD14+ IL-8+ and CD14+ IL-6+ cells suggests these cells exhibit characteristic features of alternative activation. On the other hand, the CD14+ monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6 from Mf+ persons were also producing TNF α , a marker indicative of classical activation. Taken together, the presence of both markers for alternative and classical activation on the surface of these cells suggests the M1/M2 paradigm may be oversimplified.

Others have also found monocytes exhibiting characteristics of M1 and M2 cells simultaneously suggesting there are many factors contributing to the heterogeneity and activation state of monocytes and the subsets of monocytes/macrophages are still being continuously redefined (Gordon, 2003, Kreider et al., 2007, Umemura et al., 2008).

In rodent models, the presence and function of alternatively activated macrophages in filarial infection have been well-defined by their ability to suppress proliferation in many cell types and by their high level of expression of two macrophage genes, Ym1 and Fizz1 also known as $Relm\alpha$ (Loke et al., 2000, 2002, Nair et al., 2003). Compared to rodent studies, human studies examining the role of alternatively activated macrophages in LF are limited due to the lack of well-characterized markers of alternative activation in humans and the lack of homologous molecules indicative of alternative activation between rodents and humans including an absence of human homologues for Ym1 and Fizz1 (Babu et al., 2009). In rodent studies of filariasis, alternatively activated macrophages produce elevated levels of IL-6 in response to worm infection (Loke et al., 2002). Babu et al. also demonstrated enhanced transcript levels of CD163 on cells from filarial-infected individuals (2009). Similarly, we have identified a cell type of the myeloid lineage in humans producing IL-6 in response to filarial ES products and also expressing M2 surface molecules, CD163 and CD206, indicative of alternative activation. Collectively, these data suggest the presence of a population of cells in humans with characteristics of pro-angiogenic alternatively activated M2 cells.

In conclusion, the lymphangiectasia seen in filarial-infected individuals may be due the sustained production of lymphangiogenic mediators by PBMCs in response to ES products during worm infection and monocytes, which are seen at higher frequencies in Mf+ persons, may be the cell type responsible for progression of subclinical lymphangiectasia toward lymphedema. With the completion of the *Brugia* genome and proteomic analyses of the *Brugia* secretome, we can begin to define the parasite products and molecular mechanisms leading the development of disease (Hewitson et al., 2008, Moreno and Geary, 2008, Bennuru et al., 2009). Understanding the mechanisms responsible for the early lymphatic dilation seen with filarial infection may help to provide a greater perspective on the molecules mediating lymphangiectasia and lymphangiogenesis in other conditions such as cancer and wound healing.

6.6 References

Achen, M.G., M. Jeltsch, E. Kukk, T. Makinen, A. Vitali, A.F. Wilks, K. Alitalo, S.A. Stacker. 1998. Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (FLT-4). PNAS 95:548-53.

Adams, R. and K. Alitalo. 2007. Molecular regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Bio 8:464-78.

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Angeli, V., and G.J. Randolph. 2006. Inflammation, lymphatic function and dendritic cell migration. Lymphatic Res and Biol 4:217-28.

Babu, S., V. Kumaraswami, T. Nutman. 2009. Alternatively activated and immunoregulatory monocytes in human filarial infections. J Infect Dis 199:1827-37.

Bacci, M., A. Capobianco, A. Monno, L. Cottone, F. Di Puppo, B. Camisa, M. Mariani, C. Brignole, M. Ponzoni, S. Ferrari, P. Panina-Bordignon, A.A. Manfredi, P. Rovere-Querini. 2009. Macrophages are alternatively activated in patients with endometriosis and required for growth and vascularization of lesions in a mouse model of disease. Am J Pathol 175:547-56.

Bennuru, S., and T.B. Nutman. 2009. Lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic remodeling induced by filarial parasites: implications for pathogenesis. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000688.

Bennuru, S., R. Semnani, Z. Meng, J.M.C. Ribeiro, T.D. Veenstra, T.B. Nutman. 2009. *Brugia malayi* excreted/secreted proteins at the host/parasite interface: stage- and gender-specific proteomic profiling. PLoS NTDs 3:e410.

Braverman, I.M., and A. Yen. 1974. Microcirculation in psoriatic skin. J Invest Dermatol 62:493-502.

Cursiefen, C., L. Chen, L.P. Borges, D. Jackson, J. Cao, C. Radziejewski, P.A. D'Amore, M.R. Dana, S.J. Wiegand, J.W. Streilein. 2004. VEGF-A stimulates lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis in inflammatory neovacularization via macrophage recruitment. J Clin Invest 113:1040-50.

Debrah, A., S. Mand, S. Specht, Y. Marfo-Debrekyei, L. Batsa, K. Pfarr, J. Larbi, B. Lawson, M. Taylor, O. Adjei, A. Hoerauf. 2006. Doxycycline reduces plasma VEGF-C/sVEGFR-3 and improves pathology in lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Pathog 2:e92.

Detmar, M, Brown LF, Claffey KP, et al. Overexpression of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in psoriasis. J Exp Med 1994; 180:1141–1146.

Dimock, K.A., D.G. Addiss, M.L. Eberhard, P.J. Lammie. 1994. Differential proliferative and interleukin-10 responses to fractionated filarial antigens: Preferential recognition by patients with chronic lymphatic dysfunction. J Infect Dis 170:403-12.

Dimock, K., M. Eberhard, P. Lammie. 1996. Th1-like antifilarial immune responses predominate in antigen-negative persons. Inf Immun 64:2962-7.

Dreyer, G., J. Noroes, J. Figueredo-Silva, W. Piessens. 2000. Pathogenesis of lymphatic disease in bancroftian filariasis: A clinical perspective. Parasitol Today 16:544-8.

Dreyer, G., D. Addiss, J. Roberts, J. Noroes. 2002. Progression of lymphatic vessel dilatation in the presence of living adult *Wuchereria bancrofti*. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:157-61.

Figueredo-Silva, J., J. Noroes, A. Cedenho, G. Dreyer. 2002. The histopathology of bancroftian filariasis revisited: the role of the adult worm in the lymphatic-vessel disease. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 96:531-41.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh, C.M. Maia e Silva, C. Braga, A. Maciel. 1994. Lymphoscintigraphic analysis of lymphatic abnormalities in symptomatic and asymptomatic human filariasis. J Infect Dis 170:927-33.

Freedman, D., P.J. de Almeida Filho, S. Besh. 1995. Abnormal lymphatic function in presymptomatic bancroftian filariasis. J Infect Dis 171:997-1001.

Ghedin, E., S. Wang, D. Spiro, et al. 2007. Draft genome of the filarial nematode parasite *Brugia malayi*. Science 317:1756-60.

Gordon, S. Alternative activation of macrophages. 2003. Nat Rev Immunol 3:23-35.

Hewitson, J.P., Y.M. Harcus, R.S. Curwen, A.A. Dowle, A.K. Atmadja, P.D. Ashton, A. Wilson, R.M. Maizels. 2008. The secretome of the filarial parasite, *Brugia malayi*: proteomic profile of adult excretory-secretory products. Molec Biochem Parastiol 160:8-21.

Hirakawa, S., S. Kodama, R. Kunstfeld, K. Kajiya, L.F. Brown, M. Detmar. 2005. VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201:1089-99.

Holzinger, C., E. Weissinger, A. Zuckermann, M. Imhof, F. Kink, A. Schöllhammer, C. Kopp, E. Wolner. 1993. Effects of interleukin-1, -2, -4, -6, interferon-gamma and granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor on human vascular endothelial cells. Immunol Lett 35:109-17.

Hong, Y., B. Lange-Asschenfeldt, P. Velasco, S. Hirakawa, R. Kunstfeld, L.F. Brown, P. Bohlen, D.R. Senger, M. Detmar. 2004. VEGF-A promotes tissue repair-associated lymphatic vessel formation via VEGFR-2 and the α 1 β 1 and α 2 β 1 integrins. FASEB J 18:1111-3.

Isaka, N., T.P. Padera, J. Hagendoorn, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain. 2004. Peritumor lymphatics induced by vascular endothelial growth factor-C exhibit abnormal function. Cancer Res 64:4400-4.

Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, K. Alitalo. 1997. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276:1423-5.

Joukov, V., K. Pajusola, A. Kaipainen, D. Chilov, I. Lahtinen, E. Kukk, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1996. A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt-4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J 15:290-8.

Joukov, V., T. Sorsa, V. Kumar, M. Jeltsch, L. Claesson-Welsh, C. Yihai, O. Saksela, N. Kalkkinen, K. Alitalo. 1997. Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. EMBO J 16:3898-911.

Kanazawa, S., T. Tsunoda, E. Onuma, T. Majima, M. Kagiyama, K. Kikuchi. 2001. VEGF, basic-FGF, and TGF-beta in Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: a novel mechanism of chronic intestinal inflammation. Am J Gastroenterol 96:822-8.

Kataru, R.P., K. Jung, C. Jang, H. Yang, R.A. Schwendener, J.E. Baik, S.H. Han, K. Alitalo, G.Y. Koh. 2009. Critical role of CD11b+ macrophages and VEGF in inflammatory lymphangiogenesis, antigen clearance, and inflammation resolution. Blood 113:5650-9.

Kerjaschki, D. 2005. The crucial role of macrophages in lymphangiogenesis. J Clin Invest 115:2316-9.

Koch, A.E., P.J. Polverini, S.L. Kunkel, L.A. Harlow, L.A. DiPietro, V.M. Elner, S.G. Elner, R.M. Strieter. 1992. Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. Science 258:1798-801.

Koch, A.E., L.A. Harlow, G.K. Haines, et al. 1994. Vascular endothelial growth factor. A cytokine modulating endothelial function in rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol 152:4149-56.

Kodelja, V., C. Muller, S. Tenorio, C. Schebesch, C.E. Orfanos, S. Goerdt. 1997. Differences in angiogenic potential of classically vs alternatively activated macrophages. Immunobiol 197:478-93.

Kreider, T., R.M. Anthony, J.F. Urban, W.C. Gause. 2007. Alternatively activated macrophages in helminth infections. Curr Opin Immunol 19:448-53.

Lammie, P.J., D.G. Addiss, G. Leonard, A.W. Hightower, M.L. Eberhard. 1993. Heterogeneity in filarial-specific immune responsiveness among patients with lymphatic observation. J Infect Dis 167:1178-83.

Lee, J.A., J. Yuan, S.M. Luoh, H. Avraham, W.I. Wood. 1996. Vascular endothelial growth factor-related protein: a ligand and specific activator of the tyrosine kinase receptor Flt-4. PNAS 93:1988-92.

Li, A., S. Dubey, M.L. Varney, R.K. Singh. 2002. Interleukin-8-induced proliferation, survival, and MMP production in CXCR1 and CXCR2 expressing human umbilical vein endothelial cells. Microvasc Res 64:476-481.

Loke, P., A.S. MacDonald, A. Robb, R.M. Maizels, J.E. Allen. 2000. Alternatively activated macrophages induced by nematode infection inhibit proliferation via cell-to-cell contact. Eur J Immunol 30:2669-78.

Loke, P., M.G. Nair, J. Parkinson, D. Guiliano, M. Blaxter, J.E. Allen. 2002. IL-4 dependent alternatively-activated macrophages have a distinctive in vivo gene expression phenotype. BMC Immunol 3:7.

Makinen, T., T. Veikkola, S. Mustjoki, T. Karpanen, B. Catimel, E.C. Nice, L. Wise, A. Mercer, H. Kowalski, D. Kerjashki, S.A. Stacker, M.G. Achen, K. Alitalo. 2001. Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. EMBO J 20:4762-73.

Mantovani, A., A. Sica, M. Locati. 2007. New vistas on macrophage differentiation and activation. Eur J Immunol 37:14-16.

Mantovani. A., S. Sozzani, M. Locati, P. Allavena, A. Sica. 2002. Macrophage polarization: Tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol 23:549-55.

Maruyama, K., M. Ii, C. Cursiefen, D.G. Jackson, H. Keino, M. Tomita, N. van Rooijen, H. Takenaka, P.A. D'Amore, J. Stein-Streilein, D.W. Lorsodo, J.W. Streilein. 2005. Inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis in the cornea arises from CD11b-positive macrophages. J Clin Invest 115:2363-72.

Maruyama, R.P., J. Asai, M. Ii, T. Thorne, D.W. Losordo, P.A. D'Amore. 2007. Decreased macrophage number and activation lead to reduced lymphatic vessel formation and contribute to impaired diabetic wound healing. Am J Pathol 170:1178-1191.

Moreno, Y. and T.G. Geary. 2008. Stage- and gender-specific proteomic analysis of *Brugia malayi* excretory-secretory products. PLoS NTDs 2:e326.

Nagy, J.A., E. Vasile, D. Feng, C. Sundberg, L.F. Brown, M.J. Detmar, J.A. Lawitts L. Benjamin, X. Tan, E.J. Manseau, A.M. Dvorak, H.F. Dvorak. 2002. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. J Exp Med 196:1497-506.

Nair, M.G., D.W. Cochrane, J.E. Allen. 2003. Macrophages in chronic type 2 inflammation have a novel phenotype characterized by the abundant expression of *Ym1* and *Fizz1* that can be partly replicated *in vitro*. Immuno Lett 85:173-80.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Noroes, J., D. Addiss, F. Amaral, A. Coutinho, Z. Medeiros, G. Dreyer. 1996. Occurrence of living adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* in the scrotal area of men with microfilaraemia. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 90:55-6. Noroes, J., D. Addiss, A. Santos, Z. Medeiros, A. Coutinho, G. Dreyer. 1996. Ultrasonographic evidence of abnormal lymphatic vessels in young men with adult *Wuchereria bancrofti* infection in the scrotal area. J Urol 156:409-12.

Ottesen, E., B.O. Duke, M. Karam, K. Behbehani. 1997. Strategies and tools for the control/elimination of lymphatic filariasis. Bull World Health Organ 75:491-503.

Ottesen, E., P.J. Hooper, M. Bradley, G. Biswas. 2008. The Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis: Health impact after 8 years. PLoS NTDs 2:e317.

Pedica, F., C. Ligorio, P. Tonelli, S. Bartolini, P. Baccarini. 2008. Lymphangiogenesis in Crohn's disease: an immunohistochemical study using monoclonal antibody D2-40. Virchows Arch 452:57-63.

Podgrabinska, S., P. Braun, P. Velasco, B. Kloos, M. Pepper, D. Jackson, M. Skobe. 2002. Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. PNAS 99:16069-74.

Pulford, K.A.F., A. Sipos, J.L. Cordell, W.P. Stross, D.Y. Mason. 1990. Distribution of the CD68 macrophage/myeloid associated antigen. Int Immunol 2:973-80.

Rao, U., C.S. Zometa, A.C. Vickery, B.H. Kwa, J.K. Nayar, E.T. Sutton. 1996. Effect of *Brugia malayi* on the growth and proliferation of endothelial cells *in vitro*. J Parasitol 82:550-6.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals Trop Med Parasitol 103:235-47.

Sica, A., L. Rubino, A. Mancino, P. Laghi, C. Porta, M. Rimoldi, G. Solinas, M. Locati, P. Allavena, A. Mantovani. 2007. Targeting tumour-associated macrophages. Expert Opin Ther Targets 11:1219-29.

Umemura, N., M. Saio, T. Suwa, Y. Kitoh, J. Bai, K. Nonaka, G. Ouyang, M. Okada, M. Balazs, R. Adany, T. Shibata, T. Takami. 2008. Tumor-infiltrating myeloid-derived suppressor cells are pleiotropic-inflamed monocyes/macrophages that bear M1- and M2-type characteristics. J Leukoc Biol 83:1136-44.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Tropica 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of *Brugia pahangi* in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

Wuest, T.R., and D.J.J. Carr. 2010. VEGF-A expression by HSV-1-infected cells drives corneal lymphangiogenesis. J Exp Med 207:101-15.

Xing, L., and R. Ji. 2008. Lymphangiogenesis, myeloid cells and inflammation. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 4:599-613.

Xu, H., J. Edwards, S. Banerji, R. Prevo, D.G. Jackson, N.A. Athanasou. 2003. Distribution of lymphatic vessels in normal and arthritic human synovial tissues. Ann Rheum Dis 62:1227-9.

Yao, J.S., W. Zhai, W.L. Young, G.Y. Yang. 2006. Interleukin-6 triggers human cerebral endothelial cells proliferation and migration: the role for KDR and MMP-9. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 342:1396-404.

Yoon, Y., T. Murayama, E. Gravereaux, T. Tkebuchava, M. Silver, C. Curry, A. Wecker, R. Kurchmair, C. Hu, M. Kearney, A. Ashare, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, J. Isner, D.W. Losordo. 2003. VEGF-C gene therapy augments postnatal lymphangiogenesis and ameliorates secondary lymphedema. J Clin Invest 111:717-25.

6.7 Figures and Tables

Figure 6.1. *Brugia* ES products induce the production of lymphangiogenic molecules by PBMCs from subjects in a filarial-endemic region. PBMCs were isolated from Mf+, Le and ENs from filarial-endemic regions of Haiti and 1×10^6 cells were seeded and cultured with or without ES for 72 hrs. Cell supernatants were assessed for the presence of IL-8 (A), IL-6 (B), and VEGF-A (C) by luminex bead analysis. *Brugia* ES products induced the production of IL-8 (***p<0.005, **p<0.007, *p<0.05) and IL-6 (***p<0.0005, **p<0.007, *p<0.05) and IL-6 (***p<0.0005, **p<0.0005, **p<0.0005) and IL-6 (***p<0.0005, **p<0.0005) and IL-6 (***p<0.0005) signed Rank test. Mf+ persons produced more antigen-induced VEGF-A than ENs as compared by the Mann Whitney test (*p<0.04). Medians are presented as bars.

Figure 6.1





Figure 6.2. Microfilaremic persons exhibit higher frequencies of monocytes producing lymphangiogenic mediators. PBMCs were isolated from Mf+ and ENs from filarialendemic regions of Haiti and 5×10^5 cells were seeded and cultured with or without ES. Cells were assessed for the presence of intracellular IL-8 (A) or IL-6 (B) by flow cytometric analysis. Monocytes were defined based on CD14 expression. (A) Representative flow cytometric data from one EN and one Mf+ individual with the percentage of IL-8+ monocytes in the upper right quadrant. (B) The percentage of IL-8+ monocytes across various individuals from both groups with each point representing one individual. The percentage of IL-8+ CD14+ monocytes in Mf+ were compared to EN persons by the Mann Whitney test (p<0.04). Medians are presented as bars. (C) Representative flow cytometric data from one EN and one Mf+ individual with the percentage of IL-6+ monocytes in the upper right quadrant. (D) The percentage of IL-6+ monocytes across various individuals from both patient groups with each point representative flow cytometric data from one EN and one Mf+ individual with the percentage of IL-6+ monocytes in the upper right quadrant. (D) The percentage of IL-6+ monocytes across various individuals from both patient groups with each point representing one individual. Medians are presented as bars.
Figure 6.2



Figure 6.3. Phenotypic characterization of monocytes producing IL-8 and IL-6. PBMCs were isolated from Mf+ and ENs from filarial-endemic regions of Haiti and 5×10^5 cells were seeded and cultured with or without ES. Cells producing IL-8 and IL-6 were assessed for the presence of CD68, CD163, CD206, HLA-DR and TNFa by flow cytometric analysis. (A and D) For our gating strategy, we first gated on all live cells, followed by the CD14+ IL-8+ (A) or the CD14+ IL-6+ (D) cells. Plots are not directly comparable to those in Fig. 6.2; a different antibody-fluorochrome conjugate was used for staining. (B and E) Histograms for expression of CD68, CD163, CD206, HLA-DR and TNFa on CD14+ IL-8+ (B) or CD14+ IL-6+ (E) cells. The solid black line in the histogram portrays one representative EN where the shaded grey area portrays one representative Mf+ person. The thin dotted black line shows control background staining. (C and F) Representative data showing the effects of ES-stimulation on CD14+ IL-8+ (C) or CD14+ IL-6 + (F) cells on CD68, CD163 and CD206 expression. The solid black line in the histogram portrays cells stimulated with ES where the dotted black line portrays cells from the same individual cultured in media alone.



Table 6.1. Phenotypic characterization of IL-8-producing monocytes from ENs and MF+^a

	EN		MF+	
	Med ^b	ES ^c	Med ^b	ES^{c}
CD68	16.2(12.0-20.8)	16.1 (12.9-17.8)	20.4 (11.9-38.4)	20.0 (9.8-36.1)
CD163	47.8 (30.2-77.1)	23 (17.9-26.8)	63.6 (16.4-158.0)	60.7 (17.1-133.0)
CD206	14.8 (9.5-18.4)	17.9 (15.2-19.9)	15.8 (11.5-20.6)	16.8 (12.2-22.9)
HLA-DR	934.8 (350.7-1835)		973.2 (240.8-1416)	
TNFα	20.4 (17.4-23.2)		20.6 (19.5-22.0)	

 a 5x10⁵ PBMCs were stimulated with worm ES or cultured in media alone for 22 hours. Intracellular cytokines and cell surface molecules were analyzed by flow cytometry. Data are reported as the average median fluorescent intensities (MFI) for the group followed by the range of MFI across individuals.

^bCells from at least 6 different individuals per group (EN or MF) were cultured *ex vivo* and analyzed for the expression of CD68, CD163 and CD206. Cells from 4 different individuals per group were cultured and analyzed for HLA-DR and TNF α expression.

^cCells from 3 separate individuals per group were stimulated with ES, analyzed for the expression of CD68, CD163 and CD206 and compared to the MFI of cells cultured in media alone.

 Table 6.2.

 Phenotypic characterization of IL-6-producing monocytes from ENs and MF+^a

	EN		MF+	
	Med ^b	ES ^c	Med ^b	ES ^c
CD68	30.4 (18.4-49.6)	18.6 (10.1-27.2)	28.5 (17.7-36.7)	25.3 (24.9-25.5)
CD163	144.2 (26.5-275.7)	42.0 (25.2-69.4)	97.0 (38.7-226.7)	71.5 (57.1-87.4)
CD206	50.8 (34.5-80.7)	87.5 (43.5-167.2)	44.1 (24.4-65.6)	41.6 (25.4-64.4)
HLA-DR	2093 (1891-2408)		1743 (1483-2089)	
TNFα	30.2 (28.2-32.4)		30.6 (27.0-33.1)	

 a 5x10⁵ PBMCs were stimulated with worm ES or cultured in media alone for 22 hours. Intracellular cytokines and cell surface molecules were analyzed by flow cytometry. Data are reported as the average median fluorescent intensities (MFI) for the group followed by the range of MFI across individuals.

^bCells from at least 6 different individuals per group (EN or MF) were cultured *ex vivo* and analyzed for the expression of CD68, CD163 and CD206. Cells from 4 different individuals per group were cultured and analyzed for HLA-DR and TNFα expression.

^cCells from 3 separate individuals per group were stimulated with ES, analyzed for the expression of CD68, CD163 and CD206 and compared to the MFI of cells cultured in media alone.

CHAPTER 7

CONCLUSIONS: UNDERSTANDING THE MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF LYMPHANGIECTASIA IN LYMPHATIC FILARIASIS¹

¹Weinkopff, T., and P. Lammie. 2010. To be submitted to *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*.

Lymphatic filariasis (LF) is characterized by a wide spectrum of infection and disease. Individuals infected with the adult worms appear asymptomatic, but they do exhibit subclinical manifestations such as lymphangiectasia or lymphatic dilation (Amaral et al., 1994, Freedman et al., 1994, 1995, Noroes et al., 1996a, 1996b, Dreyer et al., 2000, 2002, Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002, Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). At the other end of the spectrum of LF, individuals exhibiting clinical disease such as lymphedema are typically antigen-negative and devoid of adult worms (Figueredo-Silva et al., 2002). However, the natural history of lymphedema and its relationship to previous filarial infection remain uncertain. Not all filarial-infected individuals go on to develop lymphedema and we do not have a clear understanding of why only a subset of individuals living in an endemic area advance to clinical disease. It is important to understand the pathogenesis of disease since patients with lymphedema are typically not actively infected; consequently, treatment of infection does not reverse the pathology. Given the lymphatic dilation seen in infected vessels, we propose the dilation of these infected vessels may serve as an important risk factor for development of clinical lymphedema.

Several factors including both parasite and host factors may contribute to the development of disease. It has been proposed that parasite factors are responsible for the dilation of infected lymphatic vessels since removal of the worms with drug treatment reverses the subclinical pathology in both humans and infected animals; dilation is also seen in the SCID mouse model arguing that dilation is a result of the presence of the parasite and not the adaptive immune response (Vincent et al., 1984, Vickery et al., 1983, 1991, Nelson et al., 1991, Shenoy et al., 2008, 2009). The location of the worm may also

contribute to disease development since lymphedema occurs in many of the same anatomical locations associated with worm infection. In addition, host immunological factors may also contribute to the pathogenesis of disease. Patients with lymphedema exhibit heightened antifilarial immune reactivity with a robust Th1 profile including strong IFNy and TNF α responses and elevated IgG1, IgG2 and IgG3 antifilarial antibodies compared to microfilaremic persons (Babu et al., 2009, Baird et al., 2002). On the other hand, microfilaremic individuals exhibit a pronounced immunomodulatory profile with impaired antigen-specific T- and B-cell responses, elevated IL-10 and IgG4 antifilarial antibodies (Ottesen et al., 1977, Piessens et al., 1980, Lammie and Katz, 1983, Nutman et al., 1987, Kurniawan et al., 1993, Mahanty et al., 1995, 1996, Yazdanbakhsh et al., 1995, Zhang et al., 1999, Baird et al., 2002, Nielsen et al., 2002a, 2002b). However, surprisingly both patients with microfilaremia and those with lymphedema possess similar antigen recognition profiles as defined by 2D immunoblots, suggesting specific antigens may not be associated with the development of disease (Weinkopff et al., 2009).

Host genetics may play a role in disease development since lymphedema clusters in high risk families and hereditary lymphedema has been associated with mutations in the *VEGFR-3* and *FOXC2* genes (Fang et al., 2000, Karkkainen et al., 2000, Cuenco et al., 2004). These data suggest that a subset of individuals may be predisposed to develop disease prior to worm infection. Secondary bacterial infections also play a role in progression of lymphedema to elephantiasis: 1) entry points for bacterial invasion are created by skin folds and lesions, 2) acute attacks related to bacterial infections exacerbate lymphedema, 3) the number of acute attacks correlates with disease severity,

and 4) patients with lymphedema also show heightened reactivity to bacterial superantigens and partial reversal of elephantiasis requires appropriate management of secondary bacterial infections (Dreyer et al., 1999, 2006, Gasarasi et al., 2000, Baird et al., 2002, McPherson et al., 2006). Taken together, many factors have been demonstrated to play a role in the development of lymphedema but we still have not defined the exact mechanisms responsible for the early lymphatic dilation seen in filarial-infected individuals and examined if this early dilation contributes to the development of lymphedema.

Dilation is detected along the length of the vessel and is not just restricted to the site of the worm nest arguing a soluble factor released by the worm that can travel the length of the vessel may be contributing the lymphatic pathology (Amaral et al., 1994). Given the close relationship between the parasite and the lymphatic endothelium and the dilation of infected lymphatic vessels (LV), we hypothesized that filarial ES products were responsible for the lymphangiectasia seen in infected vessels. Our working model can be seen in Figure 7.1. We hypothesized that the parasite alters the lymphatic endothelial cells (LEC) which initiates the development of disease. However, worm excretory-secretory (ES) products do not appear to directly activate LECs based on the lack of LEC proliferation, growth factor and cytokine production as well as the lack of changes seen in cell surface molecule expression by LECs in response to filarial ES products (Chapter 4). Therefore, we examined the potential of an indirect activation of LECs by an accessory cell type and found that peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) secrete cytokines and members of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family in response to ES products. Many of the molecules we detected in

response to filarial ES products such as IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A have been shown to induce endothelial cell proliferation, migration and differentiation. Furthermore, fractionation experiments showed that CD14+ monocytes are the primary producers of IL-8 and VEGF-A in response to worm ES products, but CD14-depleted populations produce measurable quantities of IL-6. We next tested the ability of these molecules to induce the differentiation of the LECs as measured by tubule formation. Concentrations of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A secreted by PBMCs in response to *Brugia* ES can induce tubule formation by LECs *in vitro*. Parallel studies using Matrigel plugs in an *in vivo* rat model revealed the formation of blood and lymphatic vessels in response to IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A. Supernatants from human PBMCs stimulated with ES products which include measurable concentrations of IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A also stimulated blood and lymphatic vessel formation in the rat *in vivo*. Taken together, these findings establish the ability of the lymphangiogenic molecules IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A which are released in response to worm ES products to alter LEC phenotype.

Once we characterized the responses of filarial-naïve individuals in response to filarial ES products, we wanted to measure production of these lymphangiogenic molecules by cells from individuals living in a filarial-endemic region. Haitian PBMCs stimulated with worm ES products produced increased levels of IL-8 and IL-6. Following the identification of monocytes as the cellular source for these molecules in naïve uninfected individuals, we examined the CD14+ monocytes in Haitians living in LF-endemic regions. Microfilaremic individuals exhibit higher frequencies of CD14+ IL-8+ cells compared to endemic normal individuals living in the same endemic area. These IL-8- and IL-6-producing monocytes also expressed CD68, CD163 and CD206.

Others have also reported elevated transcript levels of CD163 on cells from filarialinfected individuals (Babu et al., 2009). CD68 is macrophage differentiation marker confirming the monocyte/macrophage lineage of the CD14+ monocytes. CD163, a cysteine-rich group B scavenger receptor, and CD206, a mannose receptor, have been shown to be markers of M2-polarized monocytes/macrophages, also termed alternatively activated monocytes/macrophages (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003).

The expression of CD163 and CD206 by the IL-8- and IL-6-producing monocytes from filarial-infected individuals suggests that these cells show characteristics of M2 or alternatively activated monocytes/macrophages. Compared to the proinflammatory M1 monocytes, which are characterized by the production of proinflammatory molecules like IL-12, IFN γ and TNF α in response to microbial stimuli and cytokines, the M2 monocytes/macrophages exhibit a distinct activation program when stimulated by IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, glucocorticoid hormones or vitamin D3 to produce immunomodulatory cytokines such as IL-10 (Mantovani et al., 2002, Gordon, 2003). M2, or alternatively activated, monocytes/macrophages exhibit anti-inflammatory properties and proangiogenic potential and have been shown to play a role settings undergoing vascularization such as tumorigenesis, wound healing, endometriosis and chronic inflammation (Kodelja et al., 1997, Mantovani et al., 2002, Sica et al., 2007, Bacci et al., 2009).

Alternatively activated macrophages have been described in filarial infections of humans and animals (Loke et al., 2000, 2002, Nair et al., 2003, Babu et al., 2009). The alternatively activated macrophages in rodent filarial models are also producing elevated levels of IL-6, similar to the monocytes we have characterized in human filarial

infections, but the lack of homologous molecules indicative of alternative activation between humans and rodents makes it difficult to draw exact parallels between the two cell populations (Loke et al., 2002). Furthermore, alternatively activated macrophages are thought to contribute to the overall immunosuppression associated with filarial infection; however, it is interesting that this is the same cytokine milieu that provides an environment favoring the development of lymphangiectasia, suggesting that lymphangiectasia occurs in a setting where the parasite is actively modulating the immunologic environment towards a Th2 setting. The presence in filarial-infected individuals of increased frequencies of monocytes producing molecules with lymphangiogenic potential suggests the parasite is responsible for inducing this host response. The parasites' ability to modulate the host response has been widely demonstrated; it has been hypothesized that the parasite orchestrates an antiinflammatory response to evade the immune system and encourage parasite persistence and thus the transmission of the organism. The M2-biased cell populations described here, and the well-characterized Th2-biased cytokine environment, are both induced by the infection and may work in parallel to intensify immune evasion mechanisms and create a niche for the worm in the dilated LVs that is rich in nutrients and resources due to the decreased lymphatic flow associated with dilation.

In conclusion, these data support the hypothesis that *Brugia* ES products activate monocytes, which could modulate lymphatic function and contribute to lymphangiectasia and thus the development of disease. The production of lymphangiogenic molecules including IL-8, IL-6 and VEGF-A is elevated in response to filarial ES products and these molecules can induce tubule formation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The presence of these

molecules and monocytes producing these factors are also seen in filarial-infected individuals. Typically, lymphangiogenic molecules are thought to be beneficial in wound healing and lymphedema models due to their support of the lymphatic architecture (Karkkainen et al., 2001, Szuba et al., 2002, Yoon et al., 2003, Galiano et al., 2004), but the sustained production of these molecules over the course of a filarial infection maybe deleterious for the lymphatic endothelium. The cumulative effects of these lymphangiogenic factors over time may lead to defective lymphatic dysfunction and contribute to the development of lymphedema (Jeltsch et al., 1997, Nagy et al., 2002, Angeli and Randolph, 2006). Defining the role of monocytes and the lymphangiogenic factors in the early lymphatic dilation seen in filarial-infected individuals may provide a better understanding in the factors contributing to the pathogenesis of disease.

The working model seen in Fig. 7.1 demonstrates a complex relationship between filarial ES products, CD14+ monocytes and lymphangiogenic mediators. The model may help to explain the molecular mechanisms involved in the lymphangiectasia seen in infected individuals but the relationship between lymphangiectasia and lymphedema still remains unclear. Therefore, the question of why only a small proportion of individuals go on to develop disease still needs to be addressed. The body of work described here attempts to define the molecular mechanisms contributing to lymphangiectasia but future work must determine if varying degrees of lymphangiectasia as assessed by imaging technologies correlate with increased production of lymphangiogenic mediators. These experiments may provide the link between lymphangiectasia and the development of lymphedema.

7.2 References

Amaral, F., G. Dreyer, J. Figueredo-Silva, J. Noroes, A. Cavalcanti, S.F. Samico, A. Santos, A. Coutinho. 1994. Live adult worms detected by ultrasonography in human bancroftian filariasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 50:753-7.

Angeli, V., and G.J. Randolph. 2006. Inflammation, lymphatic function and dendritic cell migration. Lymphatic Res and Biol 4:217-28.

Babu, S., V. Kumaraswami, T. Nutman. 2009. Alternatively activated and immunoregulatory monocytes in human filarial infections. J Inf Dis 199:1827-37.

Bacci, M., A. Capobianco, A. Monno, L. Cottone, F. Di Puppo, B. Camisa, M. Mariani, C. Brignole, M. Ponzoni, S. Ferrari, P. Panina-Bordignon, A.A. Manfredi, P. Rovere-Querini. 2009. Macrophages are alternatively activated in patients with endometriosis and required for growth and vascularization of lesions in a mouse model of disease. Am J Pathol 175:547-56.

Baird, J., J. Charles, T. Streit, J. Roberts, D. Addiss, P. Lammie. 2002. Reactivity to bacterial, fungal, and parasite antigens in patients with lymphedema and elephantiasis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 66:163-9.

Cuenco, T., E. Halloran, P.J. Lammie. 2004. Assessment of families for excess risk of lymphedema of the leg in a lymphatic filariasis-endemic area. Am J Trop Med Hyg 70:185-90.

Dreyer, G., Z. Medeiros, M.J. Netto, N.C. Leal, L. Gonzaga de Castro, W.F. Piessens. 1999. Acute attacks in the extremities of persons living in an area endemic for bancroftian filariasis: Differentiation of two syndromes. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 93:413-7.

Dreyer, G., D. Addiss, P. Gadelha, E. Lapa, J. Williamson, A. Dreyer. 2006. Interdigital skin lesions of the lower limbs among patients with lymphoedema in an area endemic for bancroftian filariasis. Trop Med Int Health 11:1475-81.

Fang, J., S.L. Dagenais, R.P. Erickson, M.F. Arlt, M.W. Glynn, J.L. Gorski, L.H. Seaver, T.W. Glover. 2000. Mutations in FOXC2 (MFH-1), a forkhead family transcription factor, are responsible for the hereditary Lymphedema-Distichiasis Syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 67:1382-8.

Figueredo-Silva, J., J. Noroes, A. Cedenho, G. Dreyer. 2002. The histopathology of bancroftian filariasis revisited: the role of the adult worm in the lymphatic-vessel disease. Annals of Trop Med and Parasitol 96:531-41.

Galiano, R.D., O.M. Tepper, C.R. Pelo, K.A. Bhatt, M. Callaghan, N. Bastidas, S. Hunting, H.G. Steinmetz, G.C. Gurtner. 2004. Topical vascular endothelial growth factor

accelerates diabetic wound healing through increased angiogenesis and by mobilizing and recruiting bone marrow-derived cells. Am J Pathol 164:1935-47.

Gasarasi, D.B., Z.G. Premji, P.G.M. Mujinja, R. Mpembeni. 2000. Acute adenolymphangitis due to bancroftian filariasis in Rufiji district, south east Tanzania. Acta Trop 75:19-28.

Jeltsch, M., A. Kaipainen, V. Joukov, X. Meng, M. Lakso, H. Rauvala, M. Swartz, D. Fukumura, R.K. Jain, K. Alitalo. 1997. Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276:1423-5.

Karkkainen, M.J., R.E. Ferrell, E.C. Lawrence, M.A. Kimak, K.L. Levinson, M.A. McTigue, K. Alitalo, D.N. Finegold. 2000. Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signalling in primary lymphedema. Nat Genet 25:153-9.

Karkkainen, M.J., A. Saaristo, L. Jussila, K.A. Karila, E.C. Lawrence, K. Pjusola, H. Bueler, A. Eichmann, R. Kauppinen, M.I. Kettunen, S. Yla-Herttuala, D.N. Finegold, R.E. Ferrell, K. Alitalo. 2001. A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. PNAS 98:12677-82.

Kodelja, V., C. Muller, S. Tenorio, C. Schebesch, C.E. Orfanos, S. Goerdt. 1997. Differences in angiogenic potential of classically vs alternatively activated macrophages. Immunobiol 197:478-93.

Kurniawan, A., M. Yazdanbakhsh, R. van Ree, R. Aalberse, M.E. Selkirk, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels. 1993. Differential expression of IgE and IgG4 specific antibody responses in asymptomatic and chronic human filariasis. J Immunol 150:3941-50.

Lammie, P., S. Katz. 1983. Immunoregulation in experimental filariasis. I. *In vitro* suppression of mitogen-induced blastogenesis by adherent cells from jirds chronically infected with *Brugia pahangi*. J Immunol 130: 1381-5.

Loke, P., A.S. MacDonald, A. Robb, R.M. Maizels, J.E. Allen. 2000. Alternatively activated macrophages induced by nematode infection inhibit proliferation via cell-to-cell contact. Eur J Immunol 30:2669-78.

Loke, P., M.G. Nair, J. Parkinson, D. Guiliano, M. Blaxter, J.E. Allen. 2002. IL-4 dependent alternatively-activated macrophages have a distinctive in vivo gene expression phenotype. BMC Immunol 3:7.

Mahanty, S., and T. Nutman. 1995. Immunoregulation in human lymphatic filariasis: The role of interleukin 10. Parasite Immunol 17:385-92.

Mahanty, S., S.N. Mollis, M. Ravichandran. 1996. High levels of spontaneous and parasite antigen-driven interleukin-10 production are associated with antigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in human lymphatic filariasis. J Infect Dis 173:769-73.

Mantovani. A., S. Sozzani, M. Locati, P. Allavena, A. Sica. 2002. Macrophage polarization: Tumor-associated macrophages as a paradigm for polarized M2 mononuclear phagocytes. Trends Immunol 23:549-55.

McPherson, T., S. Persaud, S. Singh, M.P. Fay, D. Addiss, T.B. Nutman, R. Hay. 2006. Interdigital lesions and frequency of acute dermatolymphangioadenitis in lymphoedema in a filariasis-endemic area. Br J Dermatol 154:933-41.

Nagy, J.A., E. Vasile, D. Feng, C. Sundberg, L.F. Brown, M.J. Detmar, J.A. Lawitts L. Benjamin, X. Tan, E.J. Manseau, A.M. Dvorak, H.F. Dvorak. 2002. Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. J Exp Med 196:1497-506.

Nair, M.G., D.W. Cochrane, J.E. Allen. 2003. Macrophages in chronic type 2 inflammation have a novel phenotype characterized by the abundant expression of *Ym1* and *Fizz1* that can be partly replicated *in vitro*. Immuno Lett 85:173-80.

Nelson, F., D.L. Greiner, L.D. Shultz, T.V. Rajan. 1991. The immunodeficient scid mouse as a model for human lymphatic filariasis. J Exp Med 173:659-63.

Nielsen, N.O., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. I. Cellular responses. Trans Royal Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:446-52.

Nielsen, N.O., P. Bloch, P.E. Simonsen. 2002. Lymphatic filariasis-specific immune responses in relation to lymphoedema grade and infection status. II. Humoral responses. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:453-8.

Nutman, T., V. Kumaraswami, L. Pao, P. Narayanan, E. Ottesen. 1987. An analysis of *in vitro* B cell immune responsiveness in human lymphatic filariasis. J Immunol 138:3954-9.

Olszewski, W.L., S. Jamal, G. Manokaran, S. Pani, V. Kumaraswami, U. Kubicka, B. Lukomska, A. Dworczynski, E. Swoboda, F. Meisel-Mikolajczyk. 1997. Bacteriologic studies of skin, tissue fluid, lymph, and lymph nodes in patients with filarial lymphedema. Am J Trop Med Hyg 57:7-15.

Ottesen, E., P. Weller, L. Heck. 1977. Specific cellular immune unresponsiveness in human filariasis. Immunol 33:413-21.

Piessens, W.F., S. Ratiwayanto, S. Tuti, J.H. Palmieri, P.W. Piessens, I. Koiman, D.T. Dennis. 1980. Antigen-specific suppressor cells and suppressor factors in human filariasis with *Brugia malayi*. New Eng J Med 302:833-7.

Sica, A., L. Rubino, A. Mancino, P. Laghi, C. Porta, M. Rimoldi, G. Solinas, M. Locati, P. Allavena, A. Mantovani. 2007. Targeting tumour-associated macrophages. Expert Opin Ther Targets 11:1219-29.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, G. Dhananjayan, N. Rahmah, G. Abhilash, C. Ramesh. 2008. Lymphoscintigraphic evidence of lymph vessel dilation in the limbs of children with *Brugia malayi* infection. J Commun Dis 40:91-100.

Shenoy, R.K., T.K. Suma, V. Kumaraswami, N. Rahmah, G. Dhananjayan, S. Padma. 2009. Antifilarial drugs, in the doses employed in mass drug administrations by the Global Programme to Eliminate Lymphatic Filariasis, reverse lymphatic pathology in children with *Brugia malayi* infection. Annals of Trop Med and Parsitol 103:235-47.

Szuba, A., M. Skobe, M.J. Karkkainen, W.S. Shin, D.P. Beynet, N.B. Rockson, N. Dakhil, S. Spilman, M.L. Goris, H.W. Strauss, T. Quertermous, K. Alitalo, S.G. Rockson. 2002. Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis with human recombinant VEGF-C. FASEB J 16:1985-7.

Vickery, A., A.L. Vincent, W.A. Sodeman. 1983. Effect of immune reconstitution on resistance to *Brugia pahangi* in congenitally athymic nude mice. J Parasitol 69:478-85.

Vickery, A., K.H. Albertine, J.K. Nayar, B.H. Kwa. 1991. Histopathology of *Brugia malayi*-infected nude mice after immune-reconstitution. Acta Trop 49:45-55.

Vincent, A., A.C. Vickery, M.J. Lotz, U. Desai. 1984. The lymphatic pathology of *Brugia pahangi* in nude (athymic) and thymic mice C3H/HeN. J Parasitol 70:48-56.

Weinkopff, T., J.A. Atwood, G.A. Punkosdy, D. Moss, D.B. Weatherly, R. Orlando, P. Lammie. 2009. Identification of antigenic *Brugia* adult worm proteins by peptide mass fingerprinting. J Parasitol 95:1429-1435.

Yazdanbakhsh, M., W.A. Paxton, A. Brandenburg, R. van Ree, M. Lens, F. Partono, R.M. Maizels, M.E. Selkirk. 1995. Differential antibody isotype reactivity to specific antigens in human lymphatic filariasis: gp15/400 preferentially induces immunoglobulin E (IgE), IgG4, and IgG2. Inf Immun 63:3772-9.

Yoon, Y., T. Murayama, E. Gravereaux, T. Tkebuchava, M. Silver, C. Curry, A. Wecker, R. Kurchmair, C. Hu, M. Kearney, A. Ashare, D.G. Jackson, H. Kubo, J. Isner, D.W. Losordo. 2003. VEGF-C gene therapy augments postnatal lymphangiogenesis and ameliorates secondary lymphedema. J Clin Invest 111:717-25.

Zhang, S., B. Li, G.J. Weil. 1999. Human antibody responses to *Brugia malayi* antigens in brugian filariasis. Int J Parasitol 29:429-36.

7.3 Figure

Figure 7.1. *Brugia* ES products activate monocytes which may modulate LEC function. Filarial worms secrete ES products which do not appear to directly activate LECs; however, *Brugia* ES products activate monocytes by inducing the production of IL-8 and IL-6 and VEGF-A (our data depicted in blue boxes) and that monocytes are the primary producers of IL-8 and VEGF-A. These lymphangiogenic molecules stimulate LEC differentiation by inducing tubule formation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The action of these factors on LECs may contribute to lymphangiectasia and thus the pathogenesis of filarial lymphedema.

Figure 7.1

